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Company Profile

Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (hereinafter referred to as “we”,
“us”, "Modern Land” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
as the “Group”) is a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) from 12
July 2013 with Class 1 qualification in real estate development in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).

The Company has always been adhering to the development concept
of “Technology Buildings and Quality Living”, sticking to the
development philosophy of “Natural Simplicity, Harmonious Health,
Simple Focus, and Endless Vitality” and focusing on the theme of
“Action of Loving My Homeland” to bring home owners the sincere
and real life experience and achieve positive economic and social
benefits.

The Company pours herself to a homeland of “Green + comfort
+ energy-saving + full life cycle with mobile internet”. In 2002,
"MOMA™" was born. MOMA consists of four text graphics “M”
“O" "M AT Two “M” symbolises our home, “O" represents
the origin of the universe and “ /A" stands for human. The left and
right half of the pattern symbolises architecture and life respectively,
which in turn provides a vivid interpretation for the concept of the
Company of “Technology Buildings and Quality Life”. At present,
MOM /A has become an iconic brand in the energy-saving real estate
industry of China.

For many years, the Company has established and improved the
standard development mode of product line, forming three types of
standard product lines which gained a lot of positive feedbacks from
the market. The first type aims to generate “profit + cash flow" while
the second type only aims to generate cash flow, and the third type
focuses on net profit margin. With the successful operation within
three types of product lines, in 2013, in order to solve the two major
problems faced by human beings in 21st century, i.e. sustainable
development and aging population, the Company proposed the
strategy of “heating and cooling unique solution + air quality unique
solution + energy consumption and operation cost reduction unique
solution + full life cycle aging population solution + industry-leading
solution under the theme of sustainable development”. To this end,
the Company has been committed to making product innovation and
has its own Research, Development and Design Department for self-
designing of ten major technical architecture systems including the
geothermal pump, exterior temperature preservation, ceiling radiation,
overall fresh air displacement ventilation and noise reduction systems.
In 2014, the Company released Air Dino, a smog purifier that can
function as both a fresh air circulator and an air purifier, serving as a
one-stop smart solution for household air quality problems.
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The Company has developed the core expertise on technological
real estate, i.e. “high comfort level and low energy consumption”
since 2002. With over a decade of development, “Green + comfort
+ energy-saving + full life cycle residential properties with mobile
internet” has become the core competitiveness of the fourth-
generation product. When creating an equally high comfortable
level, with the indoor temperature around 20-26C and humidity
around 30%-70%, which fits the definition of the “most comfortable
environment” within 1SO7730, the energy consumption of MOMA
products is estimated to be only 1/3 of that of other normal
residential buildings in China at present. This will save a slew of cost
for the residents and create a pleasant ecological environment for the
society.

As of 2015, the Company and its subsidiaries held a total of over
40 patents. In 2013, both Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA
and Modern MOMA passed China Green Building Three-Star
Certification. Up to now, the Company is the only enterprise that
has passed the top certification for green building in China — China
Green Building Three-Star Certification twice. The Company has
successively obtained various honours including but not limited
to China Top 100 Real Estate Developers (FEISEHEH®), China
Specialised Real Estate Company — Green Technology Real Estate (4%
BEREHEFBIELESR L), the Innovative Brand of Chinese Real
Estate (FREEMELIFTMAE), the Elite Technology Award (f&¥mRH%
#%), the Chinese Responsible Property Developer (1B & {EH#IE), the
Real Estate Internet Innovation Enterprise (5 b B 548 8157 %)
and the Best Green Building Real Estate Enterprise (S {4k 2@ & E
1), etc.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the business
review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and its
prospects.

RESULTS

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2015, the Group, its joint
ventures and associate achieved contracted sales of approximately
RMB11,290.0 million, of which approximately RMB10,991.6
million was from properties and approximately RMB298.4 million
was from carparks. Area of properties under contracted sales was
approximately 1.242 million sg.m. and the average selling price per
sg.m. was approximately RMB8,852. The Group, its joint ventures and
associate achieved an increase of approximately 53.5% in contracted
sales as compared with the figure for the 12 months ended 31
December 2014. As at the end of 2015, the land bank held by the
Group, its joint ventures and associates increased by 1,020,132 sg.m.
to a total land bank of 4,623,068 sq.m. Operating income increased
by approximately 55.7% to approximately RMB6,349.8 million,
gross profit increased by approximately 18.7% to approximately
RMB1,964.1 million, with a gross profit margin of approximately
30.9%. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
increased by 10.9% to approximately RMB577.9 million, with basic
earnings per share of RMB30.5 cents, as compared with RMB29.6
cents for 2014.

REVIEW OF 2015

In 2015, Modern Land implemented ecological strategies and
innovated its business model, consolidating an environmental-friendly
system.

Firstly, green solutions. With 15 years of dedicated research, Modern
Land has developed its unique core competitiveness in solutions for
modern life, i.e., “unique solution of heating and cooling”, “unique
solution of air quality” and “unique solution of cost reduction in
energy consumption and operation”. The “unique solution of air
quality” is AirDino 1, a household filtration system of air source
whilst the “unique solution of cost reduction of energy consumption
and operation” is a home technology and self-control building system
using mobile Internet. The “unique solution of heating and cooling”
is AirDino 2 launched in 2015, which is a household heat pumping
system of air source. These three green products further consolidated
our core competitiveness in terms of eco-friendliness.
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Secondly, the scale of green efforts. In 2015, Modern Land was
committed to the “choosing prime sites” strategy, focusing on
selected urban areas. It established its presence in Foshan, Xi‘an, and
Suzhou, and furthered its work in Shanghai, Changsha and Hefei,
thus completing the strategic development plan of the four regions
of Northern, Central, Eastern and Southern China, and achieving the
nationwide presence of the MOMA brand. The Company won the
championship for China Green Operation Model, and two projects
were chosen as demonstration model of green residential area of
China. The Company is a listed company with the most investment
value across China, winning the Best Corporate Governance Award
and boasting an AA credit rating with a “stable” outlook. Its scale in
green initiatives is gradually expanding, with a total land bank held
by the Group, its joint ventures and associates currently at 4,623,068
sg.m.

Thirdly, green innovation. The year 2015 was revolutionary. With the
combination of internet mindset and the whole value chain of real
estate development, Modern Land established a brand new ecological
development model and three major platforms, i.e. platform of
green financial capital for attracting capital from home and abroad,
development platform of green real estate featuring comfort and
energy conservation, and green mobile internet community service
platform after the residents having moved in. Meanwhile, the
business model extended from key points identified in the value chain
of the whole process of property development will enhance clients’
loyalty by meeting their needs, enhance our capabilities of increasing
sales and differentiating from competitors in the future.

OUTLOOK IN 2016

The year 2015 was a period of adjustment for the industry, with first
and second-tier cities beginning to show significant rebound. For
2016, from the perspective of demand, China’s urbanisation process
has just reached approximately 50% and currently entered its second
stage of development, thus there is still much room for development.
As de-stocking remains the theme of 2016, the overall market of
the industry will enter a new norm and the Company will face three
breakthroughs.
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Chairman’s Statement

The first is breakthrough in products, which is to design products
for our customers’ future lifestyle according to their needs, and
adjust our product structure, which is now termed supply-side
structural reform. The second is breakthrough in financing structure,
changing from the single channel of debt financing to more varied
channels featuring financial innovations, real estate financialisation,
securitisation of commercial banks, insurances, Internet finance, and
assets, and the marketisation, diversification, securitisation of funds.
Equity financing has led to financial restructuring of enterprises
for reducing cost of capital. The third is breakthrough in customer
operations. Previously, real estate companies focused on acquiring
land, designing products, and constructing and selling buildings.
For 2016, the Company has to operate and maintain its operations
with the customers truly as its focus, so that customers will feel
the change in their lifestyle, not only in physical space, but a move
towards a community of creativity, culture, life, education and future.
This requires research, guidance and engagement of customers, so as
to create a future lifestyle model together with customers. This also
features a turning point from shifting our focus from the increment
market to the existing market.

Under this market environment, as an enterprise with differentiated
core competitiveness, we find the current stage a growth opportunity
for us. Relying on the strength of our team and products, we are
confident enough to believe that 2016 will be a year of steady and
solid development for Modern Land.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend sincere
thanks to our shareholders for their unwavering support and trust,
and would like to express deepest gratitude to the Board, the
management team and all staff of the Group for their dedication and
diligence!

Zhang Lei
Chairman

21 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROSPECTS

In 2015, the forecast on the growth rate of Chinese economy was
lowered several times, and the “supply side reform” has been
featured in many recent policies, implying that while properly
stimulating the overall demand, more emphasis will be laid on the
supply side reforms. President Xi Jinping pointed out that in order
to promote economic structural reform, we should target at the
outstanding problems and seize the key points. President Xi named
several problems including over-capacity, cost of enterprise, as well
as real estate inventory, etc. In November 2015, Premier Li Kegiang
highlighted again that various policy tools would be used to form two
major engines for economic growth: one is grassroots innovation,
which is a key to the structural reform; the other is the increase in
supply of public products and services to shore up effective demands,
while at the same time, to improve people’s well-being.

Suffering from the unfavourable overall market and forecasts, there
is an unbalanced capital supply structure from financial institutions,
which is the main contributor to “increased sales and decreased
growth rate of inventory, but surge in price and plummetting in
investment growth”. In 2015, the central bank cut the requirement
reserve ratio and the interest rate in five instances. Individuals are
exempted from business tax for selling houses that they owned
for more than two years. There is also a lift in home purchase
restrictions across the country except for first-tier cities. However,
the capital supply in the financial market still suffered from structural
disequilibrium: Home mortgage loans grew rapidly, up 19.9% year-
on-year; developer bank loans went down 3.6% year-on-year, with
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a 4% year-on-year decrease in self-raised funds and only a 1.3%
increase in the overall growth of enterprise funds source. Meanwhile,
sales and price shot up in first-tier cities with lower inventory levels,
while third- and fourth-tier cities with more inventory were faced
with severe challenges.

In 2015, the macro real estate industry trend is de-stocking,
differentiation and changes. De-stocking correlates to the current
high inventory ratio. Both macro policies and micro aims of real
estate enterprises will guide de-stocking of high inventory sectors.
On the macro level, differentiation refers to the highly differentiated
situation for different cities, the highly differentiated financial
market, and the differentiated problems of high housing price but
low margins, and high levels of sales but low levels of investment.
On the micro level, it refers to the gradual differentiation of
enterprises during reintegration and transformation, and the gradual
differentiation of various demand groups. Changes mean that in the
new normal, China’s economic growth slowed down and the real
estate industry, as a pillar industry of the economy, will consequently
experience changes in the way it drives the growth, and businesses
will also experience changes in main businesses and the strategic
business layout during the transition.

2016 real estate outlook: rising prices, quantity assurance, and
improvement. Rising prices mean that favorable monetary policies
and land policies will further spur an increase in housing prices.
Quantity assurance means that in the future, there are larger risks
in the real estate market due to higher volatility, and developers will
try to assure the quantity, while the government will do its best to
restore the normal level of overall volume of real estate investment.
And improvement means that housing improvement demand will
become the growth point of the real estate market in 2016.

In the coming two years, adjustments and control of the property
market should focus on three goals: de-stocking to achieve huge
sales growth; risk-prevention to keep the housing price growth at
a reasonable level to avoid radical fluctuations or default risks; and
investment promotion to allow real estate investment to return
to normal levels. There are six tasks to fulfill: taking advantage
of the previous demand to conduct shanty towns transformation
through monetized resettlement; development of new demands to
encourage migrant workers to purchase housing; to enlarge the
previous increment and shore up housing improvement demands;
transformation and upgrading, and cutting new projects; circulating
funds to speed up construction; acquisition and reorganization to
avoid unfinished projects.
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KXo

AEENRDEERERMEHEE WEH
E BEEERIBBER-

MREE

HZE2015F12A31BFE - AEEMEHE
Iz A AR, 201988 T WA £2014
FI12A3MB IEFEE R543%  AEER
015F XL EEEE ((BEEE)
776,369 7K AN2,258(AE AL o ¥ tEE
EFEER2014F RIHM40.6%E —E A
30.9% ° # F2015F12831B It FEHER
FHEEER ([FHEE]) BARYT7,577
TSR BUEREFHEEAARE
141,3407C /1@ »

i E 85z Wbt
REVENUE BY REGION

{2835 Carparks
LBk Xiantao

JUT Jivjiang 1E7 Beijing
4 & Nanchang

HZ Wuhan

&% Changsha

AJR Taiyuan

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue is mainly attributable to sale of properties,
leasing of properties, hotel operations and project management.

Sale of Properties

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s revenue from
sale of properties amounted to RMB6,201.9 million, representing
an increase of 54.3% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2014. The Group delivered 776,369 sq.m. of property in terms of
total gross floor area (“GFA") and 2,258 units of carparks in 2015.
Gross profit margin of sale of properties was 30.9%, down from
40.6% in the corresponding period in 2014. Recognised average
selling price ("ASP”) was RMB7,577 per sq.m. and that for car
parking spaces was RMB141,340 per unit for the year ended 31
December 2015.

BihEE D 2EREEGHT
CONTRACT SALES BY REGION

S#A Dongdaihe

filitk Xiantao {FH5 Carparks
I
JUT Jiujiang 463 Beijing
& Nanchang
4B Hefei
HZ Wuhan .
_+8 shanghai
AR Taiyuan
£ Changsha
% Xi'an
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K—  KAEEYXIEE K= BHA (58 Table 1: Breakdown of revenue from sale of properties Tk
&%) of the Group by projects ﬁ
* HIREERLE * After deducting sales tax e
B
2015F 20144
BERAH [RERED ﬁ
AHEARE AHEERE =
EEREN R EfN 5
2015 2014 all
Total saleable Total saleable z
BEREB W  GFA or units TH9ER Yz GFA or units THEE o
Project name Revenue delivered ASP Revenue delivered ASP =
AR, AEET,/ =
EEK FRK ok ERk &
HEA HE 2 Efy 520, =
AREFT sq.m. RMB/sq.m. AREFTT sq.m.  RMBIsq.m. =
RMB’000 or units or unit RMB’000 or units or unit =y
=
Q
ERERMOMA =
Modern MOMA (Beijing) 218,313 3,777 57,801 1,153,569 17,742 65,019 o
JLEEEHMOMA -
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Beijing) 18,242 352 51,824 3,212 157 20,459 3
EEMOMAE S =
MOMA Forest Forever (Beijing) - - - 177,248 6,353 27,900 o
ERERRXEREEMOMA
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOM A\ (Beijing) 1,309,850 145,904 8,977 - - -
IR EEMOMA (B5#(1))
Shangdi MOMA (Beijing) (Note (1)) 29,626 1,177 25,171 27,329 977 27,972
ARBEHEMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Taiyuan) 1,801,183 156,637 11,499 508,919 39,550 12,868
ROARBEEMOMA (K17£2)
Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Changsha) (Note (2)) 1,176,148 177,506 6,626 1,511,396 253,054 5,973
BEZEEREFEMOMA
Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOM A (Wuhan) 322,093 59,875 5,379 - - -
HEREEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Nanchang) 5,413 632 8,565 172,386 24,423 7,058
HEERMOMAFH
Modern MOM A New City (Nanchang) 323,235 50,380 6,416 - - -
NIREFEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Jiujiang) 352,233 73,961 4,762 178,406 33,039 5,400
fiBkmEFMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Xiantao) 326,458 106,168 3,075 180,177 55,749 3,232
et
Subtotal 5,882,794 776,369 1,577 3,912,642 431,044 9,077
(=
Car park 319,145 2,258 141,340 105,605 1,019 103,636
@ar

Total 6,201,939 4,018,247

BteE - (1) i KIMOMA R iMOMA Z 48 Notes: (1) iIMOMA (Beijing) is no longer presented separately as it has been
AR S HNIER EEMOMA consolidated into Shangdi MOM A (Beijing).
HRE25) THEBIR -

(2) EDEBRBMOMARED RES (2) Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Changsha) and Man Ting Chun
MOMAZHBEEDAHNED MOMA (Changsha) are no longer presented separately
HEmEEMOMARZEY » TB as they have been consolidated into Kaifu Man Ting Chun
BIEYIR o MOMA (Changsha).
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E BHHE Contracted Sales
E HZE2015F12A31B I EE - NEE K E For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group, its joint ventures
,E; AN ENMBLNTASYIEETEZE AR and associate achieved contracted sales of RMB11,290.0 million,
= 11,290.0E 87T WEZE2014512A31H1E  representing an increase of 53.5% as compared to the year ended
§ FE FF535%c NEBMEEALC¥EME 31 December 2014. The Group, its joint ventures and associate
~ BNTHE A ESEEE,241,650F K sold 1,241,650 sg.m. in total GFA and 2,377 units of carparks,
; 2,377 ELI - LEZ2014F12H31H L% representing an increase of 57.3% and 99.1% respectively as
BRI RES7.3%M99.1% ° compared to the year ended 31 December 2014.
K- REFRESE ¥ E /N5 Table 2: Breakdown of contracted sales of the Group, its
BRI EFE A joint ventures and associate
* BRI EF AT * Before deducting sales tax
2015% 20145
2015 2014
r5E
Efh R
Attributable BHHE alEE
RS interestto  Contracted BEEE THEE  Contracted BEHE THER
Project name the Group sales GFA ASP Sales GFA ASP
ARET ARET
(F7K) Ve (F7K) Sk
BB BB AEfy qBf
(%)  AR®Txr  (insqm) RMBisq.m. AREFTL (insq.m.)  RMBIsq.m.
(%) RMB’000 or units or unit RMB'000 or units or unit
ERERMOMA
Modern MOM A (Beijing) 100% 81,839 1,227 66,698 965,462 12,633 76,424
EREEHMOMA
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Beijing) 100% 19,339 352 54,940 7,900 235 33,617
EEMOMAEER
MOMA Forest Forever (Beijing) 100% - - - 104,222 3,592 29,015
IRERFEREEMOMA
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Beijing) 100% 48,139 4,174 11,533 1,365,100 143,758 9,496
ERER ¢ JBEE
Modern Land  CIFI Villa (Beijing) 50% 1,681,082 112,374 14,960 - - -
ERERLR « HMOMA
Modern North Star ¢ YUE MOMA (Beijing) 50% 1,218,863 72,145 16,895 - - -
EREEMOMA (Brz(1)
Shangdi MOM A (Beijing) (Note (1)) 100% 50,689 1,636 30,983 9,995 515 19,408
LEEREEFMOMA
Modern Wan Guo Fu MOM A (Shanghai) 65.63% 450,000 15,000 30,000 - - -

14
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20155 20144 "
2015 2014 inf
K58 i
133
Attributable  AKHE atwE 5
BEE AW interestto  Contracted BEER THEE  Contracted BEATE THEER =
Project name the Group sales GFA ASP Sales GFA ASP E”
ARET ARET =
(F7K) VE T (FHK) SR S
BEfy B A&y 210, g
(%) AR%F7x  (insq.m) RMB/sqm. ARETFT (insq.m.)  RMBIsq.m. =
(%) RMB000 or units or unit RMB000 or units or unit 3
o
LENIESE g
Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan (Shanghai) 35% 1,104,326 50,931 21,683 640,344 30,313 21,124 %
KEEEHMOMA 2
Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Taiyuan) 100% 467,346 48,782 9,580 1,139,644 91,058 12,516 g
BESEREEMOMA =
Hongsheng Man Ting Chun MO M A\ (Shaanxi) 51% 104,599 15,111 6,922 - - - o
ROERREEMOMA (Hi2))
Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha) (Note (2)) 100% 385,317 45,030 8,557 1,174,427 169,019 6,948
ROEREIMOMA
Modern Binjiang MOM A (Changsha) 51% 517,588 75,856 6,823 57,724 8,600 6,712
EOMOMAERES
MOMA Modern Plaza (Changsha) 51% 630,686 125,703 5,017 252,922 60,985 4,147
REEGREEMOMA
Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOMA (Wuhan) 99.02% 504,808 90,076 5,604 26,700 4,928 5418
REXAREEMOMA
Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Wuhan) 94.95% 544,817 83,146 6,553 138,911 21,377 6,498
RELRER « tAREXE
North Star-Modern ® Guanggu Green
Home (Wuhan) 45% 437,340 64,950 6,733 - - -
AEERMOMA
Modern MOM A (Hefei) 51% 889,671 55,470 16,039 - - -
HEREEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Nanchang) 100% 1,627 13 14,398 61,365 6,609 9,285
HEERMOM AT
Modern MOM A New City (Nanchang) 100% 196,284 30,825 6,368 209,232 29,404 7,116
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b 20158 20145
E 2015 2014
= S 1L
= FEiER
E Attributable ANHE alHE
= R A interestto  Contracted BEER THEE  Contracted BEEE THER
g Project name the Group sales GFA ASP Sales GFA ASP
v ARET ARET
(FEK)  SERK (Fik) Bk
BEfy BEf A&y 20,
(%)  AR®Txr  (insqm) RMBisq.m. AREFIL (insq.m.)  RMBIsq.m.
(%) RMB’000 or units or unit RMB'000 or units or unit
HEEREARMOMA
Modern International MOMA (Nanchang) 65% 530,095 11,197 7,383 371,295 49,680 7474
JULREEMOMA (H#(3)
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Jiujiang) (Note (3)) 100% 614,660 133,856 4,592 405,056 83,040 4,878
fliskmEZEMOMA
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Xiantao) 100% 417,079 126,437 3,299 250,137 73,619 3,398
RET e HEEMOMA
Dongdaihe o Bai Jin Hai M OM A\ (Dongdaihe) 100% 95,396 16,659 5,726 - - -
it
Subtotal 10,991,590 1,241,650 8,852 7,180,436 789,365 9,096
FEg 2,377units  125,554/unit 1,194units ~ 147,438/unit
Car park 298,442 L /Ef 176,041 (EETn /B
i3t
Total 11,290,032 1,356,477

Hiat = (1) IERIMOMAZHBEEE &/ Notes: (1) iMOM A (Beijing) is no longer presented separately as it has
RIEREEMOMARET » TH been consolidated into Shangdi MOM A (Beijing).
BEIFIIR

(2) ELBBEBMOMARED HES (2) Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Changsha) and Man Ting Chun
MOMAZHBEEEE & HREYD MOM A (Changsha) are no longer presented separately
REREEMOMAFRES « TF as they have been consolidated into Kaifu Man Ting Chun
BEIIR - MOMA (Changsha).

(3) TG EMOMA Z HEEEE (3) Chao Yang Li MOMA (Jiujiang) is no longer presented
AR NI HEBFEMOMAH 2 separately as it has been consolidated into Man Ting Chun
5 THEFIIR - MOMA (Jiujiang).
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Leasing of Properties, Hotel Operations and Project
Management

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s revenue from
leasing of properties amounted to RMB45.1 million, representing an
increase of 23.5% as compared to the corresponding period in 2014.
The Group’s revenue from hotel operations increased by 36.2% to
RMB33.7 million in 2015 while the revenue from project management
amounted to RMB42.5 million in 2015 (2014: nil). The Group's
revenue from real estate agency services amounted to RMB12.9
million in 2015 (2014: nil), while the revenue from immigration
services amounted to RMB13.7 million in 2015 (2014: nil).

Land Bank
As at 31 December 2015, total land bank in the PRC (excluding

investment properties and properties held for own use) held by the
Group, its joint ventures and associates was 4,623,068 sqg.m.

A

Note: The land bank of the Group, its joint ventures and associates includes

lands in Beijing, Shanghai, Foshan, Changsha, Taiyuan, Xi'an, Wuhan,
Hefei, Suzhou, Nanchang, Dongdaihe, Jiujiang and Xiantao.
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REBMBEALDEME L AT THEEE  The geographic spread of the land bank held by the Group, its joint

RS

x= . AEEEK
Tt

BELENBE R A

a|

B A+ th s

HE&R

Project name

/'j_"\ = 1&’\/] OMA

Modern MOM A (Beijing)

IEEMOMA B &

I\/I OMA Forest Forever (Beijing)
EREREBEREFEMOMA

Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Beijing)

ERER o JEIBE

Modern Land CIFI Villa(Beijing)

IERERIER e tEHMOMA

Modern North Star ¢ YUE M O M /A (Beijing)

IR EEMOMA (B7%2))

Shangdi MOM A (Beijing) (Note (2))

FEEREBEFMOMA

Modern Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Shanghai)

PERNTEEER

Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan (Shanghai)

FILEREEFMOMA

Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Foshan)

BHMNEREBEFTMOMA

Modern Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Suzhou)

KREBBEHEMOMA

Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Taiyuan)

BREERMEFTMOMA

Hongsheng Man Ting Chun MOM A (Shaanxi)
EXPFABREEMOMA (MiF2))

Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Changsha) (Note (2))
EAEREBEBIMOMA

Modern Binjiang MOM A (Changsha)

EAPMOMABRES

MOM A Modern Plaza (Changsha)

RZZEREAEMOMA

Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOMA (Wuhan)

HIEXAMEFMOMA

Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOM A (Wuhan)

Land bank in China

rEE
LR
Attributable
interest to
the Group
(%)

(%)

100%
100%
100%
50%

50%
100%
65.63%
35%
100%
100%
100%
51%
100%
51%

51%
99.02%

94.95%

ventures and associates was as follows:

Table 3: Land bank held by the Group, its joint ventures
and associates

2015 12H31H
As at 31 December 2015

REH
EEEE
(FriE(1))

Total GFA
unsold
(Note 1)

(F77K)
(sq.m.)
9,323
7,985
6,496
158,213
131,346
11,414
127,474
146,307
190,833
72,730
81,550
169,058
162,836
229,374
341,778
60,598

240,076

Rite#
HESR
WEHEE
REMH
BEmE
Aggregated
GFA sold but

undelivered with
sales contracts

(FA2K)
(sq.m.)

2,028
112,374

72,145

15,000

81,244

17,291
15,111
17,392
84,456
186,688
35,129

61,499
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20154128310 B
As at 31 December 2015 ﬁuﬂ:
A2t e
HEAE %
HEHER
REH RRAAH ﬁ
TEE BEEE BEEE =
LR (KtaE(1)) Aggregated 5
Attributable Total GFA GFA sold but ul]
HE BB interest to unsold undelivered with =<
Project name the Group (Note 1) sales contracts S
(%) (FFK) (FFK) 3
(%) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) =
=
REILRER « KA ERE 2
North Star-Modern ¢ Guanggu Green Home (Wuhan) 45% 315,203 64,950 =y
BIEERMOMA o
Modern MOM A (Hefei) 51% 189,073 55,470 P
BIEERMOM AN B33 B R R °
Modern M OM A Hengtong international city of the =
future (Hefei) 20% 460,037 - 2
FEEmEEMOMA o
Man Ting Chun MOMA (Nanchang) 100% 28,313 -
mEEMOMA
Modern MOM A New City (Nanchang) 100% 40,052 6,747
FEERBIBEMOMA
Modern International MOM A (Nanchang) 65% 190,898 108,081
NIREEFEMOMA (Kfat2))
Man Ting Chun MOM A (Jiujiang) (Note (2)) 100% 235,614 150,169
WHEREZMOM A
Man Ting Chun M O M A (Xiantao) 100% 669,812 62,132
RET e A& EMOMA
Dongdaihe e Bai Jin Hai MO M /A (Dongdaihe) 100% 346,675 16,659
Nt
Total 4,623,068 1,164,565

Btet - (1) RERBEAEBRERFTEEHEE  Note: (1) Total GFA unsold includes aggregated GFA sold but not yet

ARMNEHEERZNEREmME - delivered with sales contracts.

(2) ERIMOMAZ B EEE & O (2) iIMOMA (Beijing) is no longer presented separately as it has
RIEREEMOMAF 23] K been consolidated into Shangdi MOMA (Beijing).Wan Guo
DEBRBEMOMARKD WES Cheng MOMA (Changsha) and Man Ting Chun MOMA
MOMAZ HEEEE & HNED (Changsha) are no longer presented separately as they have
HEMEEMOMAFRLEY] T been consolidated into Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA
HABEMOMA Z HEEURE & 0 (Changsha). Chao Yang Li M OM A(Jiujiang) is no longer
RATREEMOMAFRZE - & presented separately as it has been consolidated into Man Ting
BEBIR - Chun MOMA (Jivjiang).

AEBTEREREMNERBE2EREE — The Group wholly owns a parcel of land with a site area of

TR AR E A5 4196,156 F AoRA MR A {EH  approximately 196,156 sq.m. located in Pearland, Texas, the U.S.

‘R -ZERIAL - ZMIRIDENBIEE  for future development. So far, this parcel of land is still at the

EIFZER - B ERTERT AR EEUR - early stage of planning, and the estimated GFA data has not been
determined accurately.

19



EEENWRR DM
Management Discussion and Analysis

+ b WL BE Land Acquisitions

REEFAREEAMREAE  REBEKE  During the year and up to the date of this report, the Group, its
AEPENBE AT U7 1 - HBIE  joint ventures and associate acquired 7 parcels of land in aggregate,
BHAT details of which are as follows:
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. M2015F2 8118 KIhiEE EETE
BREAMTREREESTRE LS
mEITTEIT)II4EE01 02887L(MHPO-
1101~ MHPO-110287T) 52-031th 52 (78
15 $E186-11b 38) AU B 1 #h (& A ##
RE>HEZ BREBARK1735
BEL ZMBHNBREEMBENA
92,400F 5K °

. R2015F6 A38 © I iBBER N THE
EEZAERAENERESFBREMN
& H2015-G25% i 1 )R & A b &9 B
BEEAEREREEER &
REABARBASOE E TT % B Y
BEEEMIEX) A55,000°F 5K o

o R201568A18H » EH TR EH
BR VPG E 7% T = o B R B [ 88
EROOEA-IRIATE AN
ZERIBEH  ZWRBEEEMBY
/330,000 5K - BiFEABER
EEA -

o PR2015F 128118 KIEBAEET
BlAEEZRAFERRAEESTRHE
A A BT Ul EXZQTD 19057 i 1R
WEE T AERE2HER 8
REBARKEGC26EH &I ° %I B HY
BEEMIEL) B375,724F 5K -

. 201512 A31H » KI@EBFEILT
B AEZZAEREREESTEE
REBLTRESRERTERERS R
= # $17 BR 75 [2BEE 03-02-083 57 #Y
BEEZBAFERE  BREAAR
¥1,668HE T ° MMM R EMIE
#9/5144,600F 77K ©

On 11 February 2015, the state-owned land use rights and
the entire interests of a parcel of land No. 52-03 (land parcel
no. 186-1 in Zhuangiaozhen) in Units No. 01 and 02 (Unit
No. MHPO-1101, MHPO-1102) of Jiangchuan Community
in Minhang District of Shanghai, the PRC, was successfully
acquired through the auction of the land use rights of
state-owned construction land held in Shanghai, for a total
consideration of RMB1,735 million. The GFA of the land was
approximately 92,400 sqg.m.

On 3 June 2015, the state-owned land use rights and the
entire interests of a mixed commercial and residential land
(Sudi No0.2015-G2) in Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, the PRC, was
successfully acquired through the auction of the land use
rights of state-owned construction land held in Suzhou, for a
total consideration of RMB450 million. The GFA of the land
was approximately 55,000 sqg.m.

On 18 August 2015, a parcel of land located in the southwest
corner of the intersection of the west end of Jinye Road
and Xisanhuan in Xi‘an High New Technology Industrial
Development District, Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (47 EIpk
AEALTeRMEXAERFERANEA=RIRER
), with a planned GFA of approximately 330,000 sg.m. was
acquired. It is intended that the land will be developed for
commercial and residential use.

On 11 December 2015, the state-owned land use rights of
and the entire interest in a parcel of land (No. XZQTD190)
in Xinzhan District, Hefei, Anhui Province, the PRC, was
successfully acquired through an auction of state-owned
construction land use rights held in Hefei, at a total
consideration of RMB626 million. The total GFA of the land
was approximately 375,724 sq.m.

On 31 December 2015, the state-owned construction land use
rights of a parcel of land (03-02-08) in Zone B, Guangdong
High Tech Service Zone for Financial Institutions, Guicheng
Subdistrict, Nanhai District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, the
PRC, was successfully acquired through an auction of state-
owned construction land use rights held in Foshan, for a total
consideration of RMB1,668 million. The total GFA of the land
was approximately 144,600 sq.m.



R20165F1 82780 kBB RT
Bl A ZR A E AEREES R
R B EZEFEIESY00-0029-60121
WMEOEERLAFERE  BREA
AR®1,875B 8T ° %A R RE
MEi&4)5123,693F 7K »

R201651A28H - EE T — B R
PRAEE RSP MRAREAN K
RAEEFEMRERTEL BRES
ARB1,2938 870 ' %A R EE
MEi&4) B453,948F J7 K ©
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On 27 January 2016, the state-owned construction land use
rights of a parcel of land (SY00-0029-6012) in Ligiao Town,
Shunyi District, Beijing, the PRC, was successfully acquired
through an auction of state-owned construction land use
rights held in Beijing, for a total consideration of RMB1,875
million. The total GFA of the land was approximately 123,693
sq.m.

On 28 January 2016, a parcel of residential land located at the
north of Yuanda 1st Road in Furong District, Changsha, Hunan
Province, the PRC was acquired for a total consideration
of RMB1,293 million. The total GFA of the land was
approximately 453,948 sq.m.
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FEIEH MAJOR PROJECTS
BE0155128310L
As at 31 December 2015
B{iER
g bk HERSE /B8R BH /BB
HENY fpgER  UTCEE  EEASE BIA #IA
Approximate WERE HREEE  MLDHE Expected/ Expected/
total land site ERE BER  Total GFA AEEEE Actual Actual
area in respect BRYEE  Total GFA withlease  Total GFA construction  construction
R ofthe ME%EE  Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease commencement completion TEAE Ke it
Project entire project ~ Total GFA  delivered  delivered 5years over5years date date Major usage Status Address
(FH) (F7) (FFHA) (FHA) (F) (F5A)
(sg.m) (sq.m,) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sgm)
FRERMOMA 60,004 157,577 148254 9323 5371 3,000 2005.11 w0011 FEBEE R %I IRAFHE
Modern MOM A (Beijing) Residential, Completed  ZAR15
commercial, 1 Xiangheyuan Street,
car parks Dongcheng District,
Beijing
FREEHAMOMA 47660 283854 283854 - 8,758 - 2001.09 00104 HZ Ex EE %I IRARAE
Wan Guo Cheng Residentia, Completed  FARE1S
MOMA (Beijing) commercial, 1 Xiangheyuan Street,
qar parks Dongcheng District,
Beijing
FEMOMNEER 183,161 100,141 92,15 7,985 2,560 - 2006.04 01212 FEBEEE ORI IRTEERE
MOM A Forest Forever Residentia, Completed  BBEENFH
(Beijing) commercial, Huosi Road,
car parks Gaoliying Town,

Shunyi District,
Beijing
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il BENSENANAL
H As at 31 December 2015
Z BB
= frsfns BAE H/ER  EH/ER
= ERAE BRUER  ATERE  EEASE BIR AIR
= Approximate FERE HBEEER  MLEHE Expected/ Expected/
3 total land site ERE BEE  Total GFA  HREEE Actual Actual
=t area in respect BRYER  Total GFA withlease  Total GFA construction  construction
S L] ofthe HBEER  Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease commencement completion TEf & it
o Project entire project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered 5years over 5years date date Major usage Status Address
(2R € 2% v AN € 0% v N 2% v A ¢ 2% v A ¢ %
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m.) (sq.m) (sq.m)
IRERFEREEMOMA 61306 152400 145,904 6,4% - - 2014.06 01511 ExXEE OREE IRmARGEE
Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun Residentia, Under REH
MOMA (Beijing) commercial, construction  Caiyu Street, Caiyu
aar parks Town, Daxing, Beijing
LRER ¢ JEEE 75435 158213 - 15823 - - 201412 01608 T Ex EE R IrmTAR
Modern Land ® CIFl Residential, Under TAREERE
Villa (Beifing) commercial, construction FLEERER
qar parks Intersection Point of
Pinggu Avenue and
Tiyuzhongxin West
Road, Pinggu District,
Beijing
ERERIR  EMOMA 52840 131346 - 13136 - - 201506 01608 [T BE EE ER FRnlEEE
Modern North Star » YUE Residentia, Under e Elifl]
MOM A (Beijing) commercia, construction (JEPBERIERRRE
car parks &)
Southwestern
Side of Wolong
Roundabout,
Shunyi District
(Intersection Point
of Shunsha Road
and Shunbai Road),
Beijing
FREEMOMA 266865 29667 218253 1414 - 2,141 200708 0104 [T EEEE ORI FRmERRE
Shangdi MOMA (Beijing) Residentia, Completed  REEFER1%F
commercial, 1 Anningzhuang West
car parks Road, Haidian District,
Beijing
HEEREERMOMA 46201 127474 - 747 - - 201505 01707 T ExOEE ORE LEmiE
Modern Wan Guo Cheng Residential, Under BRE
MOMA (Shanghai) commercial, construction Cangyuan Road,
aar parks Minhang District,
Shanghai
HENTESE 63,128 146307 - B30 - - 2014.05 01608 T EX EE %I FETIE
Songjiang Yi Jing Yuan Residentia, Completed ~ S&FH1058%
(Shanghai) commercial, 1058 Nong,
car parks Rongle West Road,
Songjiang District,
Shanghai



B{iER
frpns
ERAY
Approximate
total land site
area in respect

%A ofthe HREMEE
Project entire project  Total GFA
(Frf)  (EhA)
(sq.m.) (sqm.)
BUEREERMOMA 48208 190,833
Modern Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA (Foshan)
FMNERERRMOMA 730 72,730
Modern Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA (Suzhou)
KREEHMOMA 1244% 584,641
Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA (Taiyuan)
REJEREEMOMA 7236 350314
Hongsheng Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Shaanxi)
ROFBREEMOMA 338,794 1,078,751
Kaifu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Changsha)
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BEN1512A318L
As at 31 December 2015
HlAE

fzEEE  ATCHE  AHARSE
HORE BREEE LERE
BXE BEE  Total GFA  LEZEHE
BEEEE  Total GFA  withlease  Total GFA
Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease
delivered  delivered 5years over 5 years
i) Fr) E ()
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sgm)
- 190,833 - -
- 72,730 - -
503,091 81,550 5670 10,660
181,256 169,058 - -
915,915 162,836 3,008 20,727

LA
BIA
Expected/
Actual
construction
commencement
date

2016.07

2015.12

2009.12

2014.11

2007.07

B/ BB
BIR
Expected/
Actual
construction
completion
date

2018.08

2017.06

2016.01

2017.11

2015.11

TERR [ it

Major usage Status Address

iz B% % AR EREMBLTEER

Residential, Under E i

commercial, construction FREERE

aar parks B District, Financial
High Tech Service
Area, Nanhai District,
Foshan City,

Guangdong Province

i A% 28 AR TEEEM

Residential, Under HEREHUE
commercia, construction ETEERREHA
car parks Southeast Corner of

the Intersection Point
of Suzhan Road and
Jianggian Road,
Gusu District,
Suzhou City,

Jiangsu Province

WBERRT
REME6H
construction 16 Changfeng West
Street, Taiyuan City,
Shanxi Province

iz m% 2 EE
Residential, Under
commercial,
car parks

%z %% 88 EE RELEZT KR

Residentia, Under MEXREE

commercial, construction  High and New Tech

aar parks Development Zone,
Xi'an City, Shaanxi
Province

fz %% 38 #E HRERIT

Residential, Under REEETERI9%

commercial, construction 199 Fuyuan West

car parks Road, Kaifu District,
Changsha City,
Hunan Province
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gl BENSENANAL
H As at 31 December 2015
z BB
g fytns mgasE BE/RE  EE/EB
= L B3EER  UTERE  BEASE BIN #1A
= Approximate FERE HBEEER  MLEHE Expected/ Expected/
3 total land site ERE BEE  Total GFA  HREEE Actual Actual
=t area in respect BRYER  Total GFA withlease  Total GFA construction  construction
S L] ofthe HBEER  Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease commencement completion TEf & it
o Project entire project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered 5years over 5years date date Major usage Status Address
(Erx) (E5A) (ErF) (Erx) (Erx) (F5A)
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m.) (sq.m) (sq.m)
RPEREIMOMA 8241 29374 -9 - - 201410 01609 E ExEE R BRER)THER
Modern Binjiang Residential, Under SHEEEDER
MOMA (Changsha) commercial, construction  RER
aar parks Intersection Point
of Hanguang Road
and Guanshaling
Road, Yuelu District,
Changsha City,
Hunan Province
ROMOMAERER 79374 341778 - 3w - - 201407 01601 T EX EE R HHERDE
MOMA Modern Plaza Residential, Under RTREEEAE
(Changsha) commercial, construction RER
qar parks Intersection Point of
Kaiyuan Road and
Huangxing Avenue,
Changsha County,
Hunan Province
REEBREEMOMA Q314 120473 59,875 60,598 - - 2014.08 01502 (R EE BEEOEE R ERED
Hanyang Man Ting Chun Residential, Under AEREE
MOMA (Wuhan) commercial, construction %E HABE
car parks ARMERER

Intersection Point of
Houguanwu Avenue
and Fengshusi Road,
Wuhan Economic
Development Zone,
Wauhan City,

Hubei Province



B{iER
frpns
ERAY
Approximate
total land site
area in respect

%A of the
Project entire project
(F7)
(sq.m)
REXAREEMOMA 94,050
Guanggu Man Ting Chun
MOMA (Wuhan)

REIRER « KAREZR
North Star-
Modern ® Guangqu
Green Home (Wuhan)

140,817

ARERMOMA
Modern MOMA (Hefei)

56,262

BREER
Total GFA

t2z
(sqm.)

283,100

315,203

189,073

BXE
BREER
Total GFA
delivered

G2z

(sgm)

43,024

HZ201551283181

As at 31 December 2015
BEASE
fzgEE  UTEHE
WERE LEEER
AER  Total GFA
Total GFA  with lease
less GFA under
delivered 5 years
(Frx) ()
(sq.m) (sq.m)
240,076 -
315,203 -
189,073 -

HEARSE
NEBHE
BREER
Total GFA
with lease

over 5 years
G2z
(sqm.)

LA
BIA
Expected/
Actual
construction
commencement
date

2014.07

2015.05

2015.02
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B4/ 8E

%IR

Expected/

Actual

construction

completion TEf#
date Major usage

% B BE
Residential,
commercial,

qar parks

2016.09

01806 [FEBEEE
Residential,
commercial,

aar parks

fiz %% B8
Residential,
commercial,

qar parks

2017.08

Ka
Status

i3
Under
construction

i3
Under
construction

s
Under
construction

it
Address

R ERED
RAREELAmE
Guanggusi Road,
Donghu Development
Zone, Wuhan City,
Hubei Province

MERED
BHEXAZHIR -
BHCBIE

East of Guanggusan
Road and South

of Gaoxiner Road,
Gaoxin District,
Wuhan City,

Hubei Province

REERED
HBLE
RERERERRO
(E%) Intersection
Point of Huaining
Road and Xiuning
Road (riverside of
Kuang River),
Municipal and Culture
District, Hefei City,
Anhui Province
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il BENBENANAL
2 As at 31 December 2015
Z BEEE
g fyaug BEnsE EE/ER EE/ER
= ERAE BRUER  ATERE  EEASE BIR AIR
= Approximate FERE HBEEER  MLEHE Expected/ Expected/
3 total land site ERE BEE  Total GFA  HREEE Actual Actual
=t area in respect BRYER  Total GFA withlease  Total GFA construction  construction
S L] ofthe HBEER  Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease commencement completion TEf & it
o Project entire project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered 5years over 5years date date Major usage Status Address
(2R € 2% v AN € 0% v N 2% v A ¢ 2% v A ¢ %
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m.) (sq.m) (sq.m)
AIEERMOMA 139,189 460,037 - 40037 - - 2016.06 01907 Ex EE ORE ZEEAETHEE
BREERRN Residentia, Under RARERNZR
Modern MOMA Hengtong commercial, construction ROFR AR
international city of aar parks Southwest Corner
the future (Hefei) of the Intersection
Point of East Street
and Wenzhong Road,
Xinzhan District,
Hefei City, Anhui
Province
BEREEMOMA 116,349 251,833 223520 28313 312 1,406 2010.04 01312 X BpEEE RI IREHET
Man Ting Chun Residentia, Completed  FILHEAR—#
MOMA (Nanchang) commercial, Chengdongyi Road,
aar parks Qingshanhu District,
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province
F2ERMOMAITA 31,201 90,432 50380 40,092 - - 201403 w51 fxoBE EE ER IREHER
Modern M OM A Residential, Under MEHETEAE
New City (Nanchang) commercial, construction  Gongye Avenue,
qar parks Xinjian County,
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province
HEEREEMOMA 70,000 207,084 16,186 190,898 - - 2014.04 201603 HE #%-BE AR IREHET
Maodern International Residentia, Under FRERHER
MOMA (Nanchang) commercial, construction Changzhen West
qar parks Road, Xinjian County,
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province
NIHEEMOMA 173,130 493,390 257,776 235,614 491 7,057 2011.01 01608 % FE-EE AR IRENIT
Man Ting Chun Residential, Under  EREEER%
MOMA (ivjiang) commercial, construction  Lufeng West Road,
qar parks Xunyang District,
Jiujiang City,

Jiangxi Province
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BEN1512A318L
As at 31 December 2015
B{iER
fiptsns BEASE H/ER  EH/ER
AN fpgER NTEEE  BEASE BIA #IR
Approximate FERE  HBESER  MLEHE Expected/ Expected/
total land site ERE BER  Total GFA HBEER Actual Actual
area in respect BREEER  Total GFA withlease  Total GFA construction  construction
L ofthe HEEAE  Total GFA  less GFA under  with lease commencement completion FER% Ka it
Project entire project  Total GFA  delivered  delivered 5years over 5years date date Major usage Status Address

(B (B R N (N (T
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sgm)
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itk REEMOMA 26005 869,663 199851 669,812 240 6,814 201411 01808 (% @F EE EE R kTR TSR
Man Ting Chun Residentia, Under SRESRERASS
MOMA (Xiantao) commercial, construction §
aar parks 88 Huangjin
Boulevard (West),
Ganhe Bangshichu,
Xiantao City, Hubei
Province
REA 0 BAMOMA 185,564 346,675 - 36675 - - 2015.05 01801 (2 BEEE OAE AEERETIE
Dongdaihe * Bai Jin Hai Residential, Under EENRALER
MOMA (Dongdaihe) commercial, construction Baijin Haian,
aar parks Binhai Highway,
Dongdaihe New
District, Liaoning
Province
AitTotal 2870372 7962363 3339295 4,623,068 26,410 51,865

Kat o AERIMOMAZIBBESBEEALRIERE  IMOMA (Beijing) is no longer presented separately as it has been
EMOMAFRZT] - RABEBEMOMA  consolidated into Shangdi MOMA (Beijing). Wan Guo Cheng MOM A
REDPBEEMOMANZ HBEIEE S (Changsha) and Man Ting Chun MOM A (Changsha) are no longer presented
REDREMEEMOMASR 23] 1)T  separately as they have been consolidated into Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A
FBEMOMAZHBEBEEALMNNT  (Changsha). Chao Yang Li M OM A(iujiang) is no longer presented separately
WEBEMOMARZS] » THBEBIR - as it has been consolidated into Man Ting Chun MOM A (liujiang).
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FEREFHIER

MAJOR PROJECTS UNDER DEVELOPMENT

FEBBERFMOMA :
Shanghai Guo Fu MOMA:

FEEBEFMOMANRRETEN S LT
iR - EAREEELAERR  2HE
REFENITENRGERETEIEE - 18
B 2B Bt S 550 AR ) 1 3§ 1000K » b8 557 4%
BRI (FE2) 500K © S4B E =
REBEITI0NEHERRE - ZHSEEK
1&20“?‘75@1@[%& WeTERE - B2
@Eﬁé/ BE QXKW H - RKERNE

RABAHHRE - HTRLNBELRE
& EEEEEAERNET  EEY . 2

% RAER  BITTARSEKEEZ - HE
REEE ST EBEM16IE R INRIE - B
EmmitisE  REAH ERGRELZE
AmETRAMNEREER  FARKER[MOMAI
BREMAEFTEI24AmBHREER
B %ZBERELMER127,474F 7K
EE®EFE15,000F 5K o

Shanghai Wan Guo Fu MOMA is situated in the Jiangchuan
Zone of Minxing Old Town Centre, the intersection of Cangyuan
Road and Dehong Road, and is the regional benchmark residential
project relentlessly forged by Modern Land. The project is 1,000
metres from Dongchuan Road of Metro Line 5 and 500 metres
from Jiangchuan Road Station (under construction) on the south
extension of Metro Line 5. The project is readily assessable, and is
30-minute drive from Xujiahui through S4 Hujin Highway and 20
minutes away from Honggiao hub upon the completion of Jiamin
Highway. Ancillary facilities are ample in the surroundings with
renowned schools such as High School Affiliated to Shanghai Jiao
Tong University, Experimental Primary School Affiliated to Shanghai
Jiao Tong University, Minxing Kindergarten Affiliated to Shanghai
Jiao Tong University and Minxing Central Primary School, as well
as amenities catering for daily life, such as Auchan Supermarket,
McDonald’s, Starbucks, Poly Cinema and Minxing Park. According
to the development plan, the project will comprise 8 blocks of high
rise residence and 16 blocks of layered villa. With high and low rise
constructions deployed in picturesque order in both northern and
southern sides, such rich product line could satisfy different home
purchase needs. Meanwhile, the Company also utilises its “MOMA”
patented technology to establish a “full life-cycle residence” for
property owners. The total GFA of the project is 127,474 sq.m, and
15,000 sg.m. of which has been sold.
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BEMNEBRFMOMA :
Suzhou Wan Guo Fu MOM A:

HMEBBEFMOMAEB AL A E & B0 F
TE  BRERG - 8EES - BE2
SRAR5000K o TH B (R M AE L4188 - BDIEX
2.0 BREMEMBANTI2IBET K EREE
ET&E5465F K » 1L E30% o KA 12KEHL
R RERF20-26CHINEER - YR
fE30-70% @ EEE * 95% @ BPM2.5 » 535
EURE  BHAEE  ORIODE - 8 35
DEREBRE HBRFH - BELERER
[MERBERESER] WSFEEARE - B
REIRIRME = RBHEZEARM -

Situated in Pingjiang New Town, the centre of Gusu District, Suhou
Wan Guo Fu MOMA project is in close proximity to regional
government and Wanda Plaza, and is 500 metres from Metro Line
2. The project occupies a site area of approximately 41 mu and
has a plot ratio of 2.0. Among the total GFA of approximately
72,700 sq.m., 5,464 sg.m. is commercial area, and the greenery
ratio is 30%. The project adopts 12 technological systems to keep a
constant temperature of 20-26C and an appropriate range of relative
humidity at 30-70% throughout the year. 95% of PM2.5 is filtered,
while dust is effectively removed with static electricity. With fresh air
and a smog-free environment, the project is also set at an optimal
noise volume of 40 decibel in the morning and 35 decibel at night.
As a highly comfortable residence realising constant temperature,
humidity, oxygen level and noise level indoor, the project represents
the third generation of deluxe residences featuring energy
conservation, environmental protection and high technology level.

AEBEHMOMA :
Taiyuan Wan Guo Cheng MOM A:

AREBBEHEMOMAZEZE®GE - AER
BIE - MRAERRBAABT A —EBNREL
BiFAE ERUNLAAARTRERARS
& BT EEMAER - Z40L7E KE
bt  AES8E  AEME AEDWERER
FER o % IH B B MIE584,641F 75K
2 EmME520,382F 5K o

Taiyuan Wan Guo Cheng MOMA is a luxury community complex
of retail shops, 5-star hotels, offices and serviced apartments, which
is located at Changfeng Business District, Taiyuan, Shanxi Province,
the major development area of the city. Wan Guo Cheng MOMA
(Taiyuan) is close to Shanxi Grand Theatre, Shanxi Library, Shanxi Art
Gallery, Shanxi Museum and Shanxi Science & Technology Museum.
The project has a total GFA of 584,641 sq.m. and the area sold
amounts to 520,382 sg.m.
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RYPBABREEMOMA :
Changsha Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOM A:

EDHBMEEMOMA : ZIMEMHTE -
BREEEEMLRSERE - LERNPEER
DT MBS B AT IETE 2R R A 1SR AR b i
RIZITIEREA » IRIBEE IR MR IRIRE
JEH - RETENEEMEFENIRE o ZIE
BESEMEEA1,078751 F K DEEE
933,307F K (BERADEBHEMOMA
REDHEEMOMA Z B@EEIE) -

Changsha Kaifu Man Ting Chun MOMA is a mixed-use community
consisting of residential units and retail shops. It is located at
Changsha, Hunan Province and within walking distance of the Metro
Line One which is under construction. The project was designed
according to local geographical and climate conditions, and provides
a comfortable environment during all four seasons. The project has a
GFA of 1,078,751 sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 933,307 sq.m.
(The relevant data of Wan Guo Cheng MOM A (Changsha) and Man
Ting Chun MOMA (Changsha) are included.)

MEmEEMOMAR — BB B EEENM -
TEEE - 2T BT PR - K
BEMLRE - EBUNTIAEEESME LK
HEA - EEEMPO2SDEHELER -
e SFTEMBFTATEZLENETER
M RMERAEEEE AWM
Z o ZTBEHEEmMEA251,833F 5K B
EMEFE223,520F K o

Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA is a community consisting of
residential units, retail shops, clubhouse, supermarket, kindergarten,
swimming pool and restaurants. It is located at the east side of
Qingshan Lake, Nanchang, Jiangxi Province and within a 25-minute
drive of downtown Nanchang. This project is an attempt to create
Nanchang’s first new mixed-use community that features energy
conservation, comfort and design innovation. The project has a GFA
of 251,833 sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 223,520 sq.m.
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HIREFEMOMA :
Jiujiang Man Ting Chun MO M A:

FTMEFEMOMARZ LT — 8 5% E
ENEERREREBE  SLEEIAENIT
BHE G -AERI - ATHRENINERE
BRI ZdEBef B RRR - RIE
IREBET A H b BTRE I - i% B E B2EME A
493,390 75 K+ B & M 18407,945F 75 K
(BEIHBEMOMA ZREEE)

Jiujiang Man Ting Chun MOMA, the only high-end residential and
commercial development project in Jiujiang, is located at Xunyang
District, Jiujiang City, Jiangxi Province and faces the Yangtze River.
The community will utilise a ground-source geothermal heat pump,
ceiling radiation and other energy-saving technologies to improve
the living environment of Jiujiang. The project has a GFA of 493,390
sq.m. and the area sold amounts to 407,945 sq.m. (The relevant data
of Chao Yang Li MO M A(Jiujiang) is included).

kR EEMOMA :
Xiantao Man Ting Chun MOM A:

WHkmEFMOMA 2 — B E M EER %
RIBEE EFBRETHRBEAAE AL =
FRFIE 4R « i dc B Ik E & REXE
A - ZIE B EEMEIE A869,663F F K B
EmME261,983F K

Xiantao Man Ting Chun MOMA is a residential and commercial
development project which contains a serviced apartment, hotel,
clubhouse and school. It is located at the south side of Huangjin
Boulevard, Xiantao, Hubei Province. The project has a GFA of 869,663
sg.m. and the area sold amounts to 261,983 sq.m.
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ERERAMOMA :
Hefei Modern MO M A:

AREERMOMARRA BT RS &%
D BEERERBEERRA (EFN) - BLUA
K MFEBT - BERE R+ KEES
Bl ARERMOMANER  KAGES
BREZEBEEREET  ERKRANEER
RAETBMERETE [ BREZESEF]
N EiTBEHEN 2t BEEEERE I
SIELHEEREMNT M - BE RN HE
TEHI85mL - BEEEEL18E T K RER
25 BREBbLE&EE R - SIEmHRE
EZEMEE - THA D —Hif% - HisiFs
BFAI0BFERE  URBREEREHE - +
TIEAENS0F KR - BLRI5F K E MK
LENOFARFE - HEBGRERZEZ DM
CUARHEREE KBRS  LAED
LEBRBEREEH  RIAETERKMOMA
BERITERN [FEE] bl ® - B
BRI ABRBERE —RAREE - ZEREIUANRN
FEMEEEZERM  tEESGS - B
BERFEG AEXAFNEREEE  E
IR BRIt REBSH X+
FREE - TERARBHNBEERE &
EBEES  BRMSATMH - & rEE
IR - o RREHESE REHHER -
BMENNENFH LFPEEE - NEEH
ERE - ZBEHELEEA189,073F A
K BEMIEARSS,470FFK -

Hefei Modern MOMA (BIEERMOMA) is located at the centre of Municipal
and Culture District, Hefei City, which is the intersection point of Huaining Road and
Xiuning Road (riverside of Kuang River). It faces the river with mountain at the back,
like the backyard of the municipal government. The project mirrors the essence of
Beijing Modern MOMA (FtREHRKMOMA), one of the “10 best architectural
marvels of the world”, and becomes the first low-density energy-saving residential
property with refined decoration in Hefei. It applies the sophisticated energy-saving
technology to build a homeland of green, comfort, energy-saving and full life cycle
(featuring constant temperature, humidity, oxygen content and tranquility) for the
wealth class of Anhui, and takes the development of deluxe residence of Auhui in
a new direction. The project covers a total area of approximately 85 mu with a total
GFA of approximately 180,000 sq.m. and a plot ratio of 2.5, which is the last piece
of low-density land in the Municipal and Culture District that can rarely be found
in Hefei. The project is developed in two phases comprising a total of 8 high-rise
buildings, 10 houses and a number of commercial buildings for ancillary services.
lts major flat type is 150 sq.m. up, with a small number of high-rise units of 95
sg.m. and a very few of houses of 120 sq.m. For ancillary purpose, the project will
develop kindergarten and service space exclusively for residents such as community
clinic, leisure and fitness as well as private banquet venues, and it will introduce the
“China Circle (FEI[&)", which is established by taking Beijing Modern MOM A
as a sample, into Anhui. The project was formerly a low-density residential land,
which was the last piece of land for solely residential purpose in the Municipal and
Culture District and rarely seen within the second ring, therefore it has an extremely
high land value. Situated at a crowded area where one can nevertheless live in a
quiet environment, the project is accessible with a convenient transport system in
the surrounding area, and shares a beautiful environment surrounded by Kuang
River and the distant lush scenery in the Municipal and Culture District. It enjoys a
spectacular view of 10-year development in the Municipal and Culture District and
1,000-mu swan lake, and there are Wanda Plaza (8:£), Ganghui Plaza (FS[EE5),
Intime Plaza (#&2%) and various major municipal and financial institutions nearby.
In addition, there will be a one-stop quality educational facility under construction,
including a branded kindergarten, Daoxiangcun Primary School (F5&#/)\&2) and
Shushan Secondary School (&L £2). The project has a total GFA of 189,073 sq.m,
and the area sold amounts to 55,470 sg.m.
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REXRBEEMOMA :
Wuhan Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOMA:

REXARWEEMOMA LRI ET S5 =
B ELE AU R MERR - T8 B B A9.58F
ko EREEBA28EFL K BERE
17.4% » REE AB2.5 k1L T B35% @ |
7THR3BEMN S EMBFIERN & EAK -
WEFPHAE232P LA BAIEEL1:0.7 -
MOMABRBHtRIA+TEH A BER
R—EBRBER - BFEE - BN s
FEFEHHR - MOM A KR B BZ 47 2] LAFT 4t
Big BRERBREILSETHER £
BEEENFNETHR BEREILAE
BEBEMNES  WAAEMItE#H EGEZ[EE
AR RIEEER - BTEEERAE LR
IR SEEYEEN ) RBEYHEE I
EREMRENZEELRAEALD - BFRIR
BT ERREFPNER NS
EFERSE -BRIPLOSBALREFEELR
EoAIRREETSEATEENE  RE
HEEEEEHZESH  ARPEKRS -
BEERESESESSN - ZEEREER
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Wuhan Guanggu Man Ting Chun MOMA (BJZXAMEFEMOMA)
is located at the intersection point of Gaoxiner Road and Guanggusi
Road of Wuhan City. The project covers a total area of approximately
95,000 sq.m. with a total GFA of approximately 280,000 sq.m., a
construction density of 17.4%, a plot ratio of 2.5 and a greenery
coverage of 35%. It comprises 7 33-storey high-rise buildings and
13 11-storey small high-rise buildings (which are planned to have
around 2,372 flats) and its ratio of parking space is 1:0.7. With
the cross landscape as its axis, the community of MOMA Huan
Cheng (MOM AKHE) will be developed as a young and energetic
community with elegant, health and comfort, technological and
energy-saving environment. The overall planning of MOM /A Huan
Cheng is based on the south-north axis, in which the architectures
are designed on the principle of increment of height from south to
north, and the layout is made in a progressive manner. The whole
planning is divided by cluster, and multiple fenced central garden
courtyards are established along the south-north main axis, such that
the front-yard gardens can share the same charm of the green area
in the clusters. Moreover, thanks to the ingenious combination of
different types of plants and garden ornaments, and the great effort
put in the settings between buildings in pursuit of a balanced ideal
environment, every resident can appreciate the beautiful scenery in
his own flat. The commercial ancillary facilities behind the experience
centre, which is held by the community, can satisfy the owners’
various needs in the daily life. In addition, the Sports Star Clubhouse
(EFHz EEF) is developed by the community itself, which has such
sports venues as badminton court, dance room and gymnasium. The
project has a GFA of 283,100 sq.m. and the area sold amounts to
104,523 sg.m.
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REEHZEREFEMOMA :
Wuhan Hanyang Man Ting Chun MO M A:

REZEBMEEMOMAEB A RE TN
1% B8 K8 B A PO BE X PE JE 0 A4 B8 17,000
EEBE M - BREM  RKE - THEILER
BEMARE - RS MK BREERK
B HERAEHEBENALI2ET K BE
HEE1068BFH K EFRFEAEEL.8
BYHK BEMBENTIBFE K BEE
BrEASERRA ) ESEMSEAXD R
BT —H10REMAR - BFPEA1,087
P B #-s#ER2B4PI18E/NSE - o#-
VI#BR2B4P338 — 34w E - ZHB &
HMEIE120,473F 5K » B & HEHIEIS5,004F
FK e

Wuhan Hanyang Man Ting Chun MOMA project (2% 2 [5 i §E &
MOMAIEER) is located at the intersection point of Houguanhu Avenue
and Fengshusi Road of Dunkou, Wuhan City, facing the natural wetland of
Houguan Lake of 17,000 mu with beautiful lake view. The project is located
at Houguanhu Avenue to the north and Fengshusi Road to the east, and
is near Dongfeng Avenue. The project covers a total area of approximately
42,000 sq.m. with a GFA of approximately 106,000 sq.m., in which the area
of approximately 98,000 sg.m. is for residential purpose and approximately
7,000 sq.m. for commercial purpose. The community within the whole
project comprises quality residences of plate-type small high-rise and high-
rise buildings (10 buildings in total), and there are 1,087 flats in aggregate,
of which buildings 1#-8# are 18-storey small high-rise buildings with two
elevators for four flats on every floor, while buildings 9#-11# are 33-storey
or 34-storey high-rise buildings with two elevators for four flats on every
floor. The project has a GFA of 120,473 sq.m. and the area sold amounts to
95,004 sq.m.

RDPEREBEBIMOMA :
Changsha Modern Binjiang MO M A:

EPERBIMOMAEZEABINW RN E
BReshREE) aRIER - EEITER
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7N @

Nestled in Binjiang New City, Changsha Modern Binjang MOMA (&4
BERBTIMOMA) s located at the intersection point of Hanguang Road
and Guanshaling Road of Yuelu District. It is intended to be developed
into a new green and deluxe residence that is the most suitable for living
in Changsha, integrating the deluxe residence with technology. The
whole project covers a total area of approximately 48,000 sq.m. with a
total GFA of approximately 180,000 sg.m., a greenery coverage of 35%
and a plot ratio of 3.8. It has about 1,134 flats in total, comprising 7
technological deluxe residences, 1 technological boutique apartment, 4
single commercial buildings and a kindergarten covering an area of nearly
3,000 sg.m. It is the only green, deluxe and less-carbon community (which
is known for cool in summer and warm in winter) with deluxe residence
in Changsha. The project has a GFA of 229,374 sg.m. and the area sold
amounts to 84,456 sq.m.
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ROPMOMAERES :
Changsha MOM A Modern Plaza:

EPMOMAERESZEAAEETBER
MENEXERAFITENEL FEBREA
B ARBIER MR EDFHTKEEEAE
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E%S - IMAXE BT « RKAVBR —88 - 8% m
BHHEE - EAMOMAERESUNREYD
ERFREGESCEREREMATEERN
BRXAE WESAEDHMEZOERED
W o BARRBEBUASEHR D o TBE M ERKA
BiE S RBTHEN BEEEISEISHE
B2 $H205 20450 HE - BEHME =5
A (FEKEY)  KRERABBEBNHEKR -
ZHEBEEMER3L778F AKX BEA
1&8/5186,408F K o

Changsha MOMA Modern Plaza (EA2MOMAE R E5) is the
first technological habitat complex project in Xingsha (2% built by
Hunan Moma Real Estate Co., Ltd. under the Group, which is located
at the south-eastern corner of the intersection point of Kaiyuan
Road and Huangxing Avenue of Xingsha. The project comprises
7 technological residential buildings, 2 apartment buildings and
commercial space of 110,000 sq.m., including apartment hotel,
metro plaza, IMAX cinema and large supermarket, together with
a branded kindergarten. Modern MOMA Modern Plaza (8
MOMAERES) is situated at the junction of Kaiyuan Road and
East Eight Line (32 /\ #48) in Xingsha Economic and Development
Zone, a major development zone in Changsha which is located at
the core development zone at the east of Xingsha and will be the
future political and cultural centre. Surrounding the project is a well-
developed road network, and thus it enjoys a very convenient travel
to Huanghua Airport by car within 15 minutes. In addition, as there
are bus routes such as 205 and 204, and even the station of Metro
Line Three (Huangxing Avenue Station), it has enormous potential for
appreciation in future. The project has a GFA of 341,778 sq.m. and
the area sold amounts to 186,408 sq.m.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’'s revenue increased by approximately 55.7% to
approximately RMB6,349.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2015 from approximately RMB4,079.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2014. Such increase was mainly attributable to the
aggregate sales revenue from various property development projects
such as Wan Guo Cheng MOMA (Taiyuan), Changsha Kaifu Man
Ting Chun MOMA and Modern Caiyu Man Ting Chun MOMA
(Beijing). The property-related delivered GFA of the Group increased
from approximately 431,044 sq.m. for the year ended 31 December
2014 to approximately 776,369 sq.m. for the year ended 31
December 2015.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 80.9% to
RMB4,385.7 million in 2015 from 2014. Such increase was mainly
due to a significant increase in sold area with higher cost of sales in
2015.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased by
approximately 18.7% to RMB1,964.1 million in 2015 from 2014 and
the Group's gross profit margin in 2015 was 30.9%, representing
a decrease of approximately 9.7 percentage points as compared to
2014,

Other Income, Gains and Loss

Other income, gains and loss for the year ended 31 December 2015
decreased by approximately 135.6% to the loss of approximately
RMB26.8 million from the gains of approximately RMB75.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2014. Such decrease was primarily
due to the foreign exchange loss arising from the senior notes
denominated in US dollars as at 30 December 2015 and payment
of the settlement amount in relation to the reconciliation of the
arbitration matter as disclosed in the announcement dated 28
December 2015 by the Group.
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Change of Fair Value

Change of fair value includes fair value gain of completed properties
for sale upon transfer to investment properties and changes in fair
value of investment properties. The changes in fair value for the year
ended 31 December 2015 decreased by approximately 16.9% to
RMB167.9 million from RMB202.0 million in 2014, which was mainly
attributable to relatively stable market conditions of the investment
properties held by the Group without notable movement of rental.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015 slightly increased by approximately 1.4%
to approximately RMB209.7 million from approximately RMB206.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2014. The percentage of
expenses to the revenue decreased from 5.1% for 2014 to 3.3%
for 2015, which was primarily due to significantly enhanced selling
efficiency of the Group, rational usage of marketing resources and
strengthened control over expenses.
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ITHRAX
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Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 increased by approximately 1.5% to approximately
RMB245.8 million from approximately RMB242.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2014. The percentage of expenses to the
revenue decreased from 5.9% for 2014 to 3.9% for 2015, which
was primarily due to significantly enhanced operational capacity of
the Group in 2015 and impressive improvement of management
efficiency.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately RMB197.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2015, representing a
decrease of approximately 25.7% from approximately RMB265.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2014. Despite the higher
total amount of financing, the average finance costs decreased
to 10.5% and the level of capitalisation of qualifying assets was
enhanced.

Profit before Taxation

Profit before taxation of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 increased by approximately 14.8% to approximately
RMB1,339.6 million from approximately RMB1,166.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2014 for the above reasons.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 increased by approximately 18.1% to approximately
RMB738.9 million from approximately RMB625.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to an increase in revenue
and the scale of the Group.
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Profit for the Period Attributable to Owners of the
Company

As a result of the foregoing, the profit of the Group attributable to
owners of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 increased
by approximately 10.9% to approximately RMB577.9 million from
approximately RMB521.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2014.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash position

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cash, restricted cash and
bank balances of approximately RMB3,575.8 million (31 December
2014: RMB3,943.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately
9.3% as compared with that as at 31 December 2014. The
continuous stability of cash position was mainly due to moderate
decrease in the cash level resulting from the large-scale land
acquisitions for business expansion of the Group. As at 31 December
2015, some of the Group’s cash was deposited with certain banks
as guarantee deposits for mortgage financing loans granted to
purchasers of the Group's properties. As at 31 December 2015, the
above guarantee deposits amounted to approximately RMB57.3
million in total.

Borrowings and pledge of the Group’s assets

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had total borrowings of
approximately RMB5,258.9 million, including bank and other loans of
approximately RMB2,456.7 million and senior notes of approximately
RMB2,802.2 million. As at 31 December 2015, certain banking and
other facilities granted to the Group were secured by the Group’s
assets, such as investment properties, properties under development,
properties held for sale, property, plant and equipment, equity
interests in a subsidiary and bank deposits which had a carrying
amount of approximately RMB3,891.8 million. A majority of the
carrying value of all the Group’s bank loans was denominated in
RMB. Domestic bank loans of the Group bore interests at variable
rates pegged with the benchmark loan interest rates quoted by the
People’s Bank of China. The Group was exposed to interest rate risk
which was mainly related to variable interest rates of the domestic
bank loans.
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E EEEEE Breakdown of borrowings
b
= BEMEER FRELE S By type of borrowings and maturity
c
>
= 201545 20144
9‘: 128318 12H318
~ 31 December 31 December
2 2015 2014
AR¥TFT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITRHEMER Bank and other loans
—ERNHIFENR Within one year or on demand 1,756,687 1,314,317
—F AL BTEAMF Over one year and within two years 632,000 365,900
FLALE - BTNEBRF Over two years and within five years 68,000 115,000
Nt Subtotal 2,456,687 1,795,217
BIMERER Offshore senior notes
—EME - BRBBRE Over one year and within two years 1,076,234 -
RE F - BTBBRF Over two years and within five years 1,725,980 2,712,020
NEF Subtotal 2,802,214 2,712,020
et TOTAL 5,258,901 4,507,237
P Less:
e RZRRS Cash and restricted cash 3,575,751 3,943,938
FEE Net debt (1,683,150) (563,299)
et AR Total equity 3,775,049 3,233,739
FARMEX Net debt to equity 44.6% 17 4%
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By currency denomination

20155 20144
12H31H 12H31H
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
AR¥Fix ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

RERERERERBERES By type of borrowings and maturity
— ARBSE — Denominated in RMB 3,469,284 2,688,195
— LUBITTEHA — Denominated in HK$ - 136,317
— LAZETTEHE - Denominated in USD 1,789,617 1,682,725
5,258,901 4,507,237

BB Leverage
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As at 31 December 2015, the Group recorded net debt ratio of
approximately 44.6%. The Group’s net current assets (being current
assets less current liabilities) decreased by approximately 15.0%
to approximately RMB1,858.4 million as at 31 December 2015
from approximately RMB2,185.6 million as at 31 December 2014.
Its current ratio (being current assets/current liabilities) slightly
decreased from approximately 125.1% as at 31 December 2014 to
approximately 122.7% as at 31 December 2015.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s functional currency is RMB. Most of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. Transactions of the Group’s foreign operations
(such as the purchase of land held for future development) and
certain expenses incurred are denominated in foreign currencies. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group had monetary assets which are
denominated in US dollars and HK dollars of approximately RMB60.4
million and approximately RMB206.2 million respectively and liabilities
which are denominated in US dollars of approximately RMB2,136.0
million. Those amounts were exposed to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
place but the management will monitor foreign exchange exposure
and will consider to hedge against any significant foreign currency
exposure when necessary.
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had contingent liabilities
amounting to approximately RMB3,460.0 million (31 December 2014:
approximately RMB2,680.4 million) in relation to guarantees provided
to the domestic banks for their mortgage bank loans granted to the
Group's customers. Under the terms of the guarantees, if a purchaser
has defaulted on mortgage payments, the Group will be liable for
the payment of outstanding mortgage principals plus accrued interest
and penalties as owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, and,
in such circumstances, the Group will be entitled to take over the
legal title and ownership of the relevant properties. These guarantees
will be released upon the earlier of: (i) the satisfaction of the
mortgage loan by the purchaser of the property; and (ii) the issuance
of the property ownership certificate for the mortgaged property and
the completion of registration of other ownership certificates.

Employees and Compensation Policy

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 915 employees (31
December 2014: 973). Employee’s remuneration is determined based
on the employee’s performance, skills, knowledge, experience and
market trends. The Group regularly reviews compensation policies
and programs, and will make any necessary adjustment in order to be
in line with the remuneration levels in the industry norm. In addition
to basic salaries, employees may be granted with discretionary bonus
and cash awards based on individual performance.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year of 2015, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by our Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of our Group.

FUND AND TREASURY POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES

Executive Directors and president office will hold meeting with
finance and operation teams in the first week of every month to
discuss the cash position and indebtedness situation. In addition,
board office circulates weekly capital market reports to board
members so that the Board can assess equity/debt financing
opportunities. At project level, all projects are expected to reach
the internal rates of return of over 15%-20%, depending on the
locations and categories of the projects.
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MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

A summary of the material investment, acquisitions and disposals of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out as
follows:

On 18 August 2015, Shengeng Zhiye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
CRMEELE (b R) BRAQA) (“Shengeng Zhiye”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the equity
transfer agreement with Shaanxi Hongsheng Industrial Group
Company Limited* (BREIBREEXEEBRAF]) and Shaanxi Hejin
Mineral Company Limited* (RFE& S HEE G A F]) (“Hejin Mineral”)
whereby the parties agreed that, among others, (i) Shengeng
Zhiye shall acquire 26% and 25% equity interest in Shaanxi Zhuoli
Industrial Company Limited* (K78 22 B ¥ A R 2 7)) (“Shaanxi
Zhuoli”) from Hongsheng Industrial and Hejin Mineral, respectively,
at an aggregate consideration of RMB10.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$12.4 million); and (ii) Shengeng Zhiye shall provide
Shaanxi Zhuoli with the loan in the amount of RMB200 million. Upon
completion of the said acquisition, Shaanxi Zhuoli is held as to 51%
and 49% by Shengeng Zhiye and Hongsheng Industrial, respectively.
As resolutions of the board of directors of Shaanxi Zhuoli may only be
passed upon approval of all directors, the Group does not control the
board of directors of Shaanxi Zhuoli and Shaanxi Zhuoli is accounted
for as a joint venture of the Group. The financial results of Shaanxi
Zhuoli will not be consolidated with the financial results of the Group
and is equity accounted for by the Group. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 18 August 2015.

In March 2015, the Company entered into a cooperative framework
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the
“Wuhan Moma Agreements”) with Shanghai International Trust
Co., Ltd.* (L/BEIEEEAMR AF]), Cura Investment Management
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* (L& MEBEKEEERHBR QA and
Shanghai San Sheng Hong Ye Investment (Group)Co., Ltd.* (E/8=
BRERE(EE)BREM AR, pursuant to which the Company's
equity interest in Wuhan Moma Development Co., Ltd.* (R EEME
AR AT (“Wuhan Moma”) was diluted from 100% to 90.13%
accordingly. Pursuant to the Wuhan Moma Agreements and the
revised articles of association of Wuhan Moma, Wuhan Moma was
no longer an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
was accounted for as a joint venture of the Group. In September
2015, the Company transferred its 24.5% equity interests in Wuhan
Moma to Shihezi Hong Rui Rui An Equity Investment Partnership at
a consideration of RMB200,900,000. After the transfer, the equity
interest in Wuhan Moma held by the Group further decreased from
90.13% to 65.63% and Wuhan Moma remains as a joint venture of
the Group.
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On 12 October 2015, Huojianzhiye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(NETHE®RE UER) ERAF) ("HIZY"), a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, held a meeting of equity holder and the
resolution on changes in shareholding and the registered capital
increased from RMB10,000,000 to RMB100,000,000 was approved at
the meeting. Pursuant to the resolution, the Company increased its
capital contribution in HJZY from RMB10,000,000 to RMB20,000,000
and Jiaxing Lvxin Equity Investment Fund (Limited Partnership)*) (5
g EREREESEBEE (BREH)), the new equity holder,
contributed RMB80,000,000 into HJZY for holding 20% and 80% of
equity interests in HJZY, respectively. After these changes took effect,
HJZY was accounted for as an associate of the Group.

On 13 October 2015, Nengdonghongye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd
(“NDHY"), a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, held
a meeting of equity holder and the resolution on transfer of the
Group's 49% equity interest in NDHY to Oriental Bangxinshengshi
Investment Fund Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. * (BJ7 (St
RERESEE (L) BBR2AF) (“Oriental BX") at a consideration
RMB4,900,000 was approved at the meeting. Upon completion
of the aforesaid equity transfer, NDHY was held by the Group and
Oriental BX as to 51% and 49%, respectively, therefore NDHY was
no longer a subsidiary of the Company and was accounted for as a
joint venture of the Group.

On 20 October 2015, the Company and AVIC Trust Co., Ltd*
(FRELBRDAERADA) ("AVIC Trust”) entered into the equity
transfer agreement whereby the Company agreed to acquire from
AVIC Trust 35% equity interest in Nanchang Xinjian Modern Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (HESHEEREHERZ AR Q)
("Nanchang Modern”) for a consideration of RMB80,500,000. Prior
to completion of the acquisition, Nanchang Modern is held as to 65%
by the Company and 35% by AVIC Trust (being the trustee of the
trust). Upon completion of the acquisition, Nanchang Modern is held
as to 100% by the Company and becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 October 2015.
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On 6 November 2015, a resolution was passed by all the partners
of the Beijing Green Spring Equity Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership)* (Gt RZEBEFEARREREES(BRER)) (the “Fund”)
whereby it was agreed that the total investment amount in Beijing
Green Spring Equity Investment Fund will be reduced from RMB800
million to RMB430 million, and Minsheng Royal Asset Management
Co., Ltd.* (REMFEEEEE AR AF) ("MRAM”) will cease to be
one of the partners of the fund. The fund will return the investment
amount injected by MRAM in cash. As at the date of the resolution,
the Fund had a total investment amount of RMB800 million which
was held as to 1.875% by Beijing Modern Green Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* Gt R ERGZEREESEE AR L A)
(“Modern Green Fund Management”) as general partner, 51.875%
by Modern Green Development Co., Ltd.* (BREEEBEBRNHBREA
Al) (“Modern Green Development”) as subordinated limited partner
and 46.25% by MRAM as senior limited partner. Upon return of the
investment amount injected by MRAM, the investment amount in
the Fund reduced from RMB800 million to RMB430 million and was
held as to 3.49% by Modern Green Fund Management as general
partner and 96.51% by Modern Green Development as subordinated
limited partner. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 6 November 2015.

BONUS ISSUE

On 29 May 2015, the Board resolved to allot and issue new shares
of US$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)”) on the basis
of one bonus Share for every 10 Shares to the shareholders (the
“Shareholder(s)”) of the Company (the “Bonus Issue”). After
the resolution was approved by the Shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 17 June 2015, a total of
160,000,000 new Shares were allotted and issued pursuant to the
Bonus Issue on 10 July 2015.

CONSENT SOLICITATION

On 29 June 2015, the Company completed the consent solicitation
(the “Consent Solicitation”) and obtained requisite consents from
holders of its senior notes to certain proposed amendments to the
provisions set out in the indentures (the “Indentures”) constituting
the senior notes issued by the Company (the “Proposals”). The
principal purpose of the Consent Solicitation and the Proposals is
to obtain the requisite consents to amend certain provisions in the
Indentures to enable the Company to pursue business opportunities
that may not otherwise be available at attractive valuations or at all
and to better suit its business needs. The Proposals include, among
other things, amendments in relation to: (i) provisions relating to
Indebtedness, Investments and Liens (as defined in the Indentures);
(ii) the definitions of “Consolidated EBITDA” and “Consolidated Net
Income”; (iii) the definition of “Permitted Investment”; and (iv) the
clarification or additions of certain definitions.
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PLACING

On 31 July 2015, the Company completed a placing (the "Placing")
whereby an aggregate of 320,000,000 new Shares were successfully
placed to no fewer than six placees at the placing price of HK$1.05
per Share by Kingston Securities Limited (the "Placing Agent") in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the placing agreement
entered into between the Company and the Placing Agent on 15 July
2015.

No placee has become a substantial shareholder (as defined under the
Listing Rules) immediately following completion of the Placing. After
deducting the placing commission and other expenses in connection
with the Placing from the gross proceeds, the net placing proceeds
amounted to approximately HK$330 million and are intended to
be used as general working capital and/or for future investment
opportunities of the Group.

* The English names are for identification purposes only.
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Investor Relations Report

In 2015, the Company attached great importance to communications
with investors, financial institutions, the media and other
stakeholders in order to establish a more efficient communication
channel between the Company and the capital market. The investor
relations department has maintained effective mutual communication
and close relationships with investors, financial institutions and media
through various channels such as the publication of annual report
and interim report, results briefing and press briefing, press release,
corporate monthly newsletter and announcement, as well as the
website of the Company, and also released the Company’s financial
and operation conditions and the latest news to the market promptly
and accurately in compliance with the principle of "accurate, timely,
and transparent” information disclosure. The Company strives to
make the market have a deep understanding of the Company and
maintain high corporate transparency in order to create maximum
value for shareholders and other stakeholders.

During the year, the Company expanded new investor relations
though multi-channels such as one-to-one meetings, non-deal
roadshow, reverse roadshow for the media and investors, results
briefing, industry summit held by investment bank, press briefing,
telephone and e-mail exchange, seminars and the website of the
Company, so as to timely promote the proprietary technologies,
development philosophy and strategy, the latest development
and results of operation and management to the capital market.
Meanwhile, the Company also actively sought suggestions and
feedbacks for the Company from investors, thereby optimising the
corporate governance of the Company and continuously creating
value for shareholders, investors and the society.
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RERR Share Performance
Be B®I&
20155 2015 Highest Lowest
RABFRAE (BE) The Company’s share price per share (HK$) 2.20 1.17

2015FE RE KRR (2015F1H2H &
2015%€12831H)

Share Performance in 2015 (2 January 2015 to 31
December 2015)

— BAEREIHE — EREXWTE
Closing price of Hang Seng Index Closing price of Modern Land
29,000 2.2
JAN A

28,000

N WM, A -20
27,000

/ o
26,000 } \ 1.8
25,000 o 7 P |
24,000 /Y \A A V ‘
23,000 1.4

' v \J

22,000 T T T T T T — I\N/\,I\\/JA
21,000 DA an 34\\0\,«;/ > 6 8 WVMJE) " 12 ~12
20,000 1.0
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2,080,760,0000% « R MISZERAEE2.20
JC ° MA2015F 12 A31 B HBETE - K
NAEIMTEL AEL578EETT

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had a total of 2,080,760,000
Shares and the market price per Share was HK$2.20. Based on the
closing price as at 31 December 2015, the market capitalisation of
the Company amounted to HK$4,578 million.
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REZBRTE INVESTOR RELATIONS EVENTS

WK ATEEEEE  ITHREH KLY Since listing, members of the Company’s senior management
BHUESSEEEEHZRET AEMSEA such as the chairman of the Board, executive president and chief
WEETY  ZToBHEBEAMBETRR &  financial officer have participated in numerous investor activities in
WEEHEBRES BB NEFESLE  various types and have sufficiently communicated with the capital
MREBEDN BLEIRTZEEMNE® M market, which enabled the investors to have more comprehensive
B ARANRNEUHEERIFSIEE - [k interpretation and analysis for the business concepts and financial
B e ERARETIEE o standing, and effectively realised the multi-channel bilateral
communication. The Company will keep on disclosing accurate and
transparent information of high quality on a timely basis.

2015FE A QTN ETEREEBFZEH Key investor relations events of the Company in 2015
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DATE EVENT ORGANISER LOCATION

201514130 REEREE /FRHRE/REEGH EREX B

13 January 2015 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/investor meeting Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

201552 A10HZE11H FNEEEGARELEES TERRIRTT IR

10-11 February 2015 12th Annual Citi Asia Pacific Investor Conference Citibank Singapore

2015%3A27H 0145 FEEEREEMEG EREX &

27 March 2015 2014 annual results presentation Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

201543A27H BRI ERER e

27 March 2015 Stock commentator seminar Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

201543308 E31H RERMERIFRFHHE BEHRER &L

30-31 March 2015 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to results announcement Guotai Junan Hong Kong

2015418 RERMRIER IR ELIRTT B

1 April 2015 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to results announcement HSBC Hong Kong

2015%5A821H EREBXE2015FRRBEFAE ELRTT &

21 May 2015 2015 annual general meeting of Modern Land HSBC Hong Kong

201546 A 12H EREX  EREFIMAIELRMHE EHREXR BE

12 June 2015 Modern-iKang Guobin strategic cooperation press briefing Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

201548250 2015F IR EREEME EREX e

25 August 2015 2015 interim results presentation Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

201548 H25H BEReEMGELRTERRAIEEM EREXE s

25 August 2015 Modern-Shine green financial platform strategic cooperation Modern Land ~ Hong Kong

press briefing

201598 H27H RERMRIER IR EREL B

27 August 2015 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to results announcement Guotai Junan Hong Kong

201559418 RENMRERHHE FEES 5

1 September 2015 Non-deal roadshow subsequent to results announcement CLSA Hong Kong

2015%10A16H REEREE /FRHWE/REESE BATIRTT N

BB

16 October 2015 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/investor meeting Standard Singapore/
Chartered Hong Kong

20154104190 REERAG /FRHBKE/REEGS EEELRT abis

19 October 2015 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/investor meeting Deutsch Bank  Shanghai

2015411 A248 REERES /FRHBE/REEGS EELRT B

24 November 2015 Meeting with investors/non-deal roadshow/investor meeting Deutsch Bank  Hong Kong

2015612108 %128 DRI [ 35 R EREX R/ A

10-12 December 2015 Reverse roadshow for analysts Modern Land  Beijing/Hefei
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Since its first proposition by the United Nations World Commission
on Environment and Development in 1987, the idea of “sustainable
development” has become an important notion for every enterprise
and individual. As a leader in energy-saving property industry of the
PRC, Modern Land has been adhering to the concept of seeking
the balance between economic and social development and the
integration with environmental protection. Since its establishment,
the Group has been committed to the social responsibility in a
proactive manner, and it has kept in mind to contribute to the society
in sync with its continuous development. During the year, the Group
actively participated in social charitable activities to ensure that it can
make long-term contribution in respect of sustainable development,
economic growth and livelihood while striving for better business
performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Building a homeland of green + comfort + energy-
saving + full life cycle with mobile internet

With the economic development and Chinese residents’ greater
demand for better life quality, energy-saving and green products will
gradually dominate the market. Meanwhile, the government has
made clear that green and energy-saving architecture is the inevitable
direction of the future development of real estate industry in the
PRC. The Company started earlier than other enterprises of Mainland
China in the research and development on green and energy-saving
real estate, and therefore has taken the lead significantly in this sub-
market.

Modern Land has always been adhering to the development
concept of “Technology Buildings and Quality Life”, sticking to the
development philosophy of “Natural Simplicity, Harmonious Health,
Simple Focus, and Endless Vitality” and focusing on the theme of
“Action of Loving My Homeland” to provide consumers with the
comfortable and energy-saving products, not only improving the
quality of occupiers’ living environment, but also caring for the
nature and focusing on energy-saving and environmental protection,
thus bringing occupiers the sincere and real life experience.

In 2002, the Group created the MOMA concept that integrates
large real estate project development, advanced construction
techniques, original construction design, modern urban lifestyle and
humane care, and such series of MOM A products built with great
efforts have become the iconic brands of China’s energy-saving real
estate industry. The capabilities of Modern Land in the integration
and application of sustainable development technologies and high-
quality living environment design, coupled with the Company’s
excellent performance in the development and sale of related
properties, allow it to stand out among numerous Chinese property
developers. Modern Land has established three types of standardised
product lines in a number of cities and provinces such as Beijing,
Shanghai, Shanxi, Hunan, Hubei, Jiangxi, Jiangsu, Shaanxi and
Guangdong, especially in the areas with cold winter and hot summer
and areas suffering severe air pollution, to offer comfortable, healthy

and energy-saving technical residential buildings.
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LEED FOR NEIGHEORHOOD DEVELOPMENT
PiLOT

MODERN MOMA
Beigirg, China

STAGE 3.CERTIFIED
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Beijing Modern MOM A - certification of
Leading Energy and Environmental Design
— Neighborhood Development (LEED-ND)
granted by the U.S. Green Building Council
(USGBC)

Achievements and awards

Modern Land obtained numerous awards and certifications for
its excellent performance in environmental protection. Among
which, Beijing Modern MOM A was awarded the certification
of Leading Energy and Environmental Design — Neighborhood
Development (LEED-ND) granted by the U.S. Green Building Council
(USGBC). Nanchang Man Ting Chun MOMA and Beijing Modern
MOM /A passed China Green Building Three-Star Certification. Up
to now, the Group is the only company that has passed the top
certification for green building in China — China Green Building
Three-Star Certification twice. In March 2015, Modern Land was
granted the “2015 China Specialised Real Estate Company — Green
Technology Real Estate” award by the Enterprise Research Institute of
Development Research Center of the State Council, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Academy.
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Nanchang Man Ting
Chun MOMA - China
Green Building Three-Star
Certification

Beijing Modern MOM A
— China Green Building
Three-Star Certification
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Modern Land (China) Co., Limited — 2015 China Specialised
Real Estate Company — Green Technology Real Estate
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Start from ourselves in energy-saving and
environmental protection

The Group is aware that energy-saving and environmental protection
are the important segments of sustainable development of the
enterprise. Therefore, when actively building green energy-saving
architectures, the staff is also encouraged to live in a low-carbon way.

“Earth Hour” is held annually across the world at 20:30 (local time)
on the last Saturday of March, aiming to save energy by encouraging
households and business users to turn off non-essential lights and
electrical appliances for an hour. As a green energy-saving enterprise,
Modern Land responds positively to the call of “Earth Hour” and calls
its every employee to save power and energy.

Trees help regulate climate, sustain the ecological balance, keep air
clean and fresh through breathing in carbon dioxide and exhaling
oxygen during photosynthesis, break wind and fix sands, conserve
water and soil as well as absorb dust. In March-April each year,
Modern Land organises staff from the Group and project companies
to participate in the tree planting activities to contribute to the
blue sky of cities. On 22 March 2015, Modern Land’s tree planting
and climbing activity was successfully held with more than 130
participants from various centers and companies in Beijing.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As a green real estate corporation that has long been committed to
social responsibility, Modern Land’s “Love Our Homeland” campaign
is in operation for decades. The Love Our Homeland Foundation
has been established since the Company was founded to make
contribution to our homeland through a range of charity campaigns.

Love Our Homeland’s Bright Moon Campaign

On 14 June 2015, Modern Land’s vice president Zhang Shihong
and the staff representatives visited the primary school in Meng Jia
Zhuang, Yangze Township, Zanhuang County, Shijiazhuang to donate
the foundations raised by the staff and landlords to the school to
bring the children new lawns, windows, desks and white walls to
give them a healthy environment to learn and grow up.
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Love Our Homeland’s Charity Basketball Game

In the evening of 28 July 2015, the “MOM /A Charity Basketball
Game"” organised by Taiyuan Wanguocheng MOM/\ under Modern
Land was successfully concluded. The game aimed at raising funds for
the Hung’s. The Hung's have adopted over 40 orphans since 1982,
saving lives with their persistence throughout 33 years. The Hung’s
and their adopted children watched the entire game and accepted
the donation.
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OPERATING PRACTICES

As of 31 December 2015, the Group had 915 employees, of which
891 were based in China, 9 in Hong Kong and 15 in the United
States. The Group firmly believes that staff are the most valuable
asset to the enterprise, hence, it strives to set up a good development
platform for its staff.

Employees’ development and training

Career development and management in Modern Land builds
on the core value of the Group. Through career development
and management and the 12-level standardised examination and
assessment, the Group discovers and understands the career anchor
of the employees. It also provides a good environment in respect of
external career development for employees and helps them achieve
internal career development. With considerable professional practice,
harmonious and unified development of the staff and the enterprise
can be realised.

The Group truly understands that knowledge, skills and abilities of
the employees are the key in promoting sustainable development of
the Group’s business. As such, we encourage our staff to enhance
their professional skills by arranging various training courses for them
every year. The average training hours per year for each employee in
the mid-level, the management and the leadership team are 50, 90
and 198 respectively.
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Talent strategy and care for staff

The Group implements a “five-aspect talent strategy”, i.e. “attracting
talent, cultivating talent, making good use of talent, retaining
talent and the flow of talent”. Specifically, the “five-aspect talent
strategy” includes attracting talent: strict control on the recruitment
and leaving of professional talent; cultivating talent: integrated
cultivation and training system; making good use of talent: “Modern”
arena with no boundaries; retaining talent: provision of incentives,
accountability and career in Modern Land; the flow of talent: double
value and no position without contribution. In order to implement
the aspect of attracting talent in the “five-aspect talent strategy”,
Modern Land officially launched its campus talk “MOM A Climbers
2016"” on 11 October 2015. The talk had been held in cities such as
Beijing, Tianjin, Xi'an, Hefei, Shanghai, Suzhou, Changsha, Wuhan,
Nanchang, Chongging and Taiyuan and was well-attended in all
venues. The Group received nearly 9,000 resumes in the campus
recruitment event this year.

On the basis of a “five-aspect talent strategy” of Modern Green
Development, the care for staff represents the care for all staff
members for the purpose of strengthening their recognition of Zhiye
culture and loyalty towards the Company, and retaining talents
with the use of sentiment, career and economic benefit, including
the birthday care, induction anniversary, traditional festivals and
holidays, care for marriage, maternity and bereavement, body check,
appraisal, staff teambuilding, Zhiye cultural activities, care for staff
stationed overseas and staff in difficulty, etc. By creating a warm
working environment for staff with occupational care, the Group has
maintained its relationships with its staff through love and care, and
united all people to realise the common vision of the Group and its
staff.
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Quality of working environment

The Group adopts a range of precautionary measures and makes
efforts to provide employees with a safe workplace. During the
period, no casualty of the Company’s staff was recorded. The Group
also conducted regular occupational health checks for staff annually,
and organised a series of activities promoting healthy life for staff on
an irregular basis, such as exercising in worktime, Run for Fun (8
299 F), badminton competition, climbing, etc.

Code of conduct

The Group has been adhering to the stringent code of conduct,
including, among others, anti-corruption guidelines. Modern Land’s
Zhiye Guidelines (% %Hl]) expressly provides that all employees
shall be honest and self-disciplined, and they must not extort
bribes, accept bribes or seek other improper benefits by using their
authorities, and are prohibited to receive reward intermediately,
rebate or commission in a variety of economic activities. On 26
December 2014, the Group issued a notice that it had decided to
establish the anti-fraud reporting and acceptance department and
stipulate the way of acceptance, and included a clause of anti-
fraud reporting in tender documents and standardised contracts, so
as to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Company
and its shareholders. On 25 August 2015, in another step to
enhance its anti-fraud effort and push forward the formalisation
and standardisation of fraud investigation, the Company formulated
and issued the “Guideline on Fraud Investigation of Modern Land”,
which specifies the purpose, scope, practice and procedure of fraud
investigation.

Hik
=
Van
(e
i
B
af
|
<
>
Il
<
o

(o}
o

=

>

—
Q

>

o
o
3.
>

)
Q)
°

C
3.
=
()

o

57



il
-
>
=
=
(=
>
-
=
m
o
=)
=
|
N
o
—
(S,

58

SHEABE

Corporate Governance Report

5]
ARBBAREBERAERFERKRKENEEE
CEFERR ARMEEERANKEE
PINMESRS A RMHE B G LBREEM
HRREEFELOMEEHERZ  URNAKE
BRI IR IER R -

!

EEeRA BE2015F12A3181FE -
RAR—HET EMRAMERI4RNEEE R
PRI ([ EERSTALL) #5189 SFRHESC »

EERHFRS

AR BB BRAN BT AR AR 8%+ P S AY b g
TAEFETEZFXHREST A ([1REF
A EREFEEARARFNITRTA -
EREEHIARSFXOEFAD ETREST
AFFEARTERE - ARBIEF - TETH
ABREERRHEBEFBIANARENE

GWEN °

E=g

AN EFEMRELEEEIIR BA=4
WITEF  —2FUTESR=RBILIFY
TEEHEK - EFEHABEMRHERT KEE
RN TFELERAEEEBNER &
ZREBMBABIER -

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance. It is the belief of the Board that effective
corporate governance and disclosure practices are not only crucial
in enhancing the Company’s accountability and transparency and, in
turn, investors’ confidence but also important to the Group's long-
term success.

The Board is of opinion that the Company had complied with the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.
All Directors have confirmed that they complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code during the year under review.
The shareholdings of the Directors, chief executive and substantial
shareholders of the Company are detailed in the Directors’ Report of
this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board, which is chaired by Mr. Zhang Lei, consists of three
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the
Board ensures a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the business of Group and the issuance of
independent opinion.
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The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report include:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Lei (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Peng (Executive President)
Mr. Chen Yin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Tianxiang
Mr. Fan Qingguo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Qin Youguo
Mr. Cui Jian
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric

All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered
into service contracts with the Company for a specific term of three
years. Under the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), the Board is empowered to appoint any person
as a Director to fill the casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
The Board considers a candidate’s experience, skill and knowledge
and competency and ability to fulfil duty of care and diligence and
fiduciary duty and/or recommendation by the Nomination Committee
(if any).

In compliance with Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors
(representing not less than one-third of the Board), one of whom
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting
and financial management. Each of the three independent non-
executive Directors has confirmed his independence of the Company
and the Company considers each of them to be independent in
accordance with the guidelines of assessing independence as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the three independent
non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a specific term of three years.
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third or, if the
number is not a multiple of three, the nearest to one-third, of the
Directors are subject to retirement from office by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company once
every three years. In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Chen Yin, Mr. Qin Youguo and Mr. Hui Chun Ho,
Eric will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 3 May
2016 (the “2016 AGM"). All other Directors will continue in office.

All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs
of the Group and, in particular, the non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors have provided the Board with their diversified
expertise and professional advices. The Board is of the view that
there is a balanced composition of executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive Directors in the Board and the
independent non-executive Directors are able to provide sufficient
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) and the Group. The participation
of the independent non-executive Directors in the Board and
committee meetings also provides independent judgment on the
issues relating to strategy, policy, performance, accountability, conflict
of interest and standards of conduct.

The Board members have timely access to information relating to
the Group’s business and will be provided with further documents
and information upon request to enable them to make informed
decisions. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are kept by the company secretary and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees are recorded in sufficient details for the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised or
dissenting views expressed by the Directors. Draft and final versions
of minutes are sent to all Directors for their comment and record
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meeting is held.
All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and
quality sufficient to enable the Board to make informed decisions on
matters placed before it. Queries raised by the Directors are received
a prompt and full response.
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The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced Board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence across the
Board.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND
INDEMNITY

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient liability
insurance to indemnify its Directors and officers in respect of legal
actions against the Directors and officers.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD

The Board is in charge of leadership and control of the Group and
is responsible for maximising the Group's financial performance
and making decisions in the best interests of the Group and its
Shareholders. Under the leadership of Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman,
the Board is also responsible for formulating and overseeing the
business strategies and policies of the Group, approving and
monitoring annual budgets and business plans, reviewing operational
and financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
financial control and risk management systems. The Board has
delegated the daily operation and day-to-day management of the
Group as well as the implementation of the Board’s policies and
strategies to executive Directors and the management of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING

The Board holds meetings regularly and meets at other times as and
when required to review financial, internal and compliance controls,
risk management, company strategy and operating performance of
the Group. In addition, the Board holds general meetings to maintain
an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders. For the period from
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015, the Board held 4 regular
meetings.
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The number of Board meetings and general meetings attended by
each Director from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015 is set out in
the following table:

B8 EREES FHESS REEES
Ex=gel 28 23 23

Regular Audit Remuneration Nomination BRAE
5= Board Committee Committee Committee General
Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BITEHENE
Number of meetings held 4 2 2 1 2
RE LA
Mr. Zhang Lei 4 2 1 1
RIS SR
Mr. Zhang Peng 4 1
PRE A&
Mr. Chen Yin 4 1
Mr. Fan Qingguo 4 1
EREEE
Mr. Zhong Tianxiang 4 1
REB L E
Mr. Qin Youguo 4 2 2 1
ERret
Mr. Cui Jian 4 2 2 1 1
FRf S
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric 4 2 1 1
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Notice of at least 14 days for regular Board meetings and sufficient
notice of reasonable days for ad hoc Board meetings (if any) were
given to all Directors so as to ensure that (i) each of them had
an opportunity to attend the meetings, (ii) each of them had an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda and (iii) agenda and
accompanying Board papers were given to all Directors in a timely
manner. As agreed by the Board, the Directors may also seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. During
the intervals between Board meetings, the senior management of
the Company provides the Directors with information on a timely
basis regarding all major developments or changes in the Group’s
businesses.
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Should a Director have a potential conflict of interest in a matter
being considered in the Board meeting, he or she will abstain from
voting in respect of the relevant resolution. Independent non-
executive Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at the
meetings to deal with such issues.

Full Board or committee papers will be sent to all Directors at least
three days (or number of days which should be reasonable and
adequate) before the intended date of a Board meeting or committee
meeting.

Management has supplied the Board and its committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable it to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board and its committees for approval. Management
is also invited to attend the Board or committee meetings where
appropriate.

All Directors are also entitled to have access to timely information
such as monthly updates in relation to the Company’s businesses and
have separate and independent access to senior management.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

During the year, all Directors were provided with monthly newsletter
on the Group’s business, operations and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
Three trainings on (1) high yield bond provisions; (2) options; and (3)
integrity management and corruption prevention were provided to
the Directors.

In addition, every newly appointed Director will receive an induction
on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he
or she has a proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company, and his or her responsibilities under the laws and
regulations and especially the governance policies of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE PRESIDENT

The Chairman and the Executive President are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Zhang Peng respectively with
clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Zhang Lei, being the Chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall
strategies and business development directions for the Group, to
ensure that adequate, complete and reliable information is provided
to all Directors in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues
raised at the Board meetings are explained appropriately.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board. The Chairman is responsible to ensure that the Board
works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by it in a timely manner. The
Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each Board meeting. He takes into account, where
appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion
in the agenda. The Chairman may delegate this responsibility to
a designated Director or the company secretary. The Chairman
also takes primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established. The Chairman
encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that it acts in the best
interests of the Company. The Chairman encourages the Directors
with different views to voice their concerns, allows sufficient time
for discussion of issues and ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect
Board consensus. The Chairman at least annually holds a meeting
with the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
directors without the executive Directors present.

Mr. Zhang Peng, being the Executive President, is responsible for the
daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the
Board, and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of
the Group.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to present a balanced,
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects in the consolidated financial statements of the
annual and interim reports in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. Pursuant to Code Provision
C.1.1 of the CG Code, the management provided such explanation
and information to the Board as will enable the Board to make an
informal assessment of the financial and other information put before
the Board for approval. The Directors confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2015, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates
that are prudent and reasonable.

The Group has announced its interim results in a timely manner
within the limits of two months after the end of the relevant financial
periods, as laid down in the Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain an effective internal
control system in order to safeguard the interest of the Group
and the Shareholders, review and monitor the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems on a regular basis to
ensure that the systems in place are adequate. In 2015, the Group
engaged a third party consultancy service provider to assist the audit
department of the Group in conducting a review on the internal
control management of the group companies as well as the project
companies in northern and central-southern China.

The Group’s internal control system comprises, among others, the
relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management procedures, a well-established organisational structure
with clearly defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each
department is accountable for its daily operations and is required to
implement the business strategies and policies adopted by the Board
from time to time.
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The Board conducted a review and assessment of the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control system and procedures during the
financial year ended 31 December 2015 by way of discussions with
the management of the Group, members of the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the external independent auditor. The Board
believes that the existing internal control system is adequate and
effective. The Board also reviewed the resources, qualification and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programs and budget and was satisfied
with their adequacy.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors
also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the financial
statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

The reporting responsibilities of our Company’s external auditor on
the financial statements of the Group are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee to oversee the relevant
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The three Board committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Audit
Committee was established on 14 June 2013. In order to comply
with the Corporate Governance Code, the Board adopted a revised
terms of reference of the Audit Committee on 18 November 2015.
The revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. As of 31
December 2015, the Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric (the chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cui Jian and Mr. Qin Youguo. None of
them is a member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting and financial management expertise and
experience to discharge their duties. However, the Audit Committee is
authorised to obtain external legal or other independent professional
advice if it considers necessary.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference in accordance
with the CG Code. The principal functions of the Audit Committee
include:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditors, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and to handle any questions of resignation or dismissal of that
auditor;

e to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of
the external auditors and effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, and to discuss the nature
and scope of the audit and related reporting responsibilities with
the external auditor before the audit commences;

e to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year report
and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them;

e to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems; and

e to discuss with the management the system of internal control
and ensure that management has discharged its duty to
have effective systems including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programs and budget.
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The Audit Committee also performs corporate governance procedures
of the Company, including:

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provision and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2015 and conducted the
following activities:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The

reviewed the Group’s annual results for 2014 and interim results
for 2015;

reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external auditor;

reviewed the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee
for the Board's approval;

reviewed the internal control, risk management and financial
matters pursuant to its terms of reference; and

made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditor and its remuneration.

Audit Committee also met with the auditor annually in the

absence of management to discuss matters relating to any issues
arising from audit and any other matters the auditor may wish to
raise.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the external auditor’s
remuneration in respect of audit services provided to the Group
amounted to approximately RMB3.7 million. During the year, the
non-audit service fee to external independent auditor amounted to
RMBO.9 million.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 14 June 2013 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the code provisions
in the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cui Jian (the chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric and Mr. Zhang Lei.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include: (i)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least once a year and
making recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes to the Board for conforming to the strategy of the Company;
(i) identifying and nominating qualified individuals to act as Directors
and making recommendations to the Board regarding such matters;
(iii) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) making recommendations to the Board regarding
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for the Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual
general meeting of the Company to answer the questions raised by
the Shareholders on Director’s nomination and other nomination
policy matters.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year (or in
accordance with the regulations of regulatory authorities applicable
to the Company from time to time) at the time as required to
discharge its duties. The meeting shall be convened and chaired by
the Chairman. For the year ended 31 December 2015, one meeting
of Nomination Committee was held to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors and structure of the Board and
review the reappointment of Directors at the 2015 AGM, etc.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” in relation to
the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of
diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience.

The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board.
After assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to
the Company’s business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that
the existing Board was appropriately structured and no change was
required.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 June 2013 with
written terms of reference as suggested under the code provisions
in the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Qin Youguo (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Cui Jian, and
an executive Director, Mr. Zhang Lei, during the year ended 31
December 2015.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
not limited to) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policies and structures for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration; (ii) making recommendations to the
Board for executive Directors’ remuneration; and (iii) considering
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The amount of the executive Directors’ remuneration is determined
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the relevant
executive Directors’ experience, responsibility, workload and the time
devoted to the Group. The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee from time to time.
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HFMEESNEREMATESHNHMITE  The Remuneration Committee may also consult the Chairman on

HIFERE WHRVERZAEEEZR - ¥ proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors

HZE2015F12831BIEFE » HEZ S48  and has access to professional advice if necessary. For the year ended

TR WETT T A TR ¢ 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
and conducted the following activities:

(i) ERAEECZHFMBREEE 2H () reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group and Directors’
B remunerations;

(ii) EZWHEBBIBNITES - 3ELH7TE (i) reviewed and approved the remuneration package of individual
ENEREBE HFHEE & executive Directors, non-executive Directors and senior
management; and

(i) FERHFNEZESLEBRESE - (iii) reviewed the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee.
hEEBREFMAL Five highest paid individuals
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AEESHEMATEEHZE2015412H31H  The five highest paid individuals included 2 Directors for the year
IFEEH2RESE (20145 : 3828 £) - &) ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 3 Directors). The emoluments of the
Z2015F12A31H L FERMH3IZESH  remaining 3 highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December
B AT (20144 « #2855 M A L) #2015 (2014: remaining 2 highest paid individuals) are as follows:
BT -

2015% 20144
AR¥T T AREET T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB Employees

— A& MERL — Basic salaries and allowances 1,947 1,427
—fE4L — Bonus 312 1,371
— DARR D - 3K — Share-based payment 2,683 298
— RIRAEF K - Retirement benefit contributions 114 76

— HibEWEF — Other benefit-in-kind
— FTiR Mm% — Properties provided 407 759
5,463 3,931

KEE  REBUWESTNRALZES MM AT During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five

EREHMERSIEI A INANREE %5 highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Bk Ve BB o Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2015, in compliance with Rule
3.28 of Listing Rules, the Company’s company secretary is a full-time
employee of the Company and familiar with the ordinary affairs of
the Company. The company secretary is responsible for giving advice
to the Board on corporate governance matters in order to assist the
Group to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to
suit different commercial needs. Details of the Company’s company
secretary are set out in the section headed "Profiles of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company’s company
secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
TO PUT FORWARD PROPOSALS THEREAT

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are prepared in accordance with Article
58 of the Articles of Association:

(1) One or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
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(2) The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting,
and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more of those Shareholders.

(3) The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 505, ICBC Tower, Citibank
Plaza, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong.

(4) The extraordinary general meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of the requisition.

(5) If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the extraordinary
general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the deposit of
such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by him/her/them as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by the Company.

PROPOSALS FOR PROPOSING A PERSON FOR
ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association as amended from time to time, the Company may
from time to time in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director.

A Shareholder may propose any person (the “Person”) for election
as a Director by lodging the following documents at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 505, ICBC Tower,
Citibank Plaza, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the Shareholder concerned of
his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director with
full particulars of the Person including his/her full name and
biographical details as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules; and
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(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her willingness to
be elected as a Director.

Such notices shall be lodged at least seven (7) days prior to the date
of the general meeting and the period for lodgment of such notices
shall commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and shall
be at least seven (7) days in length.

PROCEDURES FOR RAISING ENQUIRIES

To ensure effective communication between the Board and
the Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy:

(1) Shareholders may direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited.

(2) Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns
to the Board in writing through the Company Secretary or the
Chief Financial Officer whose contact details are as follows:

Modern Land (China) Co., Limited
Room 505, ICBC Tower,

Citibank Plaza,

3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong
Tel: (852) 2187 3611

Fax: (852) 2187 3619

Email: moma@pordahavas.com

(3) Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at general
meetings of the Company.

MEMORANDUM OF ASSOCIATION AND
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Save for the amendment to the memorandum of association relating
to the increase of the authorised share capital of the Company from
US$20,000,000 to US$30,000,000, there had been no significant
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The major task and objective of the Group’s investor relations is
to clearly introduce the Group, including the business positioning,
existing operations and future development of the Group, to the
media, Shareholders, investors, analysts and investment banks
through different communication channels. In future, the Group
shall further enhance communication with the media, Shareholders,
investors, analysts and investment banks on various aspects such
as development strategies, operation and management, financial
prospects and business operation through meetings, senior
management’s participation in investor forums, conferences and
roadshows. The Group is confident in establishing and maintaining a
good relationship with the international capital institutions through
the continued enhancement of information transparency.

The Group emphasises the importance of maintaining good
communication with the Shareholders, so as to increase the
Company’s transparency and understanding by the Shareholders. To
enable that the Shareholders are effectively informed of the Group’s
status and developments, the Group issues announcements, circulars,
notices, interim and annual reports in a timely manner. To enhance
the Company’s transparency, other information about the Company is
published at the Company’s website (www.modernland.hk).

The Company’s annual general meetings allow the Directors to meet
and communicate with the Shareholders and to answer any queries
that the Shareholders may have. An external independent auditor
is also present at the annual general meetings. The Chairman will
propose separate resolutions for each issue to be considered at
the annual general meetings. A notice of annual general meeting
is delivered to all Shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior
to the date of the meeting, setting out details of each proposed
resolution and other information. Voting results are posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Lei (5RE7c4), aged 53, is an executive Director and
our founder and Chairman. He is responsible for strategic planning,
board management and overall management of our Group. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries and project companies of the Group
in China, Hong Kong and North America.

Mr. Zhang has over 17 years of experience in the real estate
business in the PRC. From July 1985 to February 1995, he worked
as a department manager in the aspect of talents information
management and exchange at China International Talent Exchange
Center (FFEIBFEAA R D), which is a State-owned enterprise.
From February 1995 to July 2000, he worked for his controlled entity,
Zhongji Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (FEEEMERZEAR D
R]), as the general manager. Mr. Zhang founded our Group in 2000.
In January 2005, Mr. Zhang received an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree from Tsinghua University (& K £2).

Mr. Zhang Peng (5 5 %t &), aged 40, is an executive Director
and Executive President. He graduated from Beifang University of
Nationalities (It 7 REAZE (RFEILE ZREZF)) in 1997 with
a bachelor’'s degree in Law. Mr. Zhang is the director and president
of Modern Green Development, and the director and supervisor of
certain subsidiaries and project companies of the Group.

From October 1997 to September 1998, Mr. Zhang worked for
the police in Yinchuan. From September 1998 to September 1999,
he worked for Coastline Times ((m/8BE#R)) as a journalist and
editor. From September 1999 to October 2000, Mr. Zhang worked
for Langluo E-commerce Co., Ltd. (BB EFRIEAR AT as the
assistant to the director and was responsible for brand promotion.
From October 2000 to November 2001, he worked for Qiantong
Technology Group (2ziB#I3 & E), an E-commerce company, and
he was the deputy manager in brand creation. Mr. Zhang joined the
Company in November 2001. He has been the chief human resources
officer, vice president and chief operating officer of Modern Green
Development, a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Chen Yin (BR&%4), aged 60, is an executive Director and our
chief technology officer and general engineer. Mr. Chen is responsible
for R&D and project management in our Group. He is also a director
of Modern Green Development and New Power (Beijing) Architectural
Technology Co., Ltd., both being indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company.
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Mr. Chen graduated from Beijing University of Civil Engineering and
Architecture (b 2 ZE T2 E367) in July 1982 with a bachelor's degree
in Heat Energy Engineering. In January 2007, Mr. Chen received a
master’s degree in Business Administration from Renmin University of

China (FEARKE).

From 1982 to 1987, Mr. Chen taught in Beijing University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture (Jt REZE T2 ET). From July 1987 to
May 2001, Mr. Chen worked for Sinotrans Limited (% EI4MNE%£[®)
as a deputy general manager of Sinotrans Real Estate Development
Company, whereby he was mainly responsible for the management
of the infrastructure projects and the development of real estate
projects. Meanwhile, Mr. Chen served as a member of the expert
committee at the Center for Housing Industrialisation of the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development, a member of China Green
Building Council at Chinese Society for Urban Studies and a member
of the expert committee on Real Estate Technology Policy of China
Property Association. Mr. Chen joined us in May 2001. Mr. Chen Yin
is a well-known expert in the architectural energy-saving field. He is
a member of the Committee on Green Architectures of Architectural
Society of China and Renewable Energy Resource Society of China.
Mr. Chen has over 27 years of experience in the real estate business
in the PRC.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fan Qingguo CBEEBI ), aged 44, is a non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Fan graduated from Renmin University of
China (FEIARKE) in July 1998 with a graduation certificate in
Accounting. In January 1999, Mr. Fan received a bachelor’ s degree
in Accounting from Renmin University of China (FBIARKE). In
June 2006, Mr. Fan graduated from Renmin University of China (1 E]
AR KE) with a graduate equivalent course-completion certificate in
Finance.

Mr. Fan joined us since our inception in December 2000. Mr. Fan
served as an executive Director and the chief financial officer of the
Company, and was re-designated as a non-executive Director of
the Company in 2014. Before joining us, Mr. Fan used to work for
Beijing Huayuan Property Company (It REERFEE A7), Beijing
Fazheng Group (At FUABEEE), a conglomerate including real estate
business, and Beijing KFC Limited Company (lt REZEE AR A F]) as
an accountant, respectively. Mr. Fan has over 17 years of experience
in the real estate business in the PRC.

Mr. Zhong Tianxiang (8 KF&74), aged 41, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Zhong graduated from The PLA
Information Engineering University (FEARBNEEETEAE) in
July 2014 with a bachelor’s degree in Information Management and
Information System.
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Mr. Zhong has over ten years of experience in the real estate
business in the PRC. Mr. Zhong was an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company, and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director of the Company in 2014. Mr. Zhong joined
us in January 2002. From June 1992 to December 2001, he was
the finance manager of the Beijing office of Shenzhen Overseas
Decoration Engineering Company (F3IIIESNE &G T2 A 7)) whose
principal business is construction and refined decoration.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Qin Youguo (F/HB%4E), aged 72, is an independent non-
executive Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June 2013.
He had been appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of Modern Green to provide independent advice to the board of
directors of Modern Green since March 2008 but he was not and is
not an employee of Modern Green. Mr. Qin is currently a professor
of School of Architecture at Tsinghua University (BZEA23). Mr. Qin
completed his undergraduate study in Architecture (6-year-mode) at
Tsinghua University in July 1967, and completed his postgraduate
study in Building Science at Tsinghua University and received a
master's degree in Engineering in April 1981, and thereafter taught
in Tsinghua University. From March 1990 to November 1997, Mr.
Qin was the vice-dean of School of Architecture, Tsinghua University,
and he was the dean of School of Architecture, Tsinghua University
from December 1997 to December 2004. He was a visiting scholar at
Harvard University from September 1996 to March 1997.

Mr. Qin has won several awards, including the Second Prize for
Technology Improvement (B}#%i 27 8 — % %) issued by The Chinese
People’s Liberation Army Headquarters of the Central Staff (FBI AR
7 PUEE 42 2258 50) in 1990, the First Prize for Outstanding Design (85
#/Et—%148) issued by Ministry of Education of the PRC (FFZE AR
B 5 #5) in 1995, the First Prize for Outstanding Design (8% &5t —
£ %) issued by PLA General Armament Department of the PRC ({1
AR PE 2 #36) in 2000, the Gold Prize of Technology for High-
end Residential Building (f&imfEERIE 17884 4¥) issued by China
Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (2B THBEETEEES) in
2004, the First Prize for Technology (EBH%#&—% %) issued by Beijing
municipal government (At XM EAT) in 2005, Outstanding Contributor
of Green Buildings (3 ®EEETH TR AY) by International House
Association (BEIBX{E=E1#E) in 2007. He was awarded with a special
subsidy by the State Council for his contributions in the tertiary
education of the PRC.
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Mr. Cui Jian (Bf#%4), aged 45, is an independent non-executive
Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June 2013. Mr. Cui
is currently the chairman of Beijing Zhixing Chuangxin Investment
Management Co., Ltd. GERATTRIFEEBR A A]). From January
2008 to December 2011, Mr. Cui worked as the general manager of
Navi Capital (Beijing) Co., Ltd. ((BMESBIREFH (ALR) BRAF]).
Before that, Mr. Cui used to work for China Mobile Communications
Corporation (FEBZB)REZEE A7) as a director in the department
of products and marketing from March 1997 to December 2007 and
China International Telecommunication Construction Corporation (4
HB{EER4 AR as an engineer from July 1992 to March 1997. In
December 2002, Mr. Cui obtained the senior engineer qualification
certificate from China Mobile Communications Corporation (#
% & i@EEB A R]). Mr. Cui received his bachelor's degree in
Communications Engineering from Changchun Institute of Posts and
Telecommunications (KFEEZFT) in July 1992. In April 2001, he
received his master's degree in International Management from The
Australian National University. He also received an Executive Master
of Business Administration degree from Peking University (1t 5 K£2)
in July 2006.

Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric (FfF1&/&5C4), aged 41, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed to our Board on 14 June
2013. In addition, Mr. Hui is currently the financial controller and
company secretary of Hong Kong Finance Group Limited (stock code:
1273). Before joining the above companies, Mr. Hui used to work for
an international accounting firm and hold several senior positions in
other listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Hui is a fellow member of
both Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. In 1998, Mr. Hui
received his bachelor’s degree in Accounting from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and was awarded a master’s degree in Business
Administration with distinction by The University of Manchester,
United Kingdom in 2013. Mr. Hui has extensive professional
experience in auditing, financial accounting and reporting, company
secretarial matters and corporate finance.

Except as disclosed herein, each of our Directors confirms with
respect to him that: (i) he has not held any directorships during the
last three years in any public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas; (ii)
he does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior
management or substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders
of our Company; (iii) he does not hold any other positions in our
Company or other members of our Group; (iv) he does not have
any interests in our Shares within the meaning of Part XV of SFO;
(v) there is no other information that should be disclosed for him
pursuant to the requirements under Rules 13.51(2)(h) to 13.51(2)(v)
of the Listing Rules; and (vi) there are no other matters that need to
be brought to the attention of holders of securities of our Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Qiang (T3%5t4), aged 43, joined the Group in March
2002. He worked successively as the vice president of the financial
planning centre of Modern Green Development, the general manager
and the director of information operation centre of Hubei Wanxing
Real Estate Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang is currently the vice president of
the Group and the president of the financial planning centre and
is responsible for the Company’s financial capital lines and the
Group's specialised process of financial plans and operations. Mr.
Wang graduated from Tianjin University of Commerce (K EfR)
and obtained a diploma in accounting in July 1996. He has 13-year
experience in the real estate business in the PRC.

Mr. Wong Tak Chun (F2{&54) (resigned on 4 January 2016),
aged 34, has over ten years of experience in the capital market,
accounting, corporate governance and corporate finance. Mr.
Wong joined the Company in February 2014. He was the company
secretary, Deputy Chief Financial Officer and qualified accountant
of the Company. Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries, and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in The United Kingdom.

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor degree in Economics from the
University of British Columbia and obtained a master degree in
corporate governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 2014. He worked in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010. He
served as the company secretary and finance manager of Central
China Real Estate Limited during the period from May 2010 to June
2013.

Mr. Leung Pak Keung (#7585t 4) (appointed on 4 January 2016),
aged 36, is a member of the Law Society of Hong Kong and has been
a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong since 2004. He specialises in the
areas of corporate finance and general corporate advisory work for
both public listed and private companies with extensive experience in
legal and regulatory compliance matters. He is currently the company
secretary of the Company.
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Directors’ Report

The Board presents the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property development,
property investments, REITs and other investments.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015 are set
out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the
year from principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results and financial position for the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income and the consolidated
statement of financial position on pages 109 to 112.

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK9.9 cents
per Share for the year ended 31 December 2015. Subject to the
approval of the proposed final dividend by the Shareholders at the
2016 AGM, it is expected that the final dividend will be paid on or
around Wednesday, 18 May 2016 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 10
May 2016.

Hik
=
Van
(e
i
B
af
|
<
>
Il
<
o

(o}
o

=

>

—
Q

>

o
o
3.
>

)
Q)
°

C
3.
=
()

o

81



il
-
b
=
=
(=
>
-
=
m
-
=)
=
i}
N
o
—
(S,

82

EEERE

Directors’ Report

EERERDBFERT
() AEERFLF20165F KRB
EAGIRELREZER

(b)

BAETERRELEE2016ERRBAFERS
Wre EIREZREFRZARGHR2016
F4H298 (2 8 A7) F201645A3
H(EHD)(BEEBEMRRX) B
ERMHBEERL  HEBTeREA
NAIROMBFE - RETHERELE
2016 F BHBFREGINE LRE
REEHD - FRERMDBEXHERA
B =& IEAR2016F4H28H (£
DY) AR 30 AT R IEA R R ER B
BROBEFERLDESEEFLFELER
NEAPIRERD W ABFTBERA
BRI1SIFMAMA 221 o

AETHSERABRENE
F (BFEREN2016FERRE
FREEHE)

BETIEERABRENER (A
BIRER20M6EBRRBFAS Lt
AE) ANRQ R FR2016F589H (£ 5
—) Z2016F5A10H (£ 8 =) (8
FEEMX) BEEHEROHBFE
L ERTERERNDBEERLTF
B BFAERWERIR RIS
FTEREZMBFRREERAERER
BBN2016F5A6H (28H) TF4
B30D AR ER A B BRMHBLE
RO EEEFLFBZLBRARUNE
BER MU ABFBEE KERISIN
AP LN22HE ©

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(a)

(b)

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders
to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM

For determining the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the 2016 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Friday, 29 April 2016 to Tuesday, 3 May 2016
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares
of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the
identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the
2016 AGM, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
28 April 2016.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed
final dividend (subject to Shareholders’ approval
at the 2016 AGM)

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend
(subject to Shareholders’ approval at the 2016 AGM), the
register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 9 May 2016 to Tuesday, 10 May 2016 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 May 2016.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties and property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year under review
are set out in notes 13 and 14 respectively to the financial
statements. The Group’s investment properties were revalued at
the year end date. The revaluation resulted in a net increase in fair
value of RMB167,875,000 which has been charged directly to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

SENIOR NOTES

On 29 June 2015, the Company together with some of its subsidiaries
and, in each case, the relevant trustee, executed the supplemental
indentures to amend certain provisions of the relevant indentures
governing the secured senior notes due 2018 with principal amount
of US$150 million at a coupon rate of 13.875% per annum (the
“US$150 million Senior Notes”), the secured senior notes due 2017
with principal amount of CNY 1,100 million at a coupon rate of 11%
per annum (the “CNY1,100 million Senior Notes”) and the secured
senior notes due 2019 with principal amount of US$125 million at
a coupon rate of 12.75% per annum (the "US$125 million Senior
Notes”). The principal purpose of the amendments was to enable the
Company to pursue business opportunities that may not otherwise
be available at attractive valuations or at all and to better suit its
business needs. Details of the supplemental indentures are disclosed
in the announcements of the Company dated 8, 26 and 29 June
2015.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB435,219,000.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note
46 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers (excluding purchases of land) accounted for less
than 25% of the Group’s total purchases. Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for less than 25% of the Group’s total
turnover.

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or Executive
President of the Company or any Shareholder owning more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital or their respective associates, has any
interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the year ended 31 December 2015 and
up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Lei (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Peng (Executive President)
Mr. Chen Yin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhong Tianxiang
Mr. Fan Qingguo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Qin Youguo
Mr. Cui Jian
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen Yin, Mr. Qin
Youguo and Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric will retire from office by rotation
at the 2016 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual written confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
such information, the Company considers the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management section of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Chen Yin entered into a service
contract with the Company, pursuant to which he agreed to act
as executive Director for a term of three years with effect from 14
June 2013. Mr. Zhang Peng entered into a service contract with
the Company to act as executive Director for a term of three years
with effect from 27 January 2014. Each of Mr. Fan Qingguo and Mr.
Zhong Tianxiang entered into a service contract with the Company,
pursuant to which he agreed to act as non-executive Director for a
term of three years with effect from 26 August 2014.

Each of Mr. Qin Youguo, Mr. Cui Jian and Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company, pursuant to
which he agreed to act as independent non-executive Director for a
term of three years with effect from 14 June 2013.

Save as disclosed above, no Director has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save for the relevant transactions as disclosed in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements, none of the Directors had a
significant beneficial interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2015, nor any contract of significance had been
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2015 between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No management contracts in force during the year for the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the share capital and underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows or as disclosed under the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” below:

INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY (LONG POSITION)

LERANGIE £

EEnR B #BHUE RDEE BMAOB DL
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Number of Shares  Approximate %
of Interest

in the Company

RELE ErEX:mA (HfaE1)
Mr. Zhang Lei Beneficiary of a trust (Note 1) 1,294,893,600 62.23%
EnEB A (Fit2, 6)
Beneficial owner (Notes 2, 6) 15,597,400 0.75%
=i RiEHEARE 2 s (MEE3)
Mr. Chen Yin Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 6,283,200 0.30%
SBERSAE THEE 2w (Mat4)
Mr. Fan Qingguo Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 4) 5,438,400 0.26%
SRS REHEE 2 #w (HaE5)
Mr. Zhang Peng Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 5) 5,438,400 0.26%
E=mAA (Mite)
Beneficial owner (Note 6) 11,000,000 0.53%
FHEAEEE EmmAaA (Kite)
Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric Beneficial owner (Note 6) 500,000 0.02%
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Such 1,294,893,600 Shares are held by Super Land Holdings Limited
as a registered holder. The entire issued share capital of Super Land
Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Fantastic Energy Ltd., the entire
issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by Cititrust
Private Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of the Family Trust. The
Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Salum Zheng
Lee, the capital and income beneficiaries of whom are family members
of Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, including Mr. Zhang Lei. Mr. Salum Zheng
Lee is the younger brother of Mr. Zhang Lei. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Lei
is deemed to have the same interest in the Company.

7,407,400 Shares out of the 15,597,400 Shares are beneficially held
by Mr. Zhang Lei in his own capacity while the remaining 8,190,000
Shares are held pursuant to share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme (as defined below).

Mr. Chen Yin holds 100% of the issued share capital of Dragon Shing
Technology Ltd., which owns 6,283,200 Shares out of the issued share
capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chen Yin is deemed to have
the same interest in the Company.

Mr. Fan Qingguo holds 100% of the issued share capital of Create
Success Development Ltd., which owns 5,438,400 Shares out of the
issued share capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Fan Qingguo is
deemed to have the same interest in the Company.

Mr. Zhang Peng holds 100% of the issued share capital of Zhou Ming
Development Ltd., which owns 5,438,400 Shares out of the issued
share capital of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Peng is deemed
to have the same interest in the Company.

Such share interest (including Mr. Zhang Lei’s interest in 8,190,000
Shares, Mr. Zhang Peng’s interest in 11,000,000 Shares and Mr. Hui
Chun Ho, Eric's interest in 500,000 Shares) is held pursuant to the
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme, details of
which are set out on pages 88 to 91 in this report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 14 June 2013. A summary of the principal terms and
conditions of the Share Option Scheme during the period from the
date of its adoption to the date of this report is set out as follows:

The purpose of the scheme is to motivate the eligible participants to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group
and to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with the eligible participants whose contributions are or
will be beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.

The participants of the scheme include:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any Directors (including independent non-executive directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

(iii) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers and agents of our
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The total number of securities available for issue under the scheme
together with the percentage of the issued share capital that it
represents is 10% of outstanding shares as at the date of the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 20 October
2015, representing 208,000,000 shares. The maximum entitlement
of each participant under the scheme in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as of the
date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit
shall be subject to:

(i) the issue of a circular by our Company which shall comply with
Rules 17.03(4) and 17.06 of the Listing Rules containing the
identity of the eligible participant, the numbers of and terms
of the options to be granted (and options previously granted
to such participant), and the information as required under
Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules and the disclaimer required
under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing Rules; and
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(i) the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting and/or
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time with such eligible participant and his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) abstaining from voting. The numbers
and terms (including the exercise price) of options to be granted
to such participant must be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval and the date of the Board meeting at which our Board
proposes to grant the options to such eligible participant shall
be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the
subscription price of the shares. The Board shall forward to such
eligible participant an offer document in such form as the Board
may from time to time determine.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time after the date upon which the
option is deemed to be granted and accepted and prior to the expiry
of 10 years from that date. The minimum period, if any, for which an
option must be held before it may be exercised will be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion. Upon acceptance of the
option, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to our Company by way of
consideration for the grant.

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
will not be less than the highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share.

If the participant granted with the option is a Director, chief executive
or substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of their associates,
he shall be subject to the approval of independent non-executive
Directors (other than the independent non-executive Directors
granted with options). Subject to earlier termination by our Company
in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years up to 13 June 2023.
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Mr. Hui Chun Ho, Eric 10 July 2015

FEERRERERALET 201459840
Senior management and other 4 September 2014
staff members of the Group 2015%7F 108

10 July 2015
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g/
HEL
iR

(%)
Exercise
price/
Adjusted
exercise price

(HKS)

1.26/1.145

1.252

1.26/1.145

il A A B 20157108 #% 105,600,000
= B B B A - A 52015901 A1 H & E2015%
= 12A3MBEFER - RARREBEERERE
S R 2B
m
8
3
S SRERLART RuAH
(9]
Name or category of Date of grant
participant
HiTES
Executive Director
RELE 201459 A48
Mr. Zhang Lei 4 September 2014
201567A10R
10 July 2015
HiTES
Executive Director
i3 ks 20145948
Mr. Zhang Peng 4 September 2014
R ETEE
Independent non-executive
Director
HEERE 2015578108

1.252

1.26/1.145

1.252

Scheme are as follows:

RETRA
P2 Gl
(B%)

(Closing price
of the Shares
on the date
of grant
(HKS)

118

BREHE

Number of share options
K FREL  FREAE ERE  H2015E HE
2015% i#/ &% 7A10R 2015%
1A1H fiiEE 128318
PA 33 BER
Balance Granted  Exercised  Cancelled/  Adjustment Balance
as at during during lapsed  on 10 July as at
1 January theyear  the year during 2015 31 December
2015 the year 2015
3,900,000 - - - 390,000 4,290,000
- 3,900,000 - 3,900,000
10,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 11,000,000
- 500,000 - - - 500,000
13,900,000 4,400,000 - - 1,390,000 19,690,000
11,800,000 - 760,000 - 1,180,000 12,220,000
- 101,200,000 - 3,000,000 - 98,200,000
11,800,000 101,200,000 760,000 3,000,000 1,180,000 110,420,000
25,700,000 105,600,000 760,000 3,000,000 2,570,000 130,110,000

The Company granted 105,600,000 options on 10 July 2015. During
the year from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015, the changes in
the share options granted by the Company under the Share Option

i)
Note 1
9,
Note 2

lid
Note 1

(iR
Note 2

i)
Note 1
9,
Note 2
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2. ATEA: BRENARARBELBHES
FRINEITFEBIB3I3%MBEAE NS
AR E ZFRIBITERIB33%ME
B - AL A BRE E = FATBIT
5 B 1834 % M) B8 AR 5T EIB - 20154
7H11AZE2015F12 A31B A EITFE BB
25%H) B AR B2 2016581418 22016
FOH308 NEFITIEHEB25%H) 15 IR 7%
20165718 £2017%6 A308 51T
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ZEBERENEER LA HRI0FRAER -
M20154 128318 » A #£3R#8130,110,000
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Notes:
The share options are exercisable during the following periods:

1. No share option is exercisable by the grantees within the first year
from the date of grant; and not more than 25% of the share options
are exercisable in each of the second, third, fourth and fifth year from
the date of grant.

2. Plan A: not more than 33% of the share options are exercisable by
the grantees within the first year from the date of grant; not more
than 33% of the share options are exercisable within the second year
from the date of grant; and not more than 34% of the share options
are exercisable within the third year from the date of grant. Plan B:
not more than 25% of the share options are exercisable from 11 July
2015 to 31 December 2015; not more than 25% of the share options
are exercisable from 1 January 2016 to 30 June 2016; not more than
25% of the share options are exercisable from 1 July 2016 to 30 June
2017; not more than 10% of the share options are exercisable from
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018; and not more than 15% of the share
options are exercisable from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.

The exercise periods of the share options may be determined by the
Company at the time of the grant, and the share options shall be
valid within 10 years from the relevant date of the grant. As at 31
December 2015, share options to subscribe for 130,110,000 shares
remained outstanding. The additional information on the Share
Option Scheme is set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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FERRRADARAE 2R

R2015%F 128318 IARAIEEREBIT
BABATH BREX[ESEREZITHA
BRI SRR GO R AR | & [HER
EETE MR BE 2 AR ESREBT
BABZRESEARIN UATALTRARR
2B EERNPHEEAREZESRBE
IEBIEXVEBE2REID I T ABE 2 sk

NN
KE

SR A R VR I E S R D)

E3B6FRATFEZECMZERIORE ¢

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2015, other than the interests and
short positions of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares or Underlying Shares” and
“Share Option Scheme” above, the following persons had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

RN T ER

EEHR Bip EEME RO E BABE D

Approximate %

of Interest

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Number of Shares in the Company

i R B IR A A BREAA (Fat1) 1,294,893,600 62.23%

Super Land Holdings Limited Registered holder (Note 1)
Fantastic Energy Ltd. XEtEE 2 #w (Mfat1) 1,294,893,600 62.23%
Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1)
Cititrust Private Trust ZFEA (Bat1) 1,294,893,600 62.23%
(Cayman) Limited Trustee (Note 1)

Salum Zheng Lee%t 4t REFEMBISZA (FFET1) 1,294,893,600 62.23%
Mr. Salum Zheng Lee Settlor of a discretionary trust (Note 1)

RiEEL T fo B (f1at2) 1,294,893,600 62.23%

Ms. Zhang Degui

HfzET -

#1,294,893,600 % A& 7 F 1R 1 2 AR G PR 2
AILERRAEANTHIIFE - BMiERE
(R AaEl2EE BT AN B Fantastic Energy
Ltd. 2 & %A © MFantastic Energy Ltd. %
B0 2 817 B A Al ;1 Cititrust Private Trust
(Cayman) Limited ARGELEHZEAT
MEEHRE - KikEFEABHSalum Zheng
Leeft &£ (A & A& Kk Wz % @ A ASalum
Zheng Leet EMRGKE) K2R
5 ° Salum Zheng Lee L £ MR AR KR IE(E
SEFTRIAH1,294,893,6008% Ik 1 o 7 B 1

S o

Bl

Interest of a spouse (Note 2)

Note 1:All of the 1,294,893,600 Shares are held by Super Land Holdings
Limited as a registered holder. The entire issued share capital of Super
Land Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Fantastic Energy Ltd.,
the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by
Cititrust Private Trust (Cayman) Limited as the trustee of the Family
Trust. The Family Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, the capital and income beneficiaries of whom are family
members of Mr. Salum Zheng Lee. Mr. Salum Zheng Lee is deemed to
be interested in 1,294,893,600 Shares held by the Family Trust.



PfiE2 © R{EHEZ 4 ASalum Zheng Leest A KIERD
18 - HUORIEEL T AR R41,294,893,600
MR R G s o

& EXCPrittE SN - R2015512 8318 » Wi
FREMAL (ARRAEFHEBITHRAE
BRON) RARRB 2 RSB D P B R
BEF RIS GO EXVERE2 B30 82 1EX
AMAQREEZERIAR  NIBEES
MEIEIEGIFE3B36IEE RN ARBBAFEY
Bt sk E o

BT FERE

BERPEIR AR SR 3R B St & K Salum Zheng Lee
FEXEBEHER  BRERKERBEEEA
SN BEBEALZ A EREREBHES
BRI EEBA TR BRFNER (K
SERIN HE#E RREAEERZME
MEBEEHF  ARERIERRREN2013F
6AM4RET I AR M AT = AB T A HEE R
TERPFRE ([THFRE]) Bt - B#EX
B (EHaiE) H£RF RERH R A48 & B E LT
AR R EAR O A - EAEBEE (M
1) ARG - BESBATERTES
BREEA (REERIN) BFATEIE :

(i) R B A R 75 (M 5E2) 4 TRER
SEZEMBE R REINFE
IS KA BE I AN SR [ B A R TS AT
EXEBBABEFOER (XRHIZ%
%1 BRETRNPEREENERA
MEERER)

(iy THEEFBAKENEAREGHERR
BREXENRSABMESAMNHBE
A (REEERSN) 5

(i)  REHMRE - T A E T
EREER R, RERM AL EEE R
AEEEBOEMER - ARRGI%
BEF &
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Note 2:Ms. Zhang Degui is the spouse of Mr. Salum Zheng Lee. Therefore,
Ms. Zhang Degui is deemed to be interested in 1,294,893,600 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, there was no other
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION DEED

Each of Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, the ultimate
controlling Shareholders, has confirmed that save for the Modern
Building Business Hotel project, none of them is engaged in, or is
interested in any business (other than our Group) which, directly
or indirectly, competes or may compete with our businesses. To
protect our Group from any potential competition, our controlling
Shareholders have entered into an irrevocable non-competition
deed (the “Non-competition Deed”) in our favour on 14 June
2013 pursuant to which each of them has, among other matters,
irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with us on a joint and
several basis that at any time during the Relevant Period (Note 1),
each of them shall, and shall procure that his/its respective associates
(other than our Group) shall:

(i) save for other Business (Note 2), not, directly or indirectly,
participate in, carry on, invest in or be engaged in any business
including without limitation any property development business
in the PRC and the U.S. which will or may compete with the
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group
(the "Restricted Business”);

(i) not solicit any existing or then existing employee of our Group
for employment by them or their respective associates (excluding
our Group);

(iii) not, without our consent, make use of any information
pertaining to the business of our Group which may have
come to their knowledge in their capacity as our controlling
Shareholders and/or Directors for the purpose of competing with
the Restricted Business; and
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(v, HREEFEEFEENIDHHRAA
o S EEFEEAIEE NiREZ
EREEPHETHERXRERKENE
MR B AR EH

BREERRMEERKR ZEEHEEST R
$HTT7T HERZENTABESER RIS
C BB ERMA T XS R

&

(i) BIAFNTEFTHELTF—REH
2R B ST RTT T E T RIER R
REER K&

(i)  HABRFERPHEEERRE AR
BERFABITHFRIENETEER
MITHE °

AEBENMEERAR L EEEREREN
EREERRENMEESBNBEAEKEE
ZEREREEMNRER - ARRBREREL
HEDBBRAFE o

B A5 SR F 54 KMSalum Zheng Leest 4 ATiE
HEBETTIRFRENFERR B#ES
B RERR2015F1 818 2128318 B9 H A
N BEESEAFTEE2AETIHFLZIEN
Fr B BRI -

KRAEEB N TEEEMNE  BRIER
MR 20155F B BB F RBIT T F B

17R/T~A °

(iv) in respect of unsolicited enquiries or business opportunities
coming to their knowledge, unconditionally use reasonable
endeavors to procure that such potential customers appoint or
contact directly with any member of our Group.

In order to properly manage any potential or actual conflict of
interests between us and our controlling Shareholders in relation to
the compliance and enforcement of the Non-competition Deed, we
have adopted the following corporate governance measures:

(i) the independent non-executive Directors will review, at least
on an annual basis, the compliance with and enforcement
of the terms of the Non-competition Deed by the controlling
shareholders; and

(i) we will disclose in the corporate governance report of our
annual report, our compliance measures and enforcement
measures relating to the Non-competition Deed.

Our Directors consider that the above corporate governance measures
are sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between
our controlling Shareholders and their respective associates and our
Group and to protect the interests of our Shareholders, in particular,
our minority Shareholders.

Pursuant to the annual declaration in relation to the compliance with
the Non-competition Deed provided by each of Mr. Zhang Lei and
Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, each of them confirms that during the period
from 1 January to 31 December 2015, all relevant terms of the Non-
competition Deed have been fully complied with in all material
respects.

Our independent non-executive Directors, upon their review,
confirmed that effective compliance with and enforcement of terms
of the Non-competition Deed had been conducted by the controlling
Shareholders in 2015.
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Note 1:the "Relevant Period” means the period commencing from 12 July
2013 and shall expire upon the earliest date of occurrence of the
events below:

(a) the date on which Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum Zheng Lee, Super
Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman (individually or
taken as a whole) cease to be controlling Shareholders for the
purpose of the Listing Rules;

(b) the date on which shares of the Company cease to be listed
on the Stock Exchange or (if applicable) other stock exchange;

Note 2:the “Other Business” refers to:

(a) any direct or indirect investments of Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, Super Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman
and/or their respective associates (excluding our Group) in any
member of our Group;

(b) any direct or indirect investment of Mr. Zhang Lei, Mr. Salum
Zheng Lee, Super Land, Fantastic Energy and Cititrust Cayman
and/or their respective associates (excluding our Group) in
shares of a publicly listed company (other than any member of
our Group) whereby

(i) the aggregate interests held by him/it and/or his/its
associates shall not exceed 5% of the entire issued
share capital of that company;

(i) none of him/it and/or his/its associates (individually or
taken as a whole) will be the single largest shareholder
or equity holder of that company; and

(iii) none of him/it and/or his/its associates will be involved
in the operation and management of that company
and/or its subsidiaries; and

(c) the Modern Building Business Hotel project.
DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
businesses of the Group.
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BEXS

M2015F 108208 » AR B EPEFEE]SL
s E i B ARABEEUREA
R #80,500,000cMFMiETREREE R
35%MHE - RIREEZEHZAR  mEER
MARE RFMIETDBIFH65% M35%HE
= RRIBEEETKE  BEEREBHEEA
BIEHBI100%EET B AEAARZEZEK
BRA - ARFMERIFEEEENR35%K
W METAEEERZEERRTA
AREZBEAL - Bt - BIE ETAEE]
WHEEEBKEER S  FBEEERAAR
HEIA2015F10 H20R 2 A% -

MR2015F11 868 @ It R EHFERBRERSE
£ (BRER) ([Eg]) c2HE68AB
BAEE B SFmE (EheiE) &
G 2 % E B R A R800,000,0007T 5
L& AR ¥430,000,0007T ¢ 1R A R
THEAEESZABAZ— HE#HURESR
BERAEMBIEIAZIKERE - BRAEFRAE
He @R ETE A AREKS00,000,0007T © A
ERZECESEEEATBRERA)  BR
ghge  ERXBBREZA) REEMR (1E
BELERERERAN) DR E1.875%
51.875% &46.25% ° PR & R & i E
AR ERE HEREFEBBHBARE
800,000,0007T & 2> & A R #430,000,000
T EBARERGCESETE (FALREA
BN RERETE ERRFBRERAN) »
B # H3.49% K 96.51% A RZEE A H -
RENFBAESZEERE  AESTE
AR #370,000,000T - (EESBIRERFE
46.25% @ MESAARRZHEEIEZENE
AR Bt REMIBARNATARITE AT
B BEEALT BRELTRA - RERAE
MEFEAZERERBRBAER S - FEDF
HERNANG BE DR A2014F6 128 &
201511 A6H Z A% »

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transactions

On 20 October 2015, the Company entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with AVIC Trust, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to acquire from AVIC Trust 35% equity interest in Nanchang
Modern for a consideration of RMB80.5 million. As at the date of
the Equity Transfer Agreement, Nanchang Modern is held as to
65% by the Company and 35% by AVIC Trust. Upon completion
of the acquisition, Nanchang Modern will be held as to 100%
by the Company and will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. As AVIC Trust holds 35% of the equity interest
of Nanchang Modern, AVIC Trust is a substantial shareholder of
Nanchang Modern and a connected person of the Company. The
acquisition therefore constitutes a connected transaction under the
Listing Rules, details of which are disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 20 October 2015.

On 6 November 2015, a resolution was passed by all the partners
of the Beijing Green Spring Equity Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership)* (It R&FEFRBEEREES(BRA X)) (the “Fund”)
whereby it was agreed that, among others, the total investment
amount in the Fund will be reduced from RMB800 million to
RMB430 million and MRAM will cease to be one of the partners of
the Fund. The Fund will return the investment amount injected by
MRAM in cash. As at the date of the resolution, the Fund has a total
investment amount of RMB800 million which is held as to 1.875%
by Modern Green Fund Management as general partner, 51.875%
by Modern Green Development as subordinated limited partner and
46.25% by MRAM as senior limited partner. Upon return of the
investment amount injected by MRAM, the investment amount in
the Fund will be reduced from RMB800 million to RMB430 million
which will be held as to 3.49% by Modern Green Fund Management
as general partner and 96.51% by Modern Green Development as
subordinated limited partner. As at the date of the resolution, MRAM
is a substantial shareholder of the Fund, contributing RMB370 million
to the Fund, representing 46.25% of the total investment amount in
the Fund, and the Fund is an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Therefore, MRAM is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level, and the return of the investment
amount injected by MRAM constitutes a connected transaction under
the Listing Rules, details of which are disclosed in the announcements
of the Company dated 12 June 2014 and 6 November 2015,
respectively.
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Continuing connected transactions

(i)

Property Management Services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, certain subsidiaries
of First Moma Asset Operation (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First
Moma Asset”, together with its subsidiaries, the “First
Moma Asset Group”) had provided property management
services to the Group. First Moma Asset is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman, an executive Director and
a controlling Shareholder, hence a connected person of the
Company. Transactions between First Moma Asset Group
on the one hand and the Group on the other constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
calculation basis of fees is mainly based on (i) costs of labour
for the management of sales office and office district; (ii) the
property management fees of sales office and office district;
(iii) costs incurred as a result of reduced purchasers’ property
management fees; (iv) property management fees in respect
of the management and leasing of vacant properties and car
parks; and (v) fees regarding other services provision.

On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset Group and the Company
entered into a master agreement for the provision of property
management services to the Group commencing on 12 July
2013 and ending on 31 December 2015 (the “Previous Master
Property Management Agreement”). On 13 May 2015, the
same parties entered into a new master agreement for the
provision of property management services to the Group
commencing on 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017 (the
“Master Property Management Agreement”) whilst the
Previous Master Property Management Agreement will be
terminated. It is envisaged that from time to time and as
required, members of the Group will enter into individual
property management services agreements with members
of the First Moma Asset Group. Such individual property
management services agreements are expected to set out the
detailed terms and provisions of the property management
services which may include the binding principles, guidelines,
terms and conditions in the Master Property Management
Agreement.

Hik
=
Van
(e
i
B
o
-
<
>
Il
<
o

(o}
o

=

>

—
Q

>

o
o
3.
>

g
Q)
°

C
3.
=
()

o

97



il
-
b
=
=
(=
>
-
=
m
-
=)
=
i}
N
o
—
(S,

98

EEERE

Directors’ Report

ERNE MM EKTE - FBEEZE2015
220164 K20175E12A318 1k =
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BRIEENEETEYE -

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual property management fees payable by
us to First Moma Asset Group in relation to the Master
Property Management Agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 will not exceed RMB95
million, RMB96.5 million and RMB98 million, respectively. The
aggregate amounts of the property management fees paid by
the Group was approximately RMB81.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2015, which did not exceed the annual
caps for this transaction. The annual caps for the three years
ending 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 were determined
by the Directors with reference to the historical management
fees under the Previous Master Property Management
Agreement and a number of factors including: the fair market
price, the costs associated with the expected area of the
projects to be completed, including the property management
fees payable by us in respect of the clubhouses, office districts,
sales offices and vacant car parks and properties, costs of
labour for the provision of cleaning, maintenance and security
services, costs for setting up show flats, costs of heating,
fresh air displacement ventilation fees, costs incurred as a
result of reduced small owners’ property management fees,
costs of installation and maintenance services of elevators,
costs of operation and provision of catering services for staff.
In addition to the management of properties of completed
projects, property management services provided by the
connected parties include, among others, the setting up
and management of sales offices and the management and
maintenance of vacant properties prior to sale in respect of
the projects which are under development.
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Real Estate Agency Services

During the year ended 31 December 2015, First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage”) and First Moma Commercial
Operation Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“First Moma
Asset Operation”) provided real estate agency and related
consultation and management services in relation to
commercial properties to the Group. Each of First Moma
Real Estate Brokerage and First Moma Asset Operation is a
subsidiary of First Moma Asset, which is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei, the Chairman, an executive Director and
a controlling Shareholder, hence a connected person of the
Company. Transactions between each of First Moma Real
Estate Brokerage and First Moma Asset Operation on the
one hand and the Group on the other constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company. The calculation basis
of fees is mainly based on commission fees payable in respect
of the property agency services in relation to commercial
properties.

On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset and the Company entered
into a master agreement for the provision of real estate
agency and related consultation and management services
in relation to commercial properties by First Moma Asset
Group to the Group commencing on 12 July 2013 and ending
on 31 December 2015 (the “Master Real Estate Agency
Agreement”). It is envisaged that, from time to time and as
required, members of the Group will enter into individual real
estate services agreement with members of the First Moma
Asset Group. Such individual real estate service agreements
are expected to set out the detailed terms and provisions of
the real estate agency services which may include the binding
principles, guidelines, terms and conditions in the Master Real
Estate Agency Agreement.

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual real estate agency services fees and
commission for the provision of real estate agency and
related consultation and management services in relation
to commercial properties payable by us to First Moma Asset
Group under the Master Real Estate Agency Agreement for
the three years ending 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015
will not exceed RMB5.2 million, RMB5.5 million and RMB5.8
million, respectively. The annual caps were determined by
the Directors with reference to the commission fees payable
in respect of the property agency services in relation to the
commercial properties. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
the Group did not pay any real estate agency service fee or
commission.
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Lease of Properties

The Company entered into the following leases (the “Leases”)
relating to the leasing of the properties to certain connected
persons of the Company:

Lease of certain portion of 3rd floor, Block 8, Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA, Beijing

First Estate Service (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (“Beijing First Estate”)
is owned indirectly by Mr. Zhang Lei and hence a connected
person of the Company. Modern Green Development entered
into a tenancy agreement with Beijing First Estate on 28 March
2013, pursuant to which Beijing Green Development agreed
to let the property at 3rd floor, Block 8, Wan Guo Cheng
MOMA, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area of approximately
458 sq.m. to Beijing First Estate for a term of three years
commencing from 28 March 2013 to 27 March 2016 at a
rental of RMB66,722 per month.

Lease of Shop Nos. 106-109, 1/F, Complex Building at
iMOMA, Anningzhuang West Road, Qinghe, Haidian District,
Beijing

Beijing Moma Preschool Education Technology Operations
Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Moma Preschool”) is owned indirectly
by Mr. Zhang Lei and hence a connected person of the
Company. Beijing Modern Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Modern”) entered into a tenancy agreement with
Beijing Moma Preschool on 12 April 2011 (the “iIMOMA
Preschool Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing
Modern agreed to let the property at Shop Nos. 106-109, 1/
F., Complex Building at iIMOM A, Anningzhuang West Road,
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area of
approximately 580 sg.m. to Beijing Moma Preschool for a term
of five years commencing from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2016
at a rental of RMB21,177 per month with a three-month rent
free period from 1 April 2011 to 30 June 2011. The property
is used for the operation of a preschool.
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Lease of Block 4, Shangdi M OM/, South Ku, Qinghe,
Haidian District, Beijing (“Shangdi M OM /A Beijing Premises”)

Beijing Moma Preschool is owned indirectly by Mr. Zhang
Lei and hence a connected person of the Company. Beijing
Modern entered into a tenancy agreement with Beijing Moma
Preschool on 30 May 2013 (the “Shangdi MOM /A Preschool
Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which Beijing Modern agreed
to let the property at Block 4, Shangdi MOMA, South Ku,
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC with a leased area
of approximately 2,120 sg.m. to Beijing Moma Preschool for a
term of 15 years commencing from 1 June 2013 to 31 August
2029. The property is used for the operation of a preschool.
The Shangdi MOM A Beijing Lease Agreement provided for a
rent free period of 821 days, ending on 31 August 2015 and
at such rental fee to be determined based on the prevailing
market rates as of 1 September 2015.

On 14 June 2013, First Moma Asset and the Company entered
into a master agreement for the leasing of certain properties
of the Group to members of the First Moma Asset Group
commencing on 12 July 2013 and ending on 31 December
2015 (the "Previous Master Lease Agreement”). On 13 May
2015, the same parties entered into a new master agreement
for the leasing of certain properties of the Group to members
of the First Moma Asset Group commencing on 1 January
2015 and ending on 31 December 2017 (the “Master Lease
Agreement”) whilst the Previous Master Lease Agreement will
be terminated. It is envisaged that, from time to time and
as required, members of the Group will enter into individual
lease agreements with members of the First Moma Asset
Group, which are expected to set out the detailed terms
and provisions of the leases which may include the binding
principles, guidelines, terms and conditions in the Master
Lease Agreement.

It is expected that, based on prevailing market rates, the
aggregate annual rental fees payable to us under the Master
Lease Agreement for the three years ending 31 December
2015, 2016 and 2017 will not exceed RMB4 million, RMB15
million and RMB25 million, respectively, which have been
determined by reference to prevailing market rates. The
increase in the estimated annual caps for the three years
ending 31 December 2015, 2016 and 2017 as compared to
the historical amounts during the year ended 31 December
2014 has taken into consideration the historical rental fees
under the Previous Master Lease Agreement and considered
a number of factors including: rental fees of comparable
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properties in the locality as well as similar locations; the
prevailing market rates and expected growth of demand of
rental fee in the PRC property market. The aggregate rental
fee received by the Group was approximately RMB1.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2015, which did not exceed
the annual caps for this transaction.

Investment and Financing and Operational
Management Services

On 29 September 2014, Great Wall, Modern Land (HKNo.5)
Co., Ltd. (the "Joint Venture Company”) and the Company
entered into a management service agreement (the “Great
Wall Management Agreement”), pursuant to which Great
Wall shall provide management services to the Joint Venture
Company and its subsidiaries including liquidity control,
budget control, operational supervision, recruitment,
financing, brand building and related consultancy services. As
Great Wall held 49% of the issued share capital of the Joint
Venture Company, it is a connected person of the Company at
the subsidiary level. Details of this transaction are disclosed in
the announcements issued by the Company on 10 September
2014, 12 September 2014, 10 October 2014 and 17 October
2014,

The annual caps for the continuing connected transactions
under the Great Wall Management Agreement for the three
years ending 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 will be
approximately RMB9.6 million, RMB41.5 million and RMB41.5
million, respectively. Such annual caps have been determined
based on the projected annual service fees based on the fixed
service fee rate of RMB10,375,000 every 3 months (which is
determined with reference to (i) the type of services as set
out above to be provided by Great Wall to the Joint Venture
Company for the relevant years; (ii) the recent fee quotes
from Great Wall to other independent third parties in respect
of similar services in the PRC with adjustment made with
reference to the Hong Kong capital market; and (iii) service
fees to be received by the Company under a management
service agreement entered into between the Company and
the Joint Venture Company on 29 September 2014, which
is equivalent to the amount of service fees under the Great
Wall Management Agreement, and is based on arm’s length
negotiations between Great Wall and the Company having
regard to the parties’ equity holdings and total capital
invested in the Joint Venture Company). For the year ended
31 December 2015, the Joint Venture Company paid a total
of approximately RMB41.5 million for the investment and
financing and operational management services, which did not
exceed the annual caps for this transaction.
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Annual review and confirmation in pursuance of
Rules 14A.55 and 14A.56 of the Listing Rules

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed in pursuance of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules that the
continuing connected transactions contemplated above were carried
out (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms at which the transactions are either on
an arm’s length basis or on terms no less favorable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

To comply with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has provided a letter to confirm that the continuing
connected transactions set out above:

(i) has been approved by the Board;

(ii) has been entered into in accordance with the relevant terms
of the agreement governing the transaction; and

(iii) has not exceeded the total cap amount as disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 28 June 2013 and the
announcements of the Company dated 10 October 2014 and
13 May 2015, respectively.

Others

The continuing connected transactions disclosed above also
constitute related party transactions under the International Financial
Reporting Standards. A summary of significant continuing connected
transactions made during the year is disclosed in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements. Item (c) therein also constitutes
connected/continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
requirements of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of
aforementioned connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries and its jointly controlled entities has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group had joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from the funds of the Group in funds and are
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make corresponding
contributions at the rates specified by the MPF Scheme. The
employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the year and
up to the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.
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BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS, AND SENIOR
NOTES

Particulars of bank and other borrowings, and senior notes of the
Group as at 31 December 2015 are set out in notes 31 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman's Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis
section respectively from pages 7 to 9 and pages 10 to 46 of this
report.

The future development of the Group's business is discussed
throughout this report including in the Chairman's Statement from
pages 7 to 9 of this report and the Management Discussion and
Analysis section from pages 10 to 46 of this report. In addition,
more details regarding the Group's performance by reference to
environmental and social-related key performance indicators and
policies, as well as compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, are provided in this
report in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report and the
Management Discussion and Analysis section. This discussion forms
part of this Directors' Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has maintained appropriate Directors' liability
insurance coverage for the Directors during the year under review.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review of
the internal controls and consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The members of the Audit Committee are satisfied with the
Company’s internal control procedures and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.
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AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the 2016 AGM.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the event after the reporting period are set out in note 48
to the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Lei
Chairman

21 March 2016

* The English names are for identification purposes only.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF MODERN LAND (CHINA) CO., LIMITED
EREX (FE) BRAA
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Modern
Land (China) Co., Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 109 to 267,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BRI RRTEFANERZE S MU BERE
FBSERBEREERNBEZRE - TETH
RFBUARZ AR H E - B A AR
FRERMEMZEFAHVBEREFEEX
BRI ER - R ERFRRE - &ZH
fhEEEZ AR RENEEMA TR
PE SRR ABBI RO R EIES] - UREFTEE D
BEZRRRF - B IERE QB R BHE H R
BRERER - BRI EREIEEZMERAN
SRR BEERMAELA S AN
B UEHEAHMBRROBEII®RS
= o

EEHEE BEMESHERERERTEM
EEHRBESENERE R RHER -
=R

EERE  REAMHYBHRERE BB
BRELEAEEMAFHRE EE£EER
2015F 12 A3 1 BB B AR EREEZB
IHFENRBERBRBESRE  YEBERE
BARMENNEEREZ ARR -

mE e MERS FETET
BXBETAD

BB
2016%3/21H

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
21 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income, gain and loss

Fair value gain of completed properties held
for sale upon transfer to investment
properties

Changes in fair value of investment
properties

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Share of loss of joint ventures

Share of loss of associates

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

ft et

Notes

13

13

20155 20144
AR#¥F T ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
6,349,767 4,079,464
(4,385,674) (2,424,163)
1,964,093 1,655,301
(26,848) 75,334
90,381 90,886
77,494 111,074
(209,705) (206,835)
(245,837) (242,083)
(197,276) (265,510)
(108,048) (51,133)
(4,696) (90)
1,339,558 1,166,944
(738,858) (625,552)
600,700 541,392
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EfEEREMEEKARSE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

ﬁ 20155 20144
> Hitax ARMFTT AER®F T
é 2015 2014
= Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
m
o
= Hip2EWBA Other comprehensive income
-
= TEEF EE Items that will not be reclassified to profit
BammIEE - or loss:
XFERYEERE Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied
HEYENEH S properties upon transfer to investment
properties - 1,351
HEFHRMESH Deferred tax relating to gain on revaluation

Wz H EMIEERIE of owner-occupied properties - (338)
HE BN HHE Items that may be reclassified subsequently

BammEE - to profit or loss:

BRERINETSPRE S Exchange differences on translating foreign

HPE X =58 operations 9,160 562
FREHEMPEBA Other comprehensive income for the year,

(NKBHimE) net of income tax 9,160 1,575
FEEHEBALRE Total comprehensive income for the year 609,860 542,967
THIATREIEERE K - Profit for the year attributable to:

RARER A Owners of the Company 577,867 521,128

FJEPE AR R = Non-controlling interests 22,833 20,264

600,700 541,392
THALTEEEE Total comprehensive income

WA HEEE - attributable to:

ViN/NETEZ 7 =N Owners of the Company 587,027 522,703

TR & Non-controlling interests 22,833 20,264

609,860 542,967

SIREF (AR¥S) :  Earnings per share, in Renminbi cents:
R Basic 12 30.5 29.6
i3 Diluted 12 30.3 29.6
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B REMEMNRK -
Elfe MEHER

& {5 BB 03 30R
FEf IR
RITREMEER

(R—FREH)

MENEEF

REERTBRAE

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Freehold land held for

future development

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Loans to joint ventures
Advances to employees
Available-for-sale investments
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Prepaid lease payments

Properties under development for sale

Properties held for sale

Deposits paid for acquisition of
land use rights

Trade and other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Amounts due from related parties

Advances to employees

Restricted cash

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables, deposits
received and accrued charges
Amounts due to related parties
Taxation payable
Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

B OF B iR R R R

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2015912 A31H At 31 December 2015

20155 20144

Mt AR¥TT ARBFT
2015 2014

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
13 1,368,240 1,146,600
14 498,816 503,655
15 2,355 1,259
17 29,547 27,842
18 71,959 20,977
19 1,182,955 595,116
19 2,169,600 1,521,583
20 = 39,769
21 34,850 114,236
23 322,481 317,112
5,680,803 4,288,149

24 3,941 3,675
16 130,162 410,642
25 3,653,643 4,213,683
26 1,303,189 1,036,375
22 187,120 =
27 622,079 708,459
43(a) 535,530 573,353
20 31,139 =
28 1,054,992 1,145,997
28 2,520,759 2,797,941
10,042,554 10,890,125

29 3,859,078 5,486,747
43(b) 728,840 186,183
30 1,839,585 1,717,318
317 1,756,687 1,314,317
8,184,190 8,704,565

1,858,364 2,185,560

7,539,167 6,473,709
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SO BRI HRE
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
7201512 A31H At 31 December 2015

E 20154 20144
> MtaE AR¥Fx ARBFT
= 2015 2014
:C> Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
=
=
g A& 7R R 7 4 Capital and reserves
=3 R 2R Share capital 34 128,094 98,610
& i Reserves 3,637,266 2,762,043
o
RNATES ARE(ERERS  Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 3,765,360 2,860,653
FEIE IR A Non-controlling interests 9,689 373,086
G G Total equity 3,775,049 3,233,739
FERBAE Non-current liabilities
RITRHEMEE Bank and other borrowings — due after
(R—F&3HE) one year 317 700,000 480,900
REARET R Long term payable 32 133,134 -
BERERE Senior notes 33 2,802,214 2,712,020
EERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 23 128,770 47,050
3,764,118 3,239,970
7,539,167 6,473,709

F109E F267ENAHH B HRARMN20164F3  The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 267 were

A21BEEESHERRET)E - approved and authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 21
March 2016.
2 2
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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FEaAnENERfLE

BERINEHH
EEMERZR

Ep2ERA
FRAEHN

FERENALE
PUGRES

KA —ARR A
DR (Hite)
IFERERARR &
HEARSHER
Bt

R (Hrit11)
AHBARER
E&AERS

120145128318

EHEREER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

At 1 January 2014

Gain on revaluation of owner
occupied properties

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Share-based payment

Contribution from a company controlled
by a shareholder (note e)

Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
to a non-controlling shareholder

Appropriations to reserves

Dividend (Note 11)

Dividend distribution to the non-
controlling interest of a subsidiary

At 31 December 2014

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

KRR AE
Attributable to equity owners of the Company
BiE AERS  MERE FER
BA  BOEE  HUEE  ERRE BE  AfbEE i BB ZiEd ait B ERAR
ARETT ARETL AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETLT ARKFT ARETT ARETRL
(Wia)  (Hib) (Wita2)  (Hita) (W)
Foreign
Share Statutory currency Non-
Share Share Special  Revaluation option Other surplus  translation  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(note a) (note b) (Note 42) (note d) (note ¢)
98,610 339,993 300,057 33371 - (732) 293,741 (3,488) 1,410,760 2,472,312 (1,319) 2,470,993
- - - 1,013 - - - - - 1,013 - 1,013
- - - - - - - 562 - 562 - 562
- - - 1,013 - - - 562 - 1,575 - 1,575
- - - - - - - - 521,128 521,128 20,264 541,392
- - - 1,013 - - - 562 521,128 522,703 20,264 542,967
- - - - 1,275 732 - - - 2,007 - 2,007
- - 407 - - - - - - 407 - 407
- - 384 - - - - - - 384 374,516 374,900
_ _ _ - - - 60,281 - (60,281) - - -
- (137,160 - - - - - - - (137,160) - (137,160)
- - - - - - - - - - (20,375) (20,375)
98,610 202,833 300,848 34,384 1,275 - 354,022 (2,926) 1,871,607 2,860,653 373,086 3,233,739
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EOEREER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

201581718
BERNEBHAEE
MESZH

A 2ERA
FRAEHN

FERERAEE
BATAR (H1at34(b))
HAROEEETRE
(Hiat34(c)
AR
RTEBRERETRA
(Hizt34()
RRKEREEER
BREGE
RE—ZREFEHAR
MR (Hrite)
WE-FMBAR (#:#36)
B BHERBERRE
—FHBRARNHEMER

R RS E
HERAHPHER
PEEERE
BEEARARR
g (M)
AFERESREEA

AERETF
e R

2015612318

At 1 January 2015
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Bonus issue (Note 34(b))

Issue of shares on share placement
(Note 34(c))

Share-based payment

Issue of shares on exercise of share
options (Note 34(d))

Transfer of share option reserve upon
forfeiture of share options

Contribution from a company controlled
by a shareholder (note €)

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36)

Acquisition of additional interest in
a subsidiary from a non-controlling
shareholder

Disposal of partial interests in a subsidiary
to non-controlling interests

Appropriations to reserves

Deemed contribution from a
shareholder of the Company (note f)

Return of capital to non-controlling
interests

Dividend distribution to non-controlling
interests

At 31 December 2015

ARNREENERL
Attributable to equity owners of the Company
BRE EEBH  HNERE FER
BA  ROEE  BHEE  ERREE BE  AfRE 1] B RihEA At #  RERE
ARETR ARMFT ARBTT ARETR ARBFT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETRL ARMFT ARETT ARETR
(Kfitb) (Hitaz) (K
Foreign
Share Statutory  currency Non-
Share Share Special Revaluation option Other surplus translation Accumulated (¢ lling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(note b) (Note 42) (note ¢)
98,610 202,833 300,848 34,384 1,275 - 354,022 (2,926) 1,871,607 2,860,653 373,086 3,233,739
- - - - - - - 9,160 - 9,160 - 9,160
- - - - - - - 9.160 - 9.160 - 9.160
- - - - - - - - 577,867 577,867 22,833 600,700
- - - - - - - 9,160 577,867 587,027 22,833 609,860
9,861 (9,861) - - - - - - - - - -
19,575 241,461 - - - - - - - 261,036 - 261,036
= = = = 11,700 = = = = 11,700 = 11,700
48 786 = = (115) = = = = 719 = 719
- - - - (95) - - - 95 - - -
- - 407 - - - - - - 407 - 407
- - - - - - - - - - 10,724 10,724
= = (1,203) = = = = = = (1,203) 1,202 (1)
- - - - - - - - - - 3,000 3,000
- - - - - - 29,008 - (29,008) - - -
- - 45,405 - - - - - - 45,405 - 45,405
- - (384) - - - - - - (384)  (369,616) (370,000
- - - - - - - - - - (31,540)  (31,540)
128,094 435,219 345,073 34,384 12,765 - 383,030 6,234 2,420,561 3,765,360 9,689 3,775,049




BOEEEER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HiaE -

(a)

(b)

(@

BREARRAMSIZAAE1340G - ARF
BEEERORBREMNRBRS -

Bl R B I B A R R R MER - R
REE-RKBE AR - HERE R R AR
Dt - KA - BREMESI QR HR K
WREARRBIREE

RIBEPEARKXMNE (THE ) KIZHAE
ERRETE TERNAGERAN 2%
BERBRAERBFHEERE RETEA
RErtRARREDN) HREFE10%  BEE
TREEEDAHEREIMERNS0%RLE
BREZRBEERARSHAEADIKKREZ
AIER A ERMBFHEENAABHBEFE
MER BRRANKEEBREBHRAER
HYBEINEA o

RE E2008F12A31BLEFE ER&E
BEEERAR (ABERZECEEERAR)
([ER&E]) ELEEREEEERNER
A8 (BEIRERSESMELEHES
BRAR) ([EREREERE]) 5.8% MR © A
ZumREREAB ([BE]) BEREREK
BRI1.924% B H AR BENLHD - 1
WRBABAD TR - 2008 F B F RFEEA
HRH RO MR 4R B ARES7,704,000
7T EEBRERBHSFERE G BN o
Hitt  AEBEREZE2014F12831BIEEE
ERERNEEBURDEZTEENHAZARE
732,0007T ° Eil©REE B HMEERERR o

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to article 134 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the
Company is permitted to pay out final dividend from share premium
account.

Special reserve relates to acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries,
deemed acquisition of a subsidiary, disposals of partial interests in
subsidiaries, contribution from a company controlled by a shareholder
and deemed contribution from the shareholder of the Company.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain entities
established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") now comprising
the Group, these entities are required to transfer 10% of the profit after
taxation, prepared in accordance with PRC generally accepted accounting
principles, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital of respective entities. Transfer to this
reserve must be made before distributing dividends to equity holders.
The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous year’s
losses, expand the existing operations or convert into additional capital
of the entities.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, Modern Green Industrial Co.,
Ltd. EREEEEAR QA (formerly known as Modern Green Property
Co., Ltd. ERGEBEEAMRAF]) (“Modern Green Industrial”) disposed
of 5.8% interests in Modern Green Development Co., Ltd. B &g E %
B BBRAR] (formerly known as Beijing Modern Hongyun Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. It R ERBEFHELLFHEEGRAF]) (“Modern
Green Development”). The excess of the fair value of 1.924% interest in
Modern Green Industrial transferred to certain senior level management
individuals (the “Employees”) is considered as a share-based payment.
The total share based payment initially recognised in the reserve in 2008
amounted to RMB57,704,000 and was charged to profit or loss over 6
years of service to be provided by the Employees. Accordingly, the Group
recognised an expense of RMB732,000 for year ended 31 December
2014 in relation to share-based payment of the Group. The amount was
released from other reserve.
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B ERS K
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

H BtaE - (&) Notes: (Continued)

H

g (e) #RIE20105FE11 A9 SR EgeBEMAE—%2  (e) Pursuant to the agreement dated 29 November 2010 entered into

= EEFI VMW ZEEBRAIMEARIERER between Modern Green Development and an employee of Modern

r% HgmEERZEARAR ([ERERWTE Green Development, the employee can use the property developed by

3 WE | —KEAQRBREEHNAR) FrEE Beijing Modern City Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. dt R ERE T

E BEOYE - ZEE B2010F 104308 MR A FEHERZE AR AR (“Beijing Modern City Real Estate”), a company

S EREEEERBEI0FE  ZEWENE controlled by a shareholder of the Company. The title of the property

oy BB EETZEE - 2010511298 » % will be transferred to the employee upon his completion of service with
YRS EE AR ARA4071,0007T © & Modern Green Development for 10 years commencing from 30 October
Z2015F12A318IEFE - AEBBZRS 2010. As at 29 November 2010, the market value of the property is
TR A8 TR KR B IR R Az 6l A &) /94 RMB4,071,000. The Group recognised this transaction as staff cost and
o & EEAARML07,0007T (20145 = A contribution from a company controlled by the shareholder amounted
R#407,0007T) ° to RMB407,000 (2014: RMB407,000) for the year ended 31 December

2015.

()  A2015F12827H  REBEFEFEE  (f) On 27 December 2015, the Group reached a final settlement with a

BEE(BEEREE]) nES 2 HMEH Hong Kong based hotel management group (the “Hotel Management
AEEERENBRBALDBEERGHMPE Group”) in respect of the arbitration proceedings between the two
BHEKKETER o RIZE T ] LM AR parties in relation to management services of the Group’s planned
HRERE ASEEMBEEREESE serviced apartments. Pursuant to the confirmation letter for reconciliation
7,000,000 7T ([E£7T]) 8RS 5 ([FfR and settlement entered into between the two parties, the Group paid
& HHER ARME4L5,405,0000T) ° A% an amount for settlement of United States dollars (“US$"”) 7,000,000
BHBERRGIERREFHITESREL (the “Settlement Amount”, equivalent to RMB45,405,000) to the Hotel
ERHEENReRE ([EE]) - BEREGE Management Group. The Settlement Amount was subsequently fully
AAFIRERAERLE - repaid to the Group by Mr. Zhang Lei, a controlling shareholder and

executive Director of the Company (the “Repayment”). The Repayment
was deemed as a capital contribution to the Group from the shareholder
of the Company.
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B EERH
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HEM B AR KE
HESERE
Ear e
HERHHERE
KR
FEHEMRER
EREMEN
DA EERE
REMELAER

#Eh
=

RIEERE
R RREE
HENE - BEK
B0l e
B — BRI
NAIMEFERER
ABTIRKA
HREE D RINEE
AEEELENER
HEREMENER
FEHEMZE
(BE),/ MR
AEBRER
B8/ ()

BEESEEAN
REBLHE

Operating activities

Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Share-based payment

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Gain on disposal of interests in
joint ventures

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Fair value gain upon transfer from
properties held for sale to
investment properties

Changes in fair value of investment
properties

Allowance for doubtful debts

Allowance for advance to a supplier

Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Contribution from a company controlled
by a shareholder, recognised as staff cost

Share of loss of associates
Share of loss of joint ventures

Loss on disposal of investment properties

(Reversal of allowance)/write-down of
properties held for sale
Unrealised exchange loss/(gain)

Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital

EHBETRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

20154 2014% g\”f

AR¥FT ARMTFT i

2015 2014 i

RMB’000 RMB’000

af

=

]

1,339,558 1,166,944 3

197,276 265,510 §_

(77.807) (42,398) @

=}

c

(2,822) (2,554) 3

[a)

22,029 24,585 =

442 193 52

Q)

11,700 2,007 e

91 31,514 C

(91) ( ) 5

o

(11,416) - Q
985 -
(90,381) (90,886)
(77,494) (111,074)
4,020 697
- 5,580
(6,386) (658)
407 407
4,696 90
108,048 51,133
- 4,727
(6,316) 4,928
104,511 (4,469)
1,520,959 1,243,248
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EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

ﬁ 2015%F 20144
z AREFT ARETFT
z 2015 2014
= RMB’000 RMB'000
m
§ HEECED: Movements in working capital:
g FEEM Increase in inventories (266) (325)
= BREBGEYE Decrease/(increase) in properties under
FHEHEME development for sale and properties
W /() held for sale 2,234,539 (1,216,369)
B 5 R EM IR Increase in trade and other receivables,
4 NIBFRIE deposits and prepayments (27,585) (3,465,785)
e Wit A gt 7 SR IR N Increase in amounts due from related parties (10,488) (68,959)
REA L ERERN (Increase)/decrease in deposits paid for
ML (), acquisition of land use rights (187,120) 20,000
SENEEN=E e bl Increase in prepaid lease payments (347,000) (1,293,230)
ZHNEMBERE (Decrease)/increase in trade and other
Bl e ke &R payables, deposits received and
CRA),/ #hn accrued charges (2,794,760) 3,448,859
JE{S AR 5 7R0R Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to
i,/ CRd) related parties 704 (10,759)
R FTS Cash generated from (used in) operating
Gl EE activities 388,983 (1,343,320)
BT ATEH Income tax paid (379,380) (342,810)
RESEENFS (PTH) Net cash generated from (used in)
HeFs operating activities 9,603 (1,686,130)
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Investing activities

Interest received

Dividend received from available-for-sale
investments

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale
investments

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash outflow from acquisition of
subsidiaries

Net cash inflow from deemed acquisition of
subsidiaries

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposals of
subsidiaries

Net cash outflow from deemed disposals of
subsidiaries

Net cash inflow from disposal of partial
interests in a subsidiary to non-controlling
interests

Investment in associates

Investment in joint ventures

Disposal of partial interests in a joint venture

Loan to joint ventures

Repayment from joint ventures

Advances to related parties

Repayment from related parties

Advances to a third party

Repayment from a third party

Proceeds on disposal of investment properties

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Advances to employees
Repayment from employees

Net cash used in investing activities

EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

20155 20144

it ARKEFT AREFT
2015 2014

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
59,202 76,339

2,822 2,554

(1,500) (79,900)

(15,375) (17,897)

(1,538) (223)

1 —

21,633 8,815

36 (15,121) (170,985)
36 20,274 -
37 (3) 262,757
37 (410,033) -
3,000 =

(61,950) (25,000)

(185,888) (78,500)

200,900 =

(4,241,608) (1,866,306)

3,530,027 2,307,742

(414,905) (616,914)

558,149 244,915

= (290,000)

= 290,000

28,764 40,607

91,005 (1,020,067)

= (39,769)

8,630 =

(823,514) (971,832)
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BMELRD
EfRHME
ENARE
BAARNBRE
EAVE RS G EL: 0 ¢S,

FIBRITER
FIEHMER
fER RAR /7 SRR
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RS EE

[FZEER R E A
BERERDTRRLE

R L E R 1T
Bn B0 PSSR
RE A B B B B TTA D
FEIREIR SR A
TR R 31T
L7 B0 TS TR IR
BTRERE
B SEFR

RERDABREFE

ReEhREEEY
(RD),/ B3
FONRELREEFEY

R R B A
HRLBBOTE

FRAESRREEED

Financing activities
Interest paid
Dividend paid to owners of the Company

Dividend paid to a non-controlling
shareholder

Repayments of bank borrowings

Repayments of other borrowings

New bank loans raised

New other loans raised

Repayment to related parties

Advances from related parties

Capital injection from non-controlling
interests

Return of capital to non-controlling interests

Deemed contribution from the shareholder
of the Company

Proceeds from issue of shares on share
placement

Transaction costs attributable to issue of
shares on share placement

Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercise of share options

Net proceeds from issue of senior notes

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the year

Effects of exchange rate changes on the
balance of cash held in foreign currencies

Cash balance and cash equivalents at the end
of the year

20155 20144
HiiE ARETFT ARBFT
2015 2014
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
(565,818) (315,070)
(112) (136,729)
(31,540) (20,375)
(1,618,217) (428,436)
(230,000) (682,000)
2,479,687 1,044,543
30,000 607,000
(610,750) (1,848,525)
1,138,917 2,297,421
= 374,900
(370,000) -
45,405 =
265,131 =
(4,095) =
719 =
= 1,819,134
529,327 2,711,863
(284,584) 53,901
2,797,941 2,743,579
7,402 461
2,520,759 2,797,941
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—REH

ARNRAHR20065F6 A28AIRBEFR SRS
NEVETERESHEFMKR LA —KER
RERAT - ERFRRABNEBE LA
S(ERBRERES]) M A&
ERABR AT REZERARARED
S 55 B¥ S B LA 22 sE M AK A2 MIFantastic
Energy Ltd. - MR ARHHAKELER
Salum Zheng LeeftE4EH| o AN AQ AHY
SE SR BRI Floor 4, Willow House,
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 2804, Grand
Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman Islands -
HEZL BRI A B R R =
EAERE 15K o

ARARABHEEROREBHERS
FraBR AR (TBRAT]) EMREM ([ E
M) R0 FEITTEBEEM - E—
FEHBENARARR2013F6 2818
EMHERER - AARIMMHE%ER2013
F7TR12ARBR AT £ ©

AREEEMBAR (RHEIALE])
TEAETBENEBE (KB #E51
EERR - WMERE BELE BAEE
B BHEREREMERRE -

EHUMBHERRAARE [ARK]D 2
5 NREDIREEERKEMELTE
RERBORBER (SKXEERN
WREE®) -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28
June 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Its parent is Super
Land Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and its ultimate holding company is
Fantastic Energy Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws
of Commonwealth of the Bahamas. Both of them are controlled
by Mr. Zhang Lei and Mr. Salum Zheng Lee. The registered office
of the Company is located at Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket
Square, P.O. Box 2804, Grand Cayman KY1-1112, Cayman
Islands, and its principal place of business is located at No. 1,
Xiangheyuan Road, Dongcheng District, Beijing, PRC.

In preparation for the listing of its shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing”), the Company underwent a group
reorganisation in 2011. Further details of which are set out in
the Company’s prospectus dated 28 June 2013. The Company’s
shares were then listed on the Stock Exchange on 12 July 2013.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in real estate development, property
investment, hotel operation, project management, real estate
agency services and immigration services in the PRC and the
United States (the “US").

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the group entities operate (the functional currency of
group entities).
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il 2. ERHIRLIETERRE I 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
ﬁg H2EH| INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
2 STANDARDS
=
= RAFE  NEBEHXER TR The Group has applied the following amendments to
§ HaRE R ((RBEBBREEL]) & International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) for the first
g 1837 - time in the current year:
- BRI RERR  REBFIGE  BIHEX Amendments to IFRS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
£19% (B3TA) Contributions
ZEABSTEN  2010-2012B8 2 FENE Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
(BRIX) 2010 - 2012 Cycle
ZBEABSTEN 20112013 BHM  FEHE Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
(BRIK) 2011 - 2013 Cycle
PN 4F 5 By JE B B B B 765 i 5 2 AIE 2R The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
VWEHZES MM BRREFH AAEFR has had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
AEERBAFENMBERIE KR and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
R/ S EERERTE - disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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FERHITREIETEME & 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
S XEB () INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

& 98 45 1B 1) R AE 2B H7 5] R AR ET
I PR Bt 5 3 o 22 A

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

AREERA A EM T 52 |/MmE K
A RH)HT AT M AR AE AT B R B A R S

The Groups has not early applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Al :
BRI T R o 2 B ERTA IFRS 9 Financial Instruments!
F%
BRR A1 R R 5 22 REEPE MK IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
F155 Customers'
BRI s i o 2 B HE? IFRS 16 Leases?
F16%
BRI T R o 2 B R E & B Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
EANEACCHEN) Bmr e Interests in Joint Operations?
el REEP Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative3
F15% (BIIR)
REEREI6TR BRUEXNTER Amendments to IAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
BIPR & 572 B 385 B and IAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and

(BFIX) Amortisation?
BRI T R o A B SRR A SRl Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
(BFIK) 20125220145 2012-2014 Cycle?
AR E Y

B gt EAE 165 R
REETERFA15R

B¥  HENEYD

(BFTA)

R R E 275 N SRVR) S e 0] Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
CHEY e Fa v Statements?

I B 1 T e 2 2 BEEHEEBENT Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

FI0RREREEY  RAELRZEN

£28%5% (B3TA) BENEXTE Associate or Joint Venture?
BRI B ERE 0%  REBE  ERAHK Amendments to IFRS 10,  Investment Entities: Applying the
BB B A S 22 A ol EINEE IFRS 12 and IAS 28 Consolidation Exception?
125 RER & ER
£285% (BFTA)
REEERIE T R Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative®
(BFIX)
st ERIE125% HAERERERER Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
(BFIK) BERBERE for Unrealised Losses®

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 41

and IAS 28

Agriculture: Bearer Plants?

between an Investor and its
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1 R2018F1A1B K 2 A BIRHNFEH
HES

2 R2019F1 A1 2 BRRNFEH
ST

3 R2016F1A1ARZEABRNFEEH
HEZ

4 RETETZBHKARBNTEDR
HES

5  R2017F1A1B &GN FEER
ST

B EREENFREMTA

20094 7 #fn &y B0 R B 765 ¥ 5 22 R S5 953%
SIAEREENBRENHATE -
PR B 75 5 E RIS 9SR BE 1R 1020105 18
FAIABREREBENBRAEARKL
BRBRE - WHR2013FBEFE—REH
SETRUFTARTE o $R20145F 78 #p # B R Bt
B EERNFESR S — D EEFTHRA
EZ8HE )R EENRERE &b)E
BHETHEGETASIATEBHEAM
FHBRARAABEIER]FFESER
BAOBENMFTEREFRBRIER] °

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was
subsequently amended in 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition, and in 2013 to include the new requirements for
general hedge accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification
and measurement requirements by introducing a “fair value
through other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI) measurement
category for certain simple debt instruments.
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FEAMI REEFTREFRME®R 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HER ) INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

B EREERNEIREMT A IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)
(%)
BIPR B 53R S ERIFE IR EZEHTE Key requirements of IFRS 9:

e BERERESHEAFERIEHMT
H:BRALTEIREANMAED
BREMEE - HROBREIHEK
AEX AR EBEEFE LHENRE
RERAENRSRENEHEARN
FISERAHNREREE/TER
R R EE AR S BRI S R E B
& —RREREGE R IHNK
At - NMEBRKKNA R
ERERMESREEMERBHN
ZEBBRAPHENEH TR - U
REAKERSHEE B BMELN
BeneEREASRHAEERS
MENKWEBF LR - THAEBE
R EBRAZ R A EBEIIRNTR
FHE - FIARMERRE RRAKR
EORERBERRZ QA EER
B o lbsh REBEBRMBHREER
S5k - EAREAI(Eh T Al B m ey iR
B REMEEKRAZIIBAERE
(WFERHEER) WERDAEE
g ERBWRA—RRBDTHE

N
7o

s MEEABBIBSRAAEEIR
MERMBETENS @ BERMBH
ERAFIRATE  AEmAERE
ERREEMERE A BEED
MRBIREMEEBAZS - R
FRNEMEERARRZAEREE
RREBSNFESELIIE MRS
MEFHEE - BIERIG® - BEmA
BENEERRMEHRRIAEEED
HETEEMHRE RS - RIEE
BREstERIE395 - IHERBIBR
sRARBEIENERARNS
MoABEEIFTENERZY -

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held
within a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised
cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at FVTOCI. All other
debt investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent reporting periods.
In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of
an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9
requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit
or loss.
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2.

F& PR # 5T R A4 FT B B B 75 3R

HER (1)

N

BEMBEREENFIRERMTA
(%)

s HEMEEMREMmMS BB
WEEA B LTEHEEEEE
XEtE - HEEE S EAF3950%
EEAEEBEREAGFERAR - B
HEEBEEEATEEEN SRS
HEREEBEERZSENEER
BEREHAR  URBEERKRB
VRERIARNES - BEZ B
ERFEECEEHAAEREER
fE18 -

o HEI—REIPEFRERBER
FHERIFEIGRINAEN=REHNES
Bl o ARIRBIER B 75 3R 5 A 59
B AP ERRINEAR
ESIAEXREN LERRANS
HHTEERNTARERNEY
HEETERAIES BIIA B A E R K
DIRE o th5h - RIEHER A
AREBK - BEREREREH T
EESIABBREEMRE °

B B ATIR A ARRE AT 2 89 A H SRR
KIEERRAEBIZEEKAGTENS
& A A RE AR R T8 A S 1B A8 U HR A AR
REEEBENEEZZEI)N  BEHR
2015F 12 A3IAAEEMFREN D
BT o AR EE BB H R B RS R E A
Fo5R A \gﬂ$EIM%?&W%#
NEABBAFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

e In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

e The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently
available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has
been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for
hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the
types of risk components of non-financial items that are
eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the retrospective
quantitative effectiveness test has been removed. Enhanced
disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management
activities have also been introduced.

Except for the potential impact of available-for-sale equity
investment currently measured at cost less impairment and the
potential early recognition of credit losses based on the expected
loss model in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured
at amortised costs, the directors of the Company do not expect
IFRS 9 will have material impact on the results and financial
position of the Group based on an analysis of the Group's
investment as at 31 December 2015.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customer

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with customer
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
e  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 15. The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of IFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact
on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until
the Group performs a detailed review.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses
resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are
recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has
become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.

The amendments should be applied prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined. The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of these amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 may
have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in future periods should such transactions arise.

Except for the above, the directors of the Company do not
anticipate that the application of other new and revised IFRSs
will have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO").

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the new CO and
to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly the presentation and
disclosure of information in the consolidated financial statements
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been
changed to comply with these new requirements. Comparative
information in respect of the financial year ended 31 December
2014 are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the new requirements. Information
previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor
CO or Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended
Listing Rules are not disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the investment properties
which are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. In addition, a fair
value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS
17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.



BOFB BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FESTEER (8)
AOtE%E

EHPBHRRBIEART RARBME
%JE%&&EW% ARSI A
REFFAEATER - BIES G

o HREEHIWIED

s REZHARRESIXBMESKE
RESAZEER &

o ARENUHEBENFERDR -

B EERBRABR L5 = TR I 5
HOEF-RAZREE  AEEEE
A EERDIEHIRERET

WMAEBFEMNEIRESTIREETZIA
BRZHEERE EEEREERUE
HEEFEEREEZRIRE S NBERE
B EAZWIRE T HIEGIRE - AEEH
EHHEBENRRESTREESESE
VAR H A 12 il i s 5 B — fﬂ*ﬁ?ﬁ%i
RiER - B -

o REEFTIFIREREM L HIEL A %
ERRFE ANREREL O R D BE
=3

o AKE - HBRE#HFEARHM
ATHENEERTE

o HMAWTHELZRERN Rk

o RURBRAKENIEHRREES
EEERESNENEGCEERB
N BRBERRRENKEER
|"|:TJO

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of the other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests will be adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of
the Company.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and
IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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3. EESTEE ) 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date; and

e  assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment, or a portion thereof, is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount, Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a joint
venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between
the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a
part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or
joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is
discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related
to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when the construction of respective
properties have been completed and the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties are transferred to the
customers, that is when the customers completed the necessary
procedures to acknowledge receipts of delivery of properties in
accordance with the terms under respective sales and purchases
agreements.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from hotel accommodation, food and beverage sales
and other ancillary services is recognised when the services are
rendered.

Other service income is recognised when the services are
provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are initially
measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the property is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to retained profits.

Where properties held for sale transferred to investment
properties when there is a change of intention to hold the
property to earn rentals or/and capital appreciation, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party, any difference between the carrying amount and
fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any recognised impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purpose are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, over their estimated useful lives after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.

Prepaid lease payments

The prepaid lease payments represent upfront payments for
land use rights for the purpose of development of properties for
sale and are initially recognised at cost and released to profit
or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis. They would
be transferred to properties under development for sale upon
commencement of the related construction work in property
development project.

Freehold land held for future development

The freehold land held for future development represents parcels
of land owned by the Group for the purpose of development
of properties for sale. The freehold land is initially recognised at
cost and not depreciated. It would be transferred to properties
under development for sale upon commencement of the related
construction work in property development project.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
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3. FESHEE ®) 3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BRPEEME Properties under development for sale

Properties under development which are intended to be sold in
the ordinary course of business upon completion of development
are classified as current assets, and carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Costs include the related land cost,
development expenditure incurred and, where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
property, plant and equipment when there is a change of
intention to hold the properties under development for own use.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes the costs of land, development
expenditure incurred and, where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised. Net realised value is determined based on prevailing
market conditions.

Properties held for sale are transferred to property, plant and
equipment when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties held for sale for own use.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwiill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the small group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transactions costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments, of which interest income is included in other
income.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, loans to joint ventures, restricted cash,
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
either designated or not classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting period
(see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for financial assets could
include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable and other
receivable are considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, senior
notes, trade payables, other payables and amounts due to
related parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the obligation under the contract,
as determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire, or when the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Group’s obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expenses
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an
operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At
the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with IAS 40 Investment
Property, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model of
the Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principle set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
under the state-managed retirement benefit scheme in PRC are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in Note 42 to the Group’s consolidation
financial statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee
benefits reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.



BOFB BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEARETHE RS THEBAR
ENEFERER (8)

REMF

KREMERBBIERMGEEMETHNMG
BIERAAEEIER BEQAEBER
RER LAY RS E T R ET A
BEAFTE - ERBEERSR - A28
EXCEHAE X ERHEMBOR
RERBRIBEMR - ZFMEOEME
HEEHAKREREMENAABESE
HEEE) WAHBaRRABREBSRE
AT -

Fr8Him

an ff ZE23F7 # 0 720154128318 -
TEFIFES MR EREE R
AR - WOBRSEHHENE BEE
A DEHEFEEERN 2 HE R
EREUAMEMIEBE AENEEHEEAE
% N R #322,481,0007T (20144 @ A
R¥317,112,00070) * LI E TEL
RIBERE THR - EXLRBEERD
B FERTRREETHAAEEAHD
RACHEN K ERRE R ZRE - NAAIE
EETELEHIBEEENDERERMRE
GEEMORE - UREAEETBLS
FIRERIEE ER AR REEMIENRIE
A TR o RAREBERIRE HARA
EMRERLEFTER - METEENER
R HMEA KR TEH - AT ge /A%
IMERKBERELERIBEEE - WREH
MR Bl B O] P 35 A BRI PAME S N FERR ©

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers.
In determining the fair values, the valuers have based on a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates of market
condition. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of
the Company have exercised their judgment and are satisfied
that the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective of the
current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of
gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

Income tax expense

Deferred tax assets of approximately RMB322,481,000 (2014:
RMB317,112,000) mainly in relation to tax losses, land
appreciation tax provisions, allowance for bad and doubtful
debts, write-down of properties held for sale, advertising
expenses, temporary differences on property sales and cost of
sales and others have been recognised at 31 December 2015,
after offsetting certain deferred tax liabilities as set out in Note
23. The realisability of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. The directors of the Company
determine the deferred tax assets based on the enacted or
substantially enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of profit
projections of the Group for coming years during which the
deferred tax assets are expected to be utilised. The directors
of the Company have reviewed the assumptions and profit
projections by the end of the reporting period. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are more or less than
expected, an additional recognition or a reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which such a recognition or reversal takes
place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of the tax varies
amongst different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC
and certain property development projects of the Group have not
finalised their land appreciation tax calculations and payments
with local tax authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant
judgment is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related income tax provisions. The Group
recognised the land appreciation tax based on management’s
best estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the periods in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, the directors of
the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property
portfolios together with certain properties characteristics. For
investment properties amounting to RMB37,640,000 (2014:
RMB66,300,000) as at 31 December 2015, the directors of the
Company concluded that they are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
of the Company have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group has estimated the deferred tax taking into
account both the land appreciation tax and enterprise income
tax on disposal of these investment properties.

For other investment properties amounting to
RMB1,330,600,000 (2014: RMB1,080,300,000) as at 31
December 2015, the directors of the Company have reassessed
and concluded that they are held with a business model to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. For these investment properties, the presumption that
investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered through sale is rebutted and the Group has estimated
the deferred tax taking into account of enterprise income tax.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Dividend policy

The Group recognised the withholding tax for undistributed
profits of PRC subsidiaries with intention to distribute around
20% of profit after tax for the years since 1 January 2008. If
there is any material fluctuation to the distributable profits, as
a result of the changes in business or financial conditions, the
directors of the Company will consider adjusting the dividend
distribution ratio. Nevertheless, there is no assurance that
dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed each
year or in any given year. The directors of the Company will re-
evaluate the dividend policy from time to time.

Write-down of completed properties held for sale

Management performs a regular review on the carrying amount
of completed properties held for sale. Based on management’s
review, write-down of completed properties held for sale will
be made when the estimated net realisable value has declined
below the carrying amount.

In determining the net realisable value of completed properties
held for sale, management refers to prevailing market data such
as recent sales transactions as base for evaluation.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2015 amounted to RMB498,816,000 (2014:
RMB503,655,000). Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment and if the expectation differs
from the original estimates, such differences from the original
estimates will impact the depreciation charges in the year in
which the estimates change.
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5. gk opER 5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
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AEENKLEEDAER/RTEFEIN()
MERR - D)MERE  (BELE
(EBEE FMERERE &
HBRRBHE A RERZLLEDE -
ABEN B RBEARE X ELERE
ATEBEERRA] AEERTHE
BORBE R E) AMERNOABERRS
Y - TERERRATEZMABRANK
BYEBERNOVEHEE  REVERE
MEEWE  REBEELE  KBEE
B REEHERERBEALRKAS
RRBEOWREFR - Al - Rl amER
S WL ERE M E M DTS E R
AN EE AR EERNRER - T2
RERRATEERNARENEERRE
RABBEE  MELBRERS AR
R Ay - WEEFHULE Al HER

& DA DT

Wi E R ERRENRAEE -

EREEs

RERE DM AKEW DT

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single
reportable and operating segment focusing on (a) property
development, (b) property investment, (c) hotel operation, (d)
project management, (e) real estate agency services and (f)
immigration services. The operating segment has been identified
on the basis of internal management reports reviewed by chief
operating decision maker of the Group (“CODM"), Mr. Zhang
Peng, who is the Executive President of the Group. The CODM
mainly reviews the revenue information on sales of properties
from property development, leasing properties from property
investment, hotel operation, project management, real estate
agency services, and immigration services. However, other
than revenue information, no operating results and other
discrete financial information is available for the assessment
of performance of the respective type of revenue. The CODM
reviews the overall results and organisation structure of the
Group as a whole to make decision about resources allocation.
Accordingly, no analysis of this single reportable and operating
segment is presented.

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable.

Entity-wide information

An analysis of the Group’s revenue by type is as follows:

20155 20144

ARMTF T ARET T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

S Sale of properties 6,201,939 4,018,247
MEHEE Leasing of properties 45,068 36,488
B JE A Hotel operation 33,680 24,729
THE BIE Project management 42,513 =
B ERIE RS Real estate agency services 12,856 =
%R R Immigration services 13,711 =
6,349,767 4,079,464
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WKk oEBEER (&)

EREER (#)

20155128318 ' (REEABARKE
3,070,982,0007T (2014%F : A B ¥
3,828,083,0007T) MIEREB EE (‘T &
FeMITARBEMREEE) HURF
B - M R2015F12A31H  REE A
AR 82,890,0007T (20145 : AR
28,718,0007T) MY H 82 IER BN & B TH AL

TERHFIZWBNES DN EBAAEE
KEINBEPHMEHEFR - FPH)H
BUuETARERBEARGEMRIE
R B D o

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Entity-wide information (Continued)

Non-current assets (excluding financial instruments and deferred
tax assets) with carrying amount of RMB3,070,982,000 (2014:
RMB3,828,083,000) as at 31 December 2015 are situated in the
PRC, the remaining non-current assets with carrying amount
of RMB82,890,000 (2014: RMB28,718,000) as at 31 December
2015 are situated in the US.

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the Group’s
revenue from external customers by geographical location. The
geographical location of customers is based on the location at
which the services were provided or the goods and properties
were delivered.

REIIBEF KW
Revenues from external
customers

20154 20144
AR¥ T ARBETF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
f BB Northern, PRC 3,697,286 1,961,593
rh B A g 20 Middle south, PRC 2,638,770 2,117,871
R us 13,711 =
6,349,767 4,079,464

BEEE MR PETI SN EGEE
AREBRANFERWER10%A L -

No revenue from transaction with single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group's revenue during the
year.
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160

MR - BT BERASMASESZE

B RE BT AR R AR SRR I

il HWA ~ Rz kEiE 6. OTHER INCOME, GAIN AND LOSS
>
E 20154 20144
= ARKFT ARBFT
= 2015 2014
S RMB’000 RMB’000
=
é B UA Interest income 77,807 42,398
At SR ERSA Dividend income from available-for-sale
investments 2,822 2,554
U A Penalty income 700 1,193
BT E) (Krita) Government grant (note a) 19,465 8,009
HEW%  BERBHEHUWZ  Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 6,386 658
HEMB A RS YES (K7237) Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) 91 31,514
HEMRESLDERNREZMWE  Gain on disposal of interests in joint ventures 11,416 =
HEMHEESERENEE Loss on disposal of available-for-sale
investments (985) -
& i8R 55 (Matb) Net exchange loss (note b) (100,490) (10,836)
R A IE R (Hatc) Loss on settlement of arbitration (note c) (45,405) =
YR EIE Loss on transfer of properties - (6,354)
A= e ] Allowance for advance to a supplier = (5,580)
EERBLA Management service income = 10,606
T8 B B RB U A Project management service income - 946
HAh Others 1,345 226
(26,848) 75,334
HiiE Notes:
@) BT BNIER A b S B S P A R (a) Government grants represent incentive subsidies from various PRC

governmental authorities. There are no conditions or limitations

attached to these subsidies by the respective PRC governmental

authorities.

(b) ZEeBEFZEHRARBHETREME (b) The amount mainly arose from retranslation of senior notes held
HBERN B FENETTEELEZE by the Company denominated in US$ due to depreciation of RMB
MELE ° against US$.

() FRRMPEMBIANFBEINS RS (c) Details of the loss on settlement of arbitration are set out in note (f)

BRMTFE() °

to the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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BE A 7. FINANCE COSTS B
i
20154 20144 M
ARETF T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000 3_%
>
BITREMEER S Interest on bank and other borrowings (163,010) (142,234) 2
BEZEN SRS Interest expense on senior notes (372,568) (293,712) §
&
(535,578) (435,946) -
o EERMYENEAR(LEE  Less: Amount capitalised in properties under 3
development 338,302 170,436 ’§
5
(197,276) (265,510) 9
=
HZE2015F12A31B I EE - "&EH Borrowing costs capitalised arose on the senior notes of the g
BEAEZEERMEEANERNLEBERKKT Group were calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of 6.92% 2
BREBBEENHASINERNIEEEF (2014: 2.59%) per annum for the year ended 31 December
6.92% (20144 : 2.59%) 5t & o 2015, to expenditure on the qualifying assets.
FrEFHEx 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
20154 20144
ARM T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN ER%H IR Current Tax
R ERER PRC enterprise income tax (338,069) (281,985)
ERIR US corporate tax (7) (23)
+ b ER ([ ER ) Land appreciation tax (“LAT") (326,074) (306,259)
EIEFRTE (Ka$23) Deferred tax (Note 23)
BB ZE TSR PRC enterprise income tax (78,922) (35,000)
THIRER LAT 4,214 (2,285)
PSR Income tax expense (738,858) (625,552)
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REHEX @

BIER2007F3 16 H BMAA R E D2
FTiS®i)% - B2008F1H1B#E  IHAK
BIMTE NG —R25% MDD EMER
KNP E D FEFER o

TR ER B E T IRIR AR BREE
REOEBPTE IR E R o THIRER
EREEEENRERTBEELRMAE
(K #E TR ERFRR RRR) -

REXBEZEEMASHENRA R
BP AEREREBRELESRASE
S BEBNERMAEH

B R A 220154 2014128318 1k
FEAKBTENEBEELSIME K
A AT EREBF SR BE -

BEERBAH L EECERER
15%E35%M 2 EH EH K &=
2015 12A31HILFE - EEBCER
TR st FE R B A F115 % B B FO R E B
T DA o

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law promulgated
on 16 March 2007, the PRC enterprise income tax for both
domestic and foreign-invested enterprises has been unified at
the enterprise income tax rate of 25% effective from 1 January
2008 onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Pursuant to the rules and regulation of BVI and the Cayman
Islands, the Group is not subject to any income tax in BVI and
the Cayman Islands.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
income generated from the Group neither arises in, nor is
derived from, Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2015
and 2014.

Pursuant to the US Federal tax law, the US corporate tax shall
be taxed at progressive rates ranging from 15% to 35%. US
corporate tax is provided at federal statutory rate of 15% based
on the estimated assessable profits during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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FrisBiBa (&) 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) B
=
FEBERITEEHERREMER The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit %'PI\HQ
WARFT A AR F A ¥ BRAT - before taxation per consolidated statements of profit or loss and B
other comprehensive income as follows:
i
20154 20144 S
ARMFIT ARMTFIT -
2015 2014 s
RMB’000 RMB'000 &
-]
=
Tt A Profit before tax 1,339,558 1,166,944 ‘é’
=
=
1R25% B E T B R Bl b5 PRC enterprise income tax at 25% 3
FRa B (334,889) (291,736) 5
+ i I8 (E LAT (321,860) (308,544) ~'_
THIBEBNRETE Tax effect of LAT 80,465 77,136 3
HATSENREZE Tax effect on: E_*'
DEEECENERAN KT E Tax effect of share of loss of joint ventures (27,012) (12,783)
DIEHE R TNEEON G E Tax effect of share of loss of associates (1,174) (22)
PIREMmM S AL Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (97,281) (72,440)
BIET = BABH AR Tax effect of income not taxable for
% tax purpose 2,893 4,604
WIHERAEEHIBEEEDN Effect of tax losses not recognised as
RIEEENTE deferred tax assets (19,631) (4,107)
PABERERNHIERE Utilisation of tax loss previously not
recognised - 12
EEMBAEREENHB AR Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
MEZRENYE operating in other jurisdictions (4) 23
FERRREHNMTEIF (#f7F)  Withholding tax on retained profits to be
distributed (nhote) (20,365) (17,695)
IR X Tax charge (738,858) (625,552)
Mt - Note:
1R IE 72008F1 A1H 4 30 a9 /b B #7538 Bk In accordance with PRC tax circular (Guoshuihan [2008] 112) effective
(B %% K[2008]11125%) + i X A10%H) from 1 January 2008, PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10% is
BHASHRARNIMNFFEERIKRESE (H applicable to dividends to “non-resident” investors who do not have an
RIS RS LG MRS o establishment or place of business in the PRC. The amount represents
ZERIERT RN B AR E2008F1 A1HEA the withholding income tax provided on the undistributed profits of
R BEELE) A] FBVE D R B9 R 90K v A 1 B4 PRC subsidiaries earned since 1 January 2008, which are available for
EIEHIFRIEH - distribution.
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g 9. FE&HEA 9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
>
= 20154 20144
= ARKFT ARBFT
= 2015 2014
S RMB’000 RMB'000
=
§ FEaM D&M (GEA) Profit for the year has been arrived at after
THIEEREE : charging (crediting):
RIERANERNYE - MENK  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
LB E recognised in profit and loss 22,029 24,585
REFERERYEE NEAR{LH Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Y - B REEITE capitalised in properties under development
for sale 261 298
FENERS B Total depreciation charged for the year 22,290 24,883
A E Amortisation of intangible assets 442 193
KEHERS Operating lease rentals 9,326 7,487
ZE RN & Auditors’ remuneration 4,643 2,600
REREHE Allowance for doubtful debts 4,020 697
FEHE Y (BE) #UR - (Reversal of) write-down of
T ASHE AR properties held for sale included
in cost of sales (6,316) 4,928
RERZHFERA Cost of inventories recognised as expense 4,353,508 2,393,087
ERBATNESEXA Staff costs (including retirement benefit cost):
EEHH (BEEREEN Directors’ emoluments (including equity-
AR50 (BaE10) settled share-based payments) (Note 70) 5,773 14,587
e M E b ERL Salaries and other allowances 199,480 158,402
LARRAD S 5% Share-based payment 10,323 586
RIREFI B A Retirement benefit costs 10,258 10,405
HiEWREF Other benefit-in-kind:
RIEFETEEFERNYE Properties provided for the use by
certain employees 4,273 6,099
488 T A Total staff costs 230,107 190,079
B BERPEFEEYMEETH Less: Amount capitalised to properties
BRI &R under development for sale (51,416) (45,719)
178,691 144,360
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS
Directors
Ex§e BHRER
ESHe k& T4 #E NRAMFR CH
ABETT AREFT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Basic Retirement
Directors' salaries and benefit Share-based
fee  allowance Bonus contribution payment Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Year ended 31 December 2015
Name of director
Executive Directors
Zhang Lei - 912 380 38 661 1,991
Zhang Peng - 929 432 38 664 2,063
Chen Yin - 690 104 38 - 832
Non-executive Directors
Fan Qingguo 1 - - - - m
Zhong Tianxiang 160 - - - - 160
Independent Directors
CuiJian 168 - - - - 168
Hui Chun Ho, Eric 168 - - - 52 220
Qin Youguo 168 - - - - 168
835 2,531 916 114 1,377 5173
Year ended 31 December 2014
Name of director
Executive Directors
Zhang Lei - 768 4,292 38 193 5,291
Zhang Peng - 768 4,292 38 862 5,960
Chen Yin - 710 220 38 - 968
Non-executive Directors
Fan Qingguo - 467 305 38 366 1,176
Zhong Tianxiang - 451 229 38 - 718
Independent Directors
Cui Jian 158 - - - - 158
Hui Chun Ho, Eric 158 - - - - 158
Qin Youguo 158 - - - - 158
474 3,164 9,338 190 1,421 14,587
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RIBAARRBRITEE AR EXREGH
HM e 5B HEERTRERMREX
NzBE -

RELEERRABGERITE » UK EXH
EAREMS N ERREEEERRMEE
HIRFE A 2 Bl

TEATAREEER2ZEAEEEERE @
ARBRRBITHIREE

REZE2015F12A31BILEE @ EEER
Z(IMEE -

TEBREHFMAL

HE2015F12831BHItEE A& &
BEHMALBEIE2ZESE (2014F : 35
£3E) HZE2015F12A31BIEEFEER
H3B & B A L (2014 : HER2
EEREFMAL) OFMIT

il 10.ESREEHM =) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

= EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

=

=

= B (#) Directors (Continued)

= )

by Bfet - Notes:

=

& REEEABRARBEF UK EXHESH Mr. Zhang Lei is the Chairman of the Company and his emoluments
& He neEmEEEERRERE M2 disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the

Chairman.

Mr. Zhang Peng is the Executive President of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as the Executive President.

Mr. Chen Yin is the Chief Technology Officer of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as the Chief Technology Officer.

The bonus is determined by the management with reference to the
Group’s operating results, individual performance and prevailing market
conditions.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31
December 2015.

Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals included 2 directors for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 3 directors). The emoluments
of the remaining 3 highest paid individuals for the year ended
31 December 2015 (2014: remaining 2 highest paid individuals)
are as follows:

20154 20144
AR® T AREFIT
2015 2014
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
(= Employees

— HEAR¥ 4 K&ERL — Basic salaries and allowances 1,947 1,427
—fEAT - Bonus 312 1,371
— AR 3K — Share-based payment 2,683 298
— RORAE FI 3K — Retirement benefit contributions 114 76

— EMEYEF — Other benefit-in-kind
Pzt properties provided 407 759
5,463 3,931
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10. EEREEFHFHN &)

11.

HEBREHFMAL (&)

REE - NEEWESN BB RSN
AT EAHME RSB A IARE
1% 1) SRR A R RE A1 o

HetmeHFMALEHMAR DT -

1,500,001/ 7C%2,000,000/%&7Cc HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
2,000,001#7C%2,500,000% 7  HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

10. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid individuals are
within the following bands:

20154 20144

2015 2014

1,000,001/ L& 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 = =
1 —

1 1

1 1

2,500,001 023,000,000 7 HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

[ g=)

ARNaEERZZHZE2015F12A8318
IEFERRIEE SR 9.98 1L AR
RARPERAEEREBFERSHE o

1B % $2015%F7 8108 58 5K #Y 4T A% 3
77 & #160,000,0000% 4T A% 2 1% B
201566 25 &K A TIRIBAKRMD A
T —IRAT AR A AEEE 1T o

11. DIVIDEND

The final dividend proposed by the directors of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK9.9 cents per share
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Pursuant to the bonus issue being completed on 10 July 2015,
a total of 160,000,000 bonus shares were issued on the basis of
one bonus share for every ten existing share as at 25 June 2015.
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E 12.BRER 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
)§> ARRBEBEABLERERNREERT The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
,E; TR T O BB & - attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
= data:
o
S
~ 20155 20144
g ARMFr AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BZF| Earnings
HEGREARRBFFFANREN  Earnings for the purpose of calculating
(RRAREB AEEERESAR)  basic and diluted earnings per share
(profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company) 577,867 521,128
20155 20144
FiR Fhg
2015 2014
‘000 ‘000
RGO EE Number of shares
STESRERZFTEN Number of ordinary shares for the
Tk e (Fita) purpose of calculating basic earnings
per share (note a) 1,895,063 1,760,000
BE#EEAE L AR E ©  Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
- R (Hatb) — Share options (note b) 15,057 =
STEEREE R TR Number of ordinary shares for the
TimiRE e purpose of calculating diluted earnings
per share 1,910,120 1,760,000
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12. 5RER (&)

ik

(a)

DN 19 m A% 2B 1,895,063,0008%
Th s ARR2015467 A10H 52K AT
217 (R M 5234(b)) + 120157 A31
HERRRGES (RHE34(0) KR
HZE2015F 128318 L FERTHER
MR (RIFE34(d)) MIFEEEH -

HZE2014F 128318 IEEE - Bt ER
EARZF P A &I m AR niE T EHE R
20157 A 108 SR AL AR B 1112 3B 3
i % £1,760,000,0000% % 19 (R M 5
34(b)) °

HE2015F 128318 L EENEKE
SERAFEDZREMAREITEBR
EETENER TRARSREZETH
15,057,0000% A% n (hn 4 F 19 AR &) -
HE2014F12A31BILFE - ARAK
FARTHEERRARARKRMDR2014F
MAITEREANFETE - SRS
SERRGTE W mAT ABRRE -

13. REWE

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Weighted average number of 1,895,063,000 ordinary shares are
calculated after taken into account the effects of bonus issue
completed on 10 July 2015 (see Note 34(b)), the placing of shares
completed on 31 July 2015 (see Note 34(c)) and exercise of share
options during the year ended 31 December 2015 (see Note 34(d)).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2014
has been retrospectively adjusted to 1,760,000,000 shares after
completion of the bonus issue on 10 July 2015 (see Note 34(b)).

The computation of the diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2015 has taken into consideration the
weighted average number of 15,057,000 shares deemed to be
issued at nil consideration if all outstanding share options had been
exercised. For the year ended 31 December 2014, the share options
were not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share
as the adjusted exercise price was greater than the average market
price of the Company’s shares during the outstanding period in
2014.

13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
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20155 2014%F

ARMTFT ARKFT

AREE FAIR VALUE 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

B1A18 At 1 January 1,146,600 825,660

HE O EEEYE Transfer from properties held for sale 172,910 246,900

HEEYE - WE KR Transfer from property, plant and equipment - 8,300
RERERN AR BEZSEFEE Net change in fair value recognised

in profit or loss 77,494 111,074

e Disposals (28,764) (40,607)

R T 7 BUS Transfer to local government = (4,727)

Mm12A318 At 31 December 1,368,240 1,146,600

SFABRMEBGEAZIBIZS Unrealised gain on property revaluation
(GFAIREWENLEBEEE)) included in profit or loss

(included in changes in fair value

of investment properties) 71,027 100,756
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13.REWEE &) 13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
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AEBAAREEHEREURIAES
NERSTIERRAABERAGE
WHEARARINERENE - AR
BEMEHMRTE - HEMEMELH
FFEH AB404F o

AEBR2015F12A3MHEERAR
#291,141,0007C (20144 : A R ¥
388,556,0007T) I E W2 - LELR
AEEERNE TRITHE (HPRHE
38) °

IRIEEE HETRME - BE20159F12
A31HIEFE  EHAZEE (HEI
ATRTHNELHERIGATER) &
EROBEHEMENSEREBER
TESHEMERN KA AR ®82,529,0007T
(20144 : AR #156,014,0007T) © &
ERARnEEKZL ARE90,381,0007T
(20145 : AR#90,886,0007T) °

2015 - MEEWME - BFE MR EE
BAEMKEYSE - B 22014512 431
HIEFE  FEHEINBATRTHEER
ERERAREREBREYE  BE KEHE
NEHEPEREDE  BERZENER
T {E A R #6,949,0007T © MR E M2
HBRAFBRONAALEBEZHOARE
1,351,0007T °

AEBDRTIREMERSER A
K 20154 K&2014F12A31H 82 A
BE  BREBEHERTERAR ([HE
217]) KRR BEL M EMER - &iE
R2OR—RARSE VW EFENE LS
BREEMGERM  BESENERE M
BEm EA7n A 54 4B At B AR U ) Y

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using the fair value model and
are classified and accounted for as investment properties. The
investment properties are all situated in the PRC. The lease term
of land on which the investment properties are situated on is 40
years.

The Group had pledged investment properties of
RMB291,141,000 (2014: RMB388,556,000) at 31 December
2015 to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group as
set out in Note 38.

The amount transferred from properties held for sale upon
change in use as evidenced by commencement of operating
lease with outsiders included the cost of the properties held for
sale amounted to RMBS82,529,000 (2014: RMB156,014,000)
with fair value gain of approximately RMB90,381,000 (2014:
RMB90,886,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015, based
on valuation performed at dates of transfer.

No investment property was transferred from property, plant
and equipment in 2015. The amount transferred from property,
plant and equipment upon commencing of operating lease
agreements with outsiders included the carrying value of the
property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB6,949,000 with
fair value change recognised to other comprehensive income
of approximately RMB1,351,000 during the year ended 31
December 2014.

The fair value of the Group’s completed investment properties at
the respective dates of transfer and as at 31 December 2015 and
2014 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation on those
dates carried out by DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited (“DTZ"),
independent qualified professional valuers not connected to
the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations.
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BMEDRBREEZFREBHERHHRE
ENESRAFERBEEN  IpZE
MEMRIERRAENIEEERE - B
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MELAEBER  BRAENAERS M
RIER® -

ERFEERRENRABEE @ A%
EEAEAMGABREE - £428
F—RBABRBENBRT AREZRE
F=TRERGEMETHE -

REERE WER20159F X20145F12
A31BENHEHBREAABERERE I
T -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The valuations were arrived at with adoption of investment
approach by capitalisation of the net rental income derived
from the existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary
income potential of the properties. There has been no change
from the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.

Details of the Group's investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2015 and 2014
are as follow:

720154

128318

E= AREE

ARE T ARMFT

Fair value as

at 31

December

Level 3 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR E Y= Investment properties located in PRC 1,368,240 1,368,240

20144

12A318H

E=H AnEE

ARET T ARET T

Fair value as

at 31

December

Level 3 2014

RMB’'000 RMB’000

R ERIREY % Investment properties located in PRC 1,146,600 1,146,600
FERE =4 B H i [E 4% e 3 s o There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

il 13. REWE () 13.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
)§> THREFEEZEREMELALBED The following table gives information about how the fair values
g Br (FRIREBERERMAZE) - N of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
= RRB2ENABEREEDENARE valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value
§ BER (F1EEEIE) ° hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
~ (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the
§ fair value measurements is observable.
BB B R BT DRE TABRSHYHE
AEBRERENR EER HEFERTESH EENFTEESY AREENER
Investment properties held by
the Group in the consolidated Relationship of
statements of financial Fair value  Valuation technique(s) Significant unobservable unobservable inputs to
position hierarchy  and key input(s) input(s) fair value
AIRAEILR &Y - #E - £31R RERE BAKE  NF425%F ARHEES -
T RERABk R E D% 6.5% (2014 : NF4.25%  WHEEBE -
(FERTE) %6.5%)
Investment properties located Level 3 Investment approach Capitalisation rate, from The higher the capitalisation
at Beijing, Changsha, 4.25% t0 6.5% (2014: rate, the lower the market
Nanchang, Jiujiang, 4.25% 10 6.5%) value.
Taiyuan, and
Xiantao, PRC
(mainly retails)
FE22%: BUfie  NTEA BUfieHs
1LEREIE BYAARAREIZTE Mi5EEES °
2 BRI B EMTES BRABTARARE3M2T
(20145 : NFARBNTE
ARE3207)
The key inputs are: Unit rent, from RMB33 The higher the unit rent, the
1. Capitalisation rate; to RMB342 (2014: from higher the market value.
2. Unit rent of individual RMB31 to RMB320)
unit per sg.m. per month
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KA
201451718
NE
B
ERERENGENE
(Hib)
ERERANE
BB AR
HEHBAR
L&
ERER

M2014%E12A318
AE

BREFENE (Wb)
WEH BT

e

ERER

2015412 4318

CosT

At 1 January 2014

Additions

Transfer

Transfer from properties held for
sale (note b)

Transfer to investment properties

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposals of subsidiaries

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2014

Additions

Transfer from properties held for
sale (note b)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 December 2015

B O B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BEL EERE
kg% RE k%A ERME &t
AEETFT AEETT AEETT AEETT AEETFT
Electronic Properties
Leasehold land equipment under
and buildings ~ Motor vehicles  and furniture construction Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fizta)
(note a)
450,173 29,049 13,109 98,283 590,614
35 4,744 4,582 8,536 17,897
8,448 - - (8,448) -
8,381 - - - 8,381
(9,403) - - - (9,403)
- 133 68 - 201
- (511) (1,256) - (1,767)
(7,801) (2,488) (1,277) - (11,566)
- 1 - - 1
449,833 30,928 15,226 98,371 594,358
- 1,942 3,201 10,232 15,375
17,180 - - - 17,180
- - 90 - 90
(16,162) (2,432) (229) - (18,823)
- 19 46 - 65
450,851 30,457 18,334 108,603 608,245
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HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

ﬁ 14. 9% - MERRE @) 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
z
§ AELH EERA
= Ri#s nE RER  ERNE At
g AREFTL AREFTL AREFTL AREFT ARETFT
= Electronic Properties
= Leasehold land equipment under
o and buildings ~ Motor vehicles  and furniture construction Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Hita)
(note a)
ZitiE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
R2014E1 418 At 1 January 2014 48,209 15,483 8,119 - 71,811
REEMR Charged for the year 18,339 4,200 2,344 - 24,883
BETRENE Transfer to investment properties (2,454) = = = (2,454)
HERBAR Disposals of subsidiaries = (69) (59) - (128)
HERTE Eliminated on disposals (853) (1,342) (1,214) - (3,409)
R2014F12A318 At 31 December 2014 63,241 18,272 9,190 - 90,703
REEMR Charged for the year 15,702 4,129 2,459 - 22,290
HEREH Eliminated on disposals (1,536) (1,835) (205) - (3,576)
EHZE Exchange differences - 9 3 - 12
12015%F12A318 At 31 December 2015 71,407 20,575 11,447 - 109,429
REE CARRYING AMOUNT
12015128318 At 31 December 2015 373,444 9,882 6,887 108,603 498,816
12014128318 At 31 December 2014 386,592 12,656 6,036 98,371 503,655
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14.9% - MEKRE #)

et -

(a)

AEEERASBAMBEENYESRS
BB BRI L& (TR El]) - BIRET
2 AEAREEFERZEDE  ER
RNEBR RIS FHELEFEN T1.56
BI5F - ZEMENERBRTHET
BB T ARG FHER TAERE
8 - 2015%12A318 A BKEER
EREEMEANAE L REFHR
H{EAAR24,402,0007T (20144 :
AR #33,307,0007T) °

EARREREHRDAZEWERH
MIEEBE - ARETHERFEHE
YR,

ANEBR2015F12A31BRHEHBAR
#287,590,0007T (20144 : A R %
369,384,0007T) MIEF (BIEEED
%) UMERASEERNE TRITR
Hebgh & (FRKIEE38) ©

EdME - BMERRKEERE (TERHE
BYE) i RREN G RBREER
NBEAERIA T FRAEIRE

HETHREF 2 4t oK [ i AE AR

H30FRMREHE

BB THEE 1.58 154
T RiEF

RE 19%

BERELRA 19%%31.67%

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The Group had entered agreement with the eligible employees
in connection with the properties developed by the Group (the
“Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the eligible employees can use the
properties while remain with the Group for a service period ranging
from 1.5 to 15 years, the title of the properties will be transferred
to the eligible employees upon the completion of the service period
as stated under the Scheme. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying
amount of leasehold land and buildings which have been occupied
by the eligible employees under the Scheme is RMB24,402,000
(2014: RMB33,307,000).

(b) Buildings were transferred from properties held for sale when
the management of the Company decided to use some of those
properties for own use.

()  The Group had pledged buildings, including properties under
construction, of RMB287,590,000 (2014: RMB369,384,000) at
31 December 2015 to secure certain banking and other facilities
granted to the Group as set out in Note 38.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other

than properties under construction, are depreciated using the

straight-line method after taking into account of their estimated

residual values at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of unexpired

lease term of land and 30 years

Leasehold land and buildings 1.5 to 15 years
under the Scheme

Motor vehicles 19%

Electronic equipment and 19%-31.67%
furniture
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HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

il 15. B &E 15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
z
= B34
= AREFT
= Computer
§ Software
~ RMB’000
=
ui N
DEN COST
M2014F1H18 At 1 January 2014 1,895
NE Additions 223
72014%F12H31H At 31 December 2014 2,118
NE Additions 1,538
7201512 H31H At 31 December 2015 3,656
R E ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
M20145F1H1H At 1 January 2014 666
AN E 0B Charge for the year 193
7201412 H31H At 31 December 2014 859
REEHR Charge for the year 442
7201512 H31H At 31 December 2015 1,301
BREE CARRYING AMOUNT
7201512 H31H At 31 December 2015 2,355
20145 12H31H At 31 December 2014 1,259
BB BRERERAEEH  RoFRN The computer software has definite useful life and is amortised
B = - on a straight-line basis over 5 years.
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16. EHHERE

17.

AR A A i (E R E R TR
NHEEFRBENEEEITAT

MENEE

MR2015F12A31H ' SHEEMEFE
K TE - HH & 3k IE A R 130,162,000
(20144 : AR#410,642,0007T) 48

7K 5 ) 0 8 {4 FEL 65 SR 4 8 12 R B RS
T 404 704 T B3R + M8 FHERT %
o 8928 -

RFERRBROKARKE L1

KAEELHIEAEBARRIFEHNE
MEEFEEEDSIMN ([EEHM )
AR — B K AR - 2015412
A318 @ LHEERAT 8 KR ER -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

Current assets

17.

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments in respect of
land use rights for the lands situated in the PRC is analysed as
follows:

20155 20144
AR¥TT ARBFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
130,162 410,642

As at 31 December 2015, prepaid lease payment of
RMB130,162,000 (2014: RMB410,642,000) which held for
purpose of properties for sale, are classified under current assets.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent payments for
obtaining the land use rights in the PRC with lease terms
ranging from 40 to 70 years.

FREEHOLD LAND HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s freehold land represents a parcel of freehold land
in the State of Texas, the US (“Texas”), US for the purpose of
development of properties for sale. As at 31 December 2015,
the land is under planning and design stage.
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il 18. REt & R A WA= 18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
>
= REBEREE R RINERTBOT ¢ Details of the Group's interests in associates are as follows:
s
[
= 20155 20144
S ARBFT ARMTFT
= 2015 2014
2 RMB’000 RMB’000
DIEEEFE Share of net assets 71,959 20,977
AEERHEHRNEE R AAFBER Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting
s @ period are as follow:
FEERER
REERARE RRELL
Equity interests attributable Proportion of voting power
to the Group held by the Group
e Ak 20155 20145 20155 0148 FEEE
Name of company Place of 2015 2014 2015 2014 Principal activities
establishment
FREREREXBRARA i 50% 50% Mia MiFa WELE
(MERERLR])
Beijing Modern North Star Development Co., Ltd.* ~ PRC 50% 50% note a notea  Property development
(“Beijing MNS")
KEBERE (LR) BRAR ([NETEE]) i 20% @A 20% TER REERRUEERE
Huojianzhiye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* PRC 20% N/A 20% N/A Investment holding and
("HIZY") property development
Sueba Development 142 LP ([Sueba 142]) e 61.4% A Kizth TER  NEEE
Sueba Development 142 LP ( “Sueba 142") Us 61.4% N/A note b N/A Property development

Y GRS NRIMEX EEEMS * The English names of the companies which operate in the PRC are for
Z - WAREF ° reference only and have not been registered.
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18. REEE N TR (&)

Hiat -

(a)

(b)

BEZEREFEERE (XEEWBEQR)
Bt RIEREERHOGBRA A (ML
K1) 2B BEA2014F10510B84E
EERIERGHERIEERTHE (5B
[ERERIERBZE]D  ERERILR
Ry WHERSEEFALIRSA N
& AN B #25,000,0007T & £ B50% %
1 o

RIFIERE R LR E RIERE KIER
MAMERAA - EREHEERE R
RVEESIHEHILRERILREZEH
#oBERE AREHIEREARILR
MEAEAFE)  RlknBEAAEE

BB AT -

M20156 118248 * ARRZ2EHE
/A B]JAMG Houston Venture Fund, LLC
(TAMGHV]) BE=F:TBREEWH
& REERE¥HE  AMGHVIRE
< ¥ 38,000,000 7T (FHERHAR
#51,950,0007T) * I fX ASueba 142
HBERAEA » MSueba 14257EE M
R HBREEDRRE  WHRHERE—IE
RLRAEM ) it o

M2015F12A318 * AMGHVE &
Sueba 142H961.4%/%HE - A A%
Sueba 142 (1EABRERA) 5~
BEERMEE N AR - AMGHVIE 45
s FIEFISueba 142 - KRB EZER
B NEEYSueba 142EBEAFE
N RARHAELEETHAIZES
EHPRRIBIZ * tSueba 1427578 4
RNEEEE QA o BR2015512H31
B ANEBE &G MESueba 14200& A
%8 4N H & 6,400,0003 7T (BBER A A
R#41,559,0007T) °

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to the cooperative development framework agreement
and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the “Beijing
MNS Agreements”) dated 10 October 2014 entered into between
Modern Green Development, a subsidiary of the Company,
and Beijing North Star Company Limited dt RIREZRKMHE
[ 2 A (“North Star”), Beijing MNS was established, in which
Modern Green Development and North Star each contributed
RMB25,000,000 and held 50% equity interests.

Pursuant to the Beijing MNS Agreements and Articles of Association
of Beijing MNS, North Star controls the board of directors of
Beijing MNS and has control over Beijing MNS. The directors of the
Company consider that the Group does have significant influence
over Beijing MNS and it is therefore classified as an associate of the
Group.

On 24 November 2015, AMG Houston Venture Fund, LLC
("AMGHV"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a limited partnership agreement with third parties. Pursuant
to the limited partnership agreement, AMGHYV invested an amount
of US$8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB51,950,000)
and became a limited partner of Sueba 142, a limited partnership
established in Texas and is engaged in development of a parcel of
land located in Texas.

As at 31 December 2015, AMGHV holds 61.4% of equity interests
in Sueba 142. However, due to the limited ability to direct the
relevant activities of Sueba 142 as a limited partner, AMGHV does
not have control or joint control over Sueba 142. The directors
of the Company consider that the Group does have significant
influence over Sueba 142 because it has rights to participate in
the decision making processes of certain types of operational
matters and therefore Sueba 142 is classified as an associate of the
Group. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has the commitment
to contribute further US$6,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB41,559,000) in the capital of Sueba 142.
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AR R R AR EIARN L F A H T R

ﬁ 18. REt&E R AR () 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

>

= BABZ NN EERBE Summarised financial information of material associates

c

>

-

= EHAREEE KSR RN E R Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

§ ZHN T X o T B ER 2 A2 material associates is set out below. The summarised financial

= &N AR IR B B B R S 2 R AR R AO R information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s

; KEZMTEBERMBRNSE - unaudited financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in

E YN these consolidated financial statements.
EtRERILR Beijing MNS
20155 20144
12A31H 12H31H
ARMFr ARMTF T
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MENEE Current assets 2,171,713 1,422,716
ERBEE Non-current assets 4,069 49
UEN=RET Current liabilities 1,487,607 722,945
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 650,000 650,000
BZ2015F HZE2014F
12H31H 12H31H
IEFE IEFE
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ek Revenue = =
FEBBREMEERY Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year (11,645) (180)




18. REEE N TR (&)

BABEZL AN BEENEE (4)

EtRERLER (&)

LB B EMNBERER G B RRP
BRNIERERILEROESFEEY

BE :

ERERILERNEEFE
AEBERIERERIERD
A EEEA L)
THRXBEEN

#55

AEERIERERILRD
FEAEESREE

REER DG
ERERILRFEREE

Rt RERIERNEE

B O B 75 R 3k M =
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)

Beijing MNS (Continued)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in Beijing MNS recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

20155 20144
ARBFT ABRETF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
Net assets of Beijing MNS 38,175 49,820
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
in Beijing MNS 50% 50%
Elimination resulting from downstream
transactions (20,205) (3,933)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
Beijing MNS - 20,977
BZ2015% BZ=E20145
12A31H 12A31H
LLFE IEEFE
ARBEFT AE®F T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
The unrecognised share of loss of
Beijing MNS for the year (1,117) -
20155 20144
AREFT AE®F T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
Cumulative share of loss of Beijing MNS (5,912) (90)
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18. REEE N TR (&)

BABEZL AWM BEENEE (8)

KETE

MEEE
FRBEE
mEBAE
FREBAE

Yo zs
FR M K
Hib 2 EWABE

18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(Continued)

HIZY

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Revenue
Profits and total comprehensive income for
the year

Summarised financial information of material associates

20155 R20144F
12H31H 12A31H
ARB¥FT AREFIT
At At

31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
51,861 =
227,140 -
179,001 -
HZE20155% HE201445
12A31H 12H31H
LFE IFFE

ARE T ARMTF T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
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18. REt&E AR () 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
BABE LGN BEERBE (&) Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)
VSik-EXC D) HJZY (Continued)
LR EERBEERES B RET Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
RN A REESRE the carrying amount of the interest in HJZY recognised in the

consolidated financial statements:
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20154 20144
AR¥Fr ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB'000 RMB’000
NET R ENEEFE Net assets of HJZY 100,000 =
AREERNETEER Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
HEA = 8t ) in HizY 20% =
AEERANETEER Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
HEEERMREE HJZY 20,000 =
SUEBA 142 SUEBA 142
20155 R2014%F
12A31H 12A31H
AR¥FT ARKEFIT
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
mENEE Current assets 92,693 =
ERBNE E Non-current assets - -
mEEE Current liabilities 8,070 _
JFEREEE Non-current liabilities _ _
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ﬁ 18. REFE N RIS (&) 18.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
)§> BABE LGN BEERBE (&) Summarised financial information of material associates
,E; (Continued)
m
S SUEBA 142 (#) SUEBA 142 (Continued)
=
3 BZ2015%  HZE20145F
12A31H 12A31H
LFEE IEFE
ARM T ARMTF T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
W ek Revenue - _
FEHMREMEEWALRZE  Profits and total comprehensive income for
the year 12 -
it B R AR E A S B IBIREK P Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
P2HSueba 142M S EAE YR - the carrying amount of the interest in Sueba 142 recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:
20154 20144
AR¥ T ARBTF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
Sueba 1428 & EFE Net assets of Sueba 142 84,623 =
LB ASueba 142H1E A #E Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
e olnd ] in Sueba 142 61.4% =
INEE A Sueba 14289% A Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
R ARE(E Sueba 142 51,959 -
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EELENEZROESE® 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
EEHER TO JOINT VENTURES
RrEBREECENERABOT Details of the Group’s interests in joint ventures are as follows:

20154 20144
AR¥ETFT ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
RELLEMNRERAR Cost of investment in joint ventures 1,241,329 622,778
DR EE% E1E & Share of post-acquisition losses and
EmermEmMAx other comprehensive expense (58,374) (27,662)
1,182,955 595,116
AELSTEELER Loans to joint ventures 2,261,682 1,545,054
W DGR IR AR AR Less: share of post-acquisition losses
Wrg1EEE that are in excess of costs of the
investments (92,082) (23,471)
2,169,600 1,521,583
meastEELERDEER . EH Loans to joint ventures are unsecured, expected to be recovered
R—FrYE - WENF3%E13% after one year and bear interest at fixed rate ranged from 3% to
(20145 : 3% 213%) & @ & F | & 13% (2014: 3% to 13%) per annum, except for the amounts of
B MR A K ®1,230,022,0007T RMB1,230,022,000 (2014: RMB139,435,000) which are interest
(20144 : AR%139,435,0007T) KI5 free.
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il 19. REELENEREBEE®  19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
= FEHER #@) TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
=
=
,E; AEBRBEMARNEREEREFTS Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the
= wm reporting period are as follows:
o
3 FREREN
§ FEEELRE REELH
v Equity interests attributable Proportion of voting power
to the Group held by the Group
GRS RIS 2015% 20145 2015% 0145 TEER
Name of company Place of establishment 2015 2014 2015 2014 Principal activities
L RBBERELERAT Gk LB 50% LD Widd  peiE
(MHtrBeEER])
Beijing CIFl Modern Development Co., Ltd.* PRC note b 50% note b noteb  Property development

(“Beijing CIFI Modern™)

HEBEELARAT TE 65% 65% &k e MEER
((BEEE])
Nanchang Moma Development Co., Ltd.* PRC 65% 65% note ¢ note ¢ Property development

(“Nanchang Moma")

HENREREHERRERAT TE Hakc 65% (13 e MEER
=)
Nanchang Xinjian Modern PRC note ¢ 65% note ¢ notec  Property development

Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Nanchang Xinjian")

EREL (F55) BRAT &k 51% 51% Htitd Midd  RERRRDZER
([&%5])

Modern Land (HKNo.5) Co., Limited Hong Kong 51% 51% note d noted  Investment holding and
(“HKNo.5") property development

LEREEHEREERAA E 35% 35% HRT) fika  MEEE
(T Ligaksi])

Shanghai Shengming Real Estate PRC 35% 35% note a notea  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Shanghai Shengming”)
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19. AEELENERZRMEAEED®  19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS B

RIELER () TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 3

HE

RAEERBEHRNEREGEREFS Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the

W (&) reporting period are as follows: (Continued)

AEBEAY S

AEBELRE REELA all

Equity interests attributable Proportion of voting power =z

to the Group held by the Group S

RAEH R BE 20155 20145 20155 0148 FBEER 2

Name of company Place of establishment 2015 2014 2015 2014 Principal activities ,:i

Q

>

REERG L EEERAT e 94.95% 60% Kste Mizte  MEEE o

a)

((REEREEER]) 3.

Wuhan Modern Green Development Co., Ltd.* PRC 94.95% 60% note e notee  Property development i

(“Wuhan MGD" ) 6

=

REERLRBLARAT HE 45% 45% Hiita fida  MEEE 3

(MREERLRER]) 3
Wuhan Modern North Star PRC 45% 45% note a notea  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Wuhan MNS™)

CHEEBLERAT e 51% 51% Miita Ffita  NEEE
([Z#ER])
Anhui Moma Development Co., Ltd.* PRC 51% 51% note a notea  Property development

(“Anhui Moma™)

REEEEEERAR PE 65.63% TER s TER  BRARRRMELEE
(THEEE])

Wuhan Moma Development Co., Ltd.* PRC 65.63% N/A note f N/A Investment holding and
( “Wuhan Moma") property development

REEUELARAR ik 51% TER Miztg TER  DEER
(TRAE=ZY])

Shaanxi Zhuoli industrial Co., Ltd.* PRC 51% N/A note g /A~ Property development

(“Shaanxi Zhuoli™)
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il 19. REELENEREBEE®  19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
= FEHER #@) TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
=
=
,E; AEBRBEMARNEREEREFTS Details of each of the Group’s joint ventures at the end of the
= R (4E) reporting period are as follows: (Continued)
o
3 FREREN
§ FEEELRE REELH
v Equity interests attributable Proportion of voting power
to the Group held by the Group
GRS RIS 2015% 20145 2015% 0145 TEER
Name of company Place of establishment 2015 2014 2015 2014 Principal activities
ERSRAREREESERARLA i 80% Tah izt Tam  BARE
(IRRgRR])
J|ax|ng Lvmmtou Equ|ty Investment Fund PRC 80% N/A note h N/A Investment Management

Management Co., Ltd.* ( “Jiaxing LMT")

LRRSUBREREZSERERAT  E W MR ke AR R
(IRERGAE])
Jiaxing Shenlvzongheng Equity Investment PRC 50% N/A note h N/A Investment Management

Fund Management Co., Ltd.*
(“Jiaxing SLZH")

HEERIR (4 5) ERAT B 51% TEH ] TEE REZREMEER
(Tae@%zl)

Nengdonghongye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* PRC 51% N/A note i N/A Investment holding and
(“NDHY") property development

SRR () BRAT E 51% &R K] TER  REBRRYZER
(TEHE%))

Jingshenzhiye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd.* PRC 51% N/A note j N/A Investment holding and
(“Is7Y") property development

B ER RN AIEX EEEMRS % The English names of the companies which operate in the PRC are for
Z - WAEE ° reference only and have not been registered.
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Investments in these joint ventures provide opportunities for
the Group to explore business in property development in the
PRC. Pursuant to relevant contractual agreements and Articles
of Association, the Group exercises joint control over strategic
financial and operating policy decisions of these entities.
Accordingly, these entities are considered as joint ventures of the
Group by the directors of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 21 February 2014 entered into
between Modern Green Development and CIFI Group Co., Ltd.
TBIEEERHD AR QA
established, in which Modern Green Development and CIFI Group
each contributed RMB5,000,000 and held 50% equity interests.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Beijing CIFI Modern,

(“CIFI Group”), Beijing CIFI Modern was

relevant activities of Beijing CIFI Modern require unanimous consent
of both parties.
a joint venture of the Group.

Beijing CIFI Modern is therefore accounted for as

In January 2015, pursuant to the supplementary agreement
entered between the Group and CIFl Group, and the provisions in
the revised Articles of Association of Beijing CIFI Modern, Beijing
CIFI Modern ceased to be a joint venture and became a subsidiary
of the Company. A gain on disposal of interest in joint ventures
of RMB8,198,000 was recognised in the profit or loss in current
period. Details are set out in Note 36.

In March 2014, the Group disposed of its 35% equity interests in
Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian (“Nanchang Companies”)
to an independent third party (“Nanchang Venturer”) and lost
control over the Nanchang Companies as relevant activates of the
Nanchang Companies require unanimous consent from the Group
and the Nanchang Venturer according to relevant agreements
("Nanchang Agreements”) and revised Articles of Association of
the Nanchang Companies. Pursuant to the Nanchang Agreements,
the Nanchang Venturer is entitled to dispose of its 35% equity
interests in Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian to the Group,
or to any third parties, after the expiry of 24 months and 18
months respectively from 17 April 2014, or the time when the
aggregate area of the properties sold reaches 85% of the total
saleable area in the projects (whichever is earlier), at the exercise
prices determined as the fair value of 35% equity interests in
Nanchang Moma and Nanchang Xinjian, respectively.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

In October 2015, the Group acquired 35% of equity interests
in Nanchang Xinjian from the Nanchang Venturer. Accordingly,
Nanchang Xinjian became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. A gain on disposal of interest in joint ventures of
RMB3,218,000 was recognised in the profit or loss in current
period.

In September 2014, the Group entered into a joint venture
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively,
the “JVA") with an independent third party (“HKNo.5 Venturer”).
Pursuant to the JVA, (i) HKNo.5 issued 49 ordinary shares to the
HKNo.5 Venturer at a consideration of HK$49 (equivalent to
approximately RMB38.7) , where the Group’s equity interests in
HKNo.5, along with its indirect equity interests in Modern Land
(HKNo.1) Co., Limited (“HKNo.1", a subsidiary of HKNo.5), Hunan
Modern MOMA Development Co., Ltd. #if &K EMEEEAGR QA
(“Hunan Modern Moma") and Hunan Modern Green Development
Co., Ltd. HEERLFZEE AR AR ("Hunan Modern Green”) (the
"Project Companies”, both subsidiaries of HKNo.1) were diluted
from 100% to 51% accordingly, (i) each of the Company and the
HKNo.5 Venturer provided RMB500,000,000 as shareholder loans
(the “Company Shareholder Loan” and the “HKNo.5 Venturer
Shareholder Loan”, respectively) to HKNo.5 for the purposes of
developing two parcels of land in Changsha, Hunan province held
by the Project Companies, (iii) HKNo.5 pledged its entire equity
interests in HKNo.1 and HKNo.1 pledged its entire equity interests
in the Project Companies to the HKNo.5 Venturer, as securities to
the HKNo.5 Venturer Shareholder Loan, (iv) the Company provided
a guarantee to the HKNo.5 Venturer for the HKNo.5 Venturer
Shareholder Loan, and (v) the Company and the HKNo.5 Venturer
are entitled to purchase the entire equity interests in HKNo.5 at any
time at the exercise prices determined as the fair value of equity
interests in HKNo.5.

Pursuant to the JVA and revised Articles of Association of HKNo.5,
relevant activities of HKNo.5 require unanimous consent of its
board of directors appointed by both the Company and the HKNo.5
Venturer. The Group therefore lost control over HKNo.5, HKNo.1
and Project Companies, and HKNo.5 became a joint venture of the
Group.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

In August 2014, the Group entered into a cooperative framework
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the
“"Wuhan MGD Agreements”) with Ningbo Yifangzhanda Investment
LLP ERm A RERESEEE (BR&E&R) ("Ningbo YFZD”) and
Shenzhen Pingan Dahua Huitong Wealth Management #¥IIF%
AEEBHEEIRAMR A A (“Shenzhen Pingan”), independent
third parties. Pursuant to the Wuhan MGD Agreements, (i) the
Group disposed of its 40% and 5% equity interest in Wuhan
MGD to Ningbo YFZD and Shenzhen Pingan for considerations
of RMB80,000,000 and RMB10,000,000, respectively, with
the remaining 55% equity interests held by Modern Green
Development, (ii) Shenzhen Pingan provided a loan amounted
to RMB790,000,000 (the “Wuhan MGD Loan”) to Wuhan MGD
for the purpose of developing a parcel of land held by Wuhan
MGD located at Wuhan, Hubei province, (iii) Wuhan MGD and
a subsidiary of the Group pledged their project land use rights
to Shenzhen Pingan as securities of the Wuhan MGD Loan, (iv)
Modern Green Development pledged its 55% equity interests in
Wuhan MGD and Ningbo YFZD pledged its 40% equity interests
in Wuhan MGD to Shenzhen Pingan as securities of the Wuhan
MGD Loan, (v) Modern Green Development provided a guarantee
to Shenzhen Pingan for the obligation of Wuhan MGD, and (vi)
Shenzhen Pingan is entitled to dispose of its equity interest in
Wuhan MGD to Modern Green Development at a consideration of
RMB10,000,000 in two years.

Pursuant to the Wuhan MGD Agreements and revised Articles of
Association of Wuhan MGD, relevant activities of Wuhan MGD
require unanimous consent of the board of directors, which
comprise directors appointed by Modern Green Development,
Ningbo YFZD and Shenzhen Pingan. Thus, Wuhan MGD is
accounted as a joint venture of the Group.

As the Group is a limited partner in Wuxi Zhongjiekong Green
Carbon Investment Center LLP #E&HHRENIEGREEREP L (B
[RA%) in which invested in Ningbo YFZD, the Group accounted
for its effective interest in Wuhan MGD, by taking into account its
respective interest through the investment in Ningbo YFZD and its
direct interest held in Wuhan MGD together. Thus, the respective
investment previously included in available-for-sale investments was
reclassified to interests in joint ventures in 2015.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

In March 2015, the Group entered into a cooperative framework
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively,
the “Wuhan Moma Agreements”) with Shanghai International
Trust Co., Ltd. EBBEBEFEHAMR A A (“Shanghai Trust”), Cura
Investment Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. /8RR E
B ABMR AR (“Cura Investment”) and Shanghai San Sheng
Hong Ye Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. E/E=mER%EKRE (£EH)
AREMEAA ("SSHY”), independent third parties. Pursuant to
the Wuhan Moma Agreements, (i) Shanghai Trust set up a trust
scheme for property development of Shanghai Minhang Project,
which was developed by Shanghai Mantingchun Development
Co., Ltd. E/BMEFEXHBR AR (“Shanghai MTC”), a subsidiary
of Wuhan Moma. Under the trust scheme, Modern Green
Development and Cura Investment contributed RMB320,000,000
and RMB80,000,000 respectively as equity investments to the
trust scheme, being contributed to Wuhan Moma. Shanghai Trust
provided no more than RMB1,200,000,000 as trust loan (“Trust
Loan”) to Shanghai MTC, (i) Modern Green Development and
Cura Investment contributed RMB319,100,000 and RMB900,000
respectively, then the capital of Wuhan Moma increased from
RMB100,000,000, which was originally contributed by Modern
Green Development, to RMB820,000,000. The Group's effective
interest in Wuhan Moma, by taking into account its respective
interest through the investment in trust scheme and its direct
interest held in Wuhan Moma together, were diluted from 100%
to 90.13% accordingly, (iii) Wuhan Moma pledged its entire equity
interests in Shanghai MTC and Shanghai MTC pledged its land
use right of the project land to Shanghai Trust as securities to the
Trust Loan, (iv) Modern Green Development and SSHY provided
guarantee to Shanghai Trust for the Trust Loan.

Pursuant to the Wuhan Moma Agreements and revised Articles of
Association of Wuhan Moma, relevant business activities of Wuhan
Moma require unanimous consent of the board of directors, which
comprise directors appointed by Modern Green Development,
Shanghai Trust, and Cura Investment. The Group therefore lost
control over Wuhan Moma, and Wuhan Moma became a joint
venture of the Group.

In September 2015, the Group disposed 24.5% of equity interests
in Wuhan Moma to an independent third party in consideration
of RMB200,900,000. Accordingly, the equity interests in Wuhan
Moma held by the Group further decreased from 90.13% to
65.63%. After the disposal, Wuhan Moma remains as a joint
venture of the Group.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(9)

In August 2015, Shengengzhiye Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. &
PHEEREEER)ER QA (“SGZY", a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) entered into a cooperative framework agreement
and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the “Zhuoli
Agreements”) with independent third parties. Pursuant to the
Zhuoli Agreements, SGZY agrees (i) to acquire 51% equity interests
in Shaanxi Zhuoli, a company engaged in developing a parcel
of land located in Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province, with a consideration
of RMB10,200,000; (ii) to provide a shareholder loan of
RMB200,000,000 to Shaanxi Zhuoli, among which an aggregate of
RMB100,000,000 has been provided by SGZY as at 31 December
2015 and the shareholder loan is unsecured, interest-free and has
no fixed terms of repayment; and (iii) SGZY is entitled to 60%
of net profits of Shaanxi Zhuoli. As at 31 December 2015, the
Group had a total commitment of RMB100,000,000 to provide
shareholder loan to Shaanxi Zhuoli.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the board of directors of
Shaanxi Zhuoli consists of directors appointed by the Group and
the independent third party. According to the Zhuoli Agreements
and revised Articles of Association of Shaanxi Zhuoli, relevant
business activities require unanimous consent of all directors.
Therefore, Shaanxi Zhuoli is accounted for as a joint venture of the
Group.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h)

In July 2015, Beijing Modern Green Investment Fund Management
Co, ltd. ERERGEREESEEARAA ("MG Fund
Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a cooperative framework agreement (the “Fund
Agreement”) with Beijing Shine Asset Management Co., Ltd. it
REMEEEEAEMRAGT (“Beijing Shine”), an independent third
party, based on which, a series of limited companies and limited
partnerships (collectively, the “Fund”) were established. Jiaxing LMT
and Jiaxing SLZH, both jointly controlled by MG Fund Management
and Beijing Shine, act as general partners and are fully in charge of
operations of the Fund. Pursuant to the Fund Agreement, targeted
capital of the Fund is amounted to RMB1,001,000,000.

During the year, capital of RMB227,083,000 was injected into
the Fund by the Group, Beijing Shine and other independent
third parties whom are limited partners of the Fund. The paid-
in capital was then invested into two entities: (i) an amount of
RMB63,000,000 was injected into Yilijingshen Investment (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. BABBEEGER)BR AR ("YLIS”), a subsidiary of
the Company, as a capital contribution of RMB3,000,000 and
shareholder loan of RMB60,000,000 respectively, representing
30% non-controlling equity interest in YLJS; (ii) an amount
of RMB160,000,000, comprising capital contribution of
RMB80,000,000 and shareholder loan of RMB80,000,000, was
injected into HJZY, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Jiaxing
Lvxin Investment Fund LLPREGEREREESEBEXR(ARA
%) (“Jiaxing Lvxin"), to subscribe for 80% equity interest in HJZY.
As a result, the Group’s equity interests in HJZY decreased from
100% to 20% and HJZY became the Group’s associate. Pursuant to
the investment agreement of the project, Jiaxing Lvxin is entitled to
dispose of its interest in HJZY to the Group or other third parties,
after the expiry of a three-year period from 30 November 2015, or
the time when the aggregate area of the properties sold reaches
80% of the total saleable area in the project.

YLJS and HJZY have subsequently invested into two project
companies separately, which hold parcels of land located in Suzhou
and Hefei for property development.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

In October 2015, Modern Green Development, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a cooperative development
agreement and related supplementary agreements (collectively, the
“NDHY Agreements”) with Oriental Bangxinshengshi Investment
Fund Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. B 5 BEHE IR EE S EE(IL
R)EMR AR (“Oriental BX”, an independent third party). Pursuant
to the NDHY Agreements, Modern Green Development transferred
49% of equity interests in NDHY to Oriental BX. According to
Articles of Association of NDHY upon completion of the transfer,
relevant business activities of NDHY require unanimous consent of
the board of directors, which comprise directors appointed by both
the Group and Oriental BX. The Group therefore lost control over
NDHY, and NDHY is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

Following the disposal, NDHY entered into an agreement with
independent third parties to acquire entire equity interests in
Changsha Pengyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. & W5
B ERIZEAFR QA (“Changsha Pengyue”), a project company
engaged in development of a parcel of land located in Changsha,
Hunan Province, at cash consideration of a fixed amount of
approximately RMB1,461,410,000 and a floating amount to be
determined in the future. As at 31 December 2015, an aggregate
consideration of RMB511,493,000 contributed by both the
Group and Oriental BX has been paid in cash as an advance, and
no equity interests of Changsha Pengyue has been transferred.
Pursuant to the NDHY Agreements, the outstanding consideration
will be settled in 2016 through a loan to be obtained by NDHY
from a third party financial institution (the “Third-party Loan”). As
at 31 December 2015, the Third-party Loan was under negotiation
and Modern Green Development provided a guarantee to pay
the balance in case of the Third-party Loan proved insufficient.
Therefore, the Group had a contingent obligation to pay the
remaining amount of RMB949,917,000 in relation to NDHY's
acquisition of Changsha Pengyue as at 31 December 2015.
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19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

()

In September 2015, the Group, transferred 49% of equity interests
in JSZY to Zhejiang Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. 3T T{5#
BEEEAMR AT (“Zhejiang Cinda”, an independent third party.
According to Articles of Association of JSZY, upon completion of
the transfer, relevant activities of JSZY require unanimous consent
of the board of directors, which comprise directors appointed by
both the Group and Zhejiang Cinda. The Group therefore lost
control over JSZY, and JSZY is accounted for as a joint venture of
the Group.

Pursuant to an equity transfer agreement (“Runjin Agreement”)
entered into between JSZY and an independent third party, JSZY
agrees to acquire entire equity interests in Beijing Runjin Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. b ® B FEEREFR QA (“Beijing
Runjin”), a project company holding a parcel of land located in
Beijing, at an estimated consideration of RMB2,400,000,000,
subject to adjustment on the finalised plot ratio of the land
(“Runjin Consideration”). In addition, Zhejiang Cinda provided
an entrusted loan amounted to RMB480,000,000 to JSZY (the
“Cinda Loan"). As securities to the Cinda Loan, Modern Green
Development pledged certain office properties, 51% equity
interests in JSZY and acted as a guarantor.

As at 31 December 2015, an aggregate consideration of
RMB880,000,000 (including the Cinda Loan) contributed by
the Group and Zhejiang Cinda has been paid in cash as an
advance and equity interests of Beijing Runjin has not yet been
transferred. Pursuant to the Runjin Agreement, Modern Green
Development provided a guarantee for JSZY's obligation of paying
the outstanding Runjin Consideration. As at 31 December 2015,
the Group therefore had a total contingent obligation to pay the
remaining amount of RMB1,520,000,000 in relation to the Runjin
Consideration. In addition, Modern Green Development had a
commitment amounted to RMB5,100,000 to contribute into the
capital of JSZY as at 31 December 2015.
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19. AEETENESEREMEE T 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

XEHER (& TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

BAGE T ENWHBERHE Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
ERASESERGE XN B ERE Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
ZHNTX - THMBERRE BZF material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised
G EPERBHEET B REER RN financial information below represents amounts shown in the
KRB EBRTBE RS - joint ventures’ unaudited financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRSs.
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ZEEATEURRENILES 5 The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in
WMERALR © these consolidated financial statements.
2 R Nanchang Moma
M201545 R2014%F
12HA31H 12H31H
AR¥ETFT ARKEFIT
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 1,804,943 1,028,836
FERBEE Non-current assets 25,528 104,655
mEaE Current liabilities 1,265,996 563,472
FERBARE Non-current liabilities 180,000 180,000
NEBERBESRE The above amounts of assets and liabilities
BIETH|&IEA : include the following:
RERBEEED Cash and cash equivalents 408,050 53,302
REBLRAR (TEIEZ5K%  Current financial liabilities (excluding trade
Hoth FEAS RRA B B 1 ) and other payables and provisions) 400,000 250,000
EREeHasE ("eEEZ 5% Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
HoAth FEAS A R B4 ) trade and other payables and provisions) 180,000 180,000
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il 19. REERLENERZRMEESZE 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
= EEHER () TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
=
=
S BADED SN EEIE (1) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
= (Continued)
m
o =
MEER (&)
% = Nanchang Moma (Continued)
N
(=}
v BZE2015%F HE20145
12H31H 12H31H
LFE 5 E
ARMTF T ARETT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
e Revenue 118,051 =
FEBEREMEZEAY Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year (5,545) (13,144)
N EFEEBBERE NSIE : The above loss for the year include the
following:
& N o Depreciation and amortisation 164 33
B YA Interest income 1,003 572
FriSfUg A Income tax income 1,663 4,179
it AR BRI E B A HFB TR sk Fk Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
AT S EERE R 25 BE T (E R to the carrying amount of the interest in Nanchang Moma
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
2015 20144
AR¥TF T ARBTT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEERNEEFE Net assets of Nanchang Moma 384,475 390,019
REBREEEBR Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
WA =R EE) in Nanchang Moma 65% 65%
TR SEERLH Elimination resulting from downstream
transactions (142) -
REBENESEGH Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
EmrREE Nanchang Moma 249,767 253,512
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g

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(Continued)

HKNo.5

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
trade and other payables and provisions)

Revenue
Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year

The above loss for the year include the
following:

Depreciation and amortisation
Interest expense
Income tax income

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

720154 R2014%5
12A31H 12H31H
AR¥Fx ARKEFIT
At At

31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
3,058,151 1,480,846
106,536 20,946
2,030,401 546,829
1,290,000 1,000,000
158,620 63,602
1,290,000 1,000,000
HZE20155F HZE2014%F
12A31BLEEE 12A318ILFE
201545 20144
AR¥Fr AREFIT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
(110,677) (54,296)

95 11

- 9,952

10,378 5,486
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19. AEELENERZRMD

&% 14> 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

FEHER @) TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
BAR L P EME EESPIEE (&) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

&S5 (8)

LB B E MBI B RS Gt R P
RN EBSH R REEHE -

(Continued)

HKNo.5 (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in HKNo.5 recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

20155 20144
AREFT ARBTF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EABSHBEFE Net liabilities of HKNo.5 (155,714) (45,037)
REBNBE BB Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
R H) L] in HKNo.5 51% 51%
TR HEE R Elimination resulting from downstream
transactions (733) -
AREFNEBSIEZNIRMEME  Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
HKNo.5 (80,147) (22,969)
RAERBHEESE Wahan MGD
120155 201445
12A31H 12H31H
ARM T AREFT
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENE E Current assets 1,524,397 1,200,415
FEMBNEE Non-current assets 18,582 9,264
mEatE Current liabilities 1,339,832 225,249
JEMBEE Non-current liabilities - 790,000
NEBEENRBESRE The above amounts of assets and
BIETEIA liabilities include the following:
ReRBFEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 17,564 12,067
mEHERARs (TefE Current financial liabilities (excluding
B 5 N H b R FRA K B ) trade and other payables and provisions) 490,000 -
FErHemas (e Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
B 5 Ko H At FE AT 3R LA R B4 trade and other payables and provisions) = 790,000
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19. AEETENESEREMEE T 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

XEHER (& TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

BAGE T ENWHBEERHE (4) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(Continued)

REEREHREE (8) Wuhan MGD (Continued)

HZE20155F HZE201445F
128318 LLEE 12A31BILEE
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20155 20144
AR¥ T ARBFIT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
g Revenue 260,921 =
FRREM (BE) & Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income
ZHEBA (%) #5E (expense) for the year 8,717 (15,440)
A EEEER (EE) The above profit (loss) for the year include the
BRETHEIE : following:
P& K g Depreciation and amortisation 878 248
LB A Interest income 638 357
FIERREY (A) Income tax expense (income) 2,538 (4,861)
Ll BER 2 RES M HRE T Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
BARARREERSEEXNERERE the carrying amount of the interest in Wuhan MGD recognised
HAR in the consolidated financial statements:
20154 20145
AREFT AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEREEEXENEEEE  Net assets of Wuhan MGD 203,147 194,430
REBMPREZEREELBER  Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
BEREERNLD in Wuhan MGD 94.95% 60%
NEBFBRREZRELE XM  Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
ERMEREE Wuhan MGD 192,888 116,658
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19. AEETENEEREMEE T 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

202

H
= EEHER () TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
=
=
S BADED SN EEIE (1) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
- (Continued)
m
S 3% R Wuhan Moma
—|
2 R2015% F2014%
Eu 12HA31H 12H31H
AR¥For ARMTF T
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 2,011,243 -
EMBEE Non-current assets 2,685 _
nEEaE Current liabilities 800,887 =
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 400,000 _
NEEERBESSE The above amounts of assets and liabilities
BRETHEIE : include the following:
RERBESZEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,853 -
mHSREE (TeEEs R Current financial liabilities (excluding trade
H fih FE SRR LA R B ) and other payables and provisions) 700,000 =
EnEeHas ("eEE8 5% Non-current financial liabilities (excluding
E b RS FRA K B ) trade and other payables and provisions) 400,000 -
BZ2015F HZE2014F
128318 LLFEE 128318 1EFE
20154 20144
AR¥For ARKEFIT
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wz Revenue - -
FEBEBREMEERY Loss and total comprehensive expense
for the year (6,988) -
N EFEEBBeRE N&IE : The above loss for the year include the
following:
s I 2 5 Depreciation and amortisation 68 =
B U A Interest income 720 _
FriS iUz A Income tax income 2,088 =
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TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

(Continued)

Wuhan Moma (Continued)

in the consolidated financial statements:

Net assets of Wuhan Moma

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest

in Wuhan Moma

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
Wuhan Moma

Jszy

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

The above amounts of assets and
liabilities include the following:

Cash and cash equivalents
Current financial liabilities (excluding
trade and other payables and provisions)

19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
the carrying amount of the interest in Wuhan Moma recognised

20154 20144
AR¥Fx ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
813,041 =
65.63% =
533,599 =
M20155 R20144F
12A31H 128318
AR T T ARKEFIT
At At

31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
880,140 =
899,286 =
140 =
480,000 =

Hik
=
Van
(e
i
B
o
-
<
>
Il
<
o

(o}
o

=

>

—
Q

>

o
o
3.
>

g
Q)
°

C
3.
=
()

o

203



& Pt B 35 R 3R M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

) 19. REELEMNEZRBESE D 19.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND LOANS
% (¥EHER B TO JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
=
E BALSEDENEEREE (&) Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
—= (Continued)
m
§ BHEE &) JSZY (Continued)
—|
S BZ2015F  #ZE2014F
= 12A318LFE 12A318LFE
20155 2014%F
AR¥FT ARBTF T
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Was Revenue — _
FEEENMNEMEZEARY Loss and total comprehensive expense for the
year (19,146) =
it B R AR E A B IR IRE P Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
TSR AP 1 50 2 () R 25 BE TE (B 9 BE to the carrying amount of the interest in JSZY recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:
201545 20144
ARB¥FT AREFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BraE XN A EFR Net liabilities of JSZY (19,146) -
REBNIBHE ERNESE Proportion of the Group's ownership interest
Xtz ol it in JSZY 51% -
REBRBHEERN Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
R ERE(E JSzZY (9,764) =
WHEFBEANEELHENEREEE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material
20155 R2014%F
12A31H 12H31H
AR¥FT ARBTF T
At At
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AEBDEEER The Group's share of loss and total
EHEMAXRE comprehensive expense (41,924) (54,257)
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20. AfE E{FHH 2K

21.

22.

MEEBELNIBRAEERTE  [WETE
FRR12%IBR2016F6 A EE - R
ERERTIEEEASHFEHNBZRYD
A R #23,172,000 (2014F : A R ¥
10,239,0007T) ©

AHREERE

FETRE - BRA

ez -

AEEFSENAHEERERLNTENE
TIETERAME - AR ANKE L EES
RERSEZEERNUBEERRABE
EEEMGANE BTN RAEMENETE
T BMARAEREEXFHLTERRT
HHERE -

HRAHEERENSE AR BEMFHE
HEX ARBEERBRTEARFEERAR
BB - BUE R R 3RS H R AR AN HURUR E

e

RBEATHERAEENNES

M2015F12 A3 H M & sriE A& E 5t
EREBAREMRA T ERAENRE
EENE P BRBA X RIS o BR20155F
128318 » AEBEKINIRE L E R
TE o

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

20. ADVANCES TO EMPLOYEES

21.

Unlisted investment at cost

22.

Balances represent advances to employees, which are unsecured,
carry fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and repayable in
June 2016. The balance includes an advance of approximately
RMB23,172,000 (2014: RMB10,239,000) to key management
personnel.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
20154 20144
AR¥T T ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
34,850 114,236

Notes:

The available-for-sale investments held by the Group represent equity
interests in certain unlisted entities located in the PRC. As the Group has
no power to govern or participate the financial operating policies of the
entities so as to obtain benefits from its activities and does not intend
to trade for short-term profit, the directors of the Company designated
these unlisted interests as available-for-sale investments.

The available-for-sale investments are measured at cost less impairment
at the end of both reporting periods because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be reliably measured.

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF LAND
USE RIGHTS

The balance as at 31 December 2015 represented deposits paid
by the Group to PRC government for auction in relation to
acquisition of land use rights for a parcel of land situated in the
PRC. As at 31 December 2015, the land use rights have been
successfully bidden by the Group.
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+ 23. EEBIIE 23. DEFERRED TAXATION
E
>
= INTARFERRANEZRELERIAEE The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
,E; (BE) REZH : recognised and movements thereon during the years:
m
3 RENE nEEEs
a REENH MREE THEER BERAN £IHA
g RiO8 25 BERE &% ERER NEER Hh At
; ARBFT  ARBFT  ARBFT  AREFT  AREFT  ARMFT  AREFT  ARETL
Temporary  Revaluation
Withholding Fair value Land differences on
tax on change on appreciation  on property owner
retained  investment tax sales and occupied
profits properties Tax loss provision  cost of sales properties Others Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

201451818 At 1 January 2014 (29355)  (124093) 4408 249,428 201,156 (12,683) 20272 309,133
K& (M) FA (Hits) (Charge) credit to profit or loss (Note 8) (17,695) (49,850) 7,750 53,026 (48,872) - 18,356 (37,285)
REFEM2ERANG Charge to other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - - (338) - (338)
HERBAR (Hi#37) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) - - (1,448) - - = (1,448)
120145128318 At 31 December 2014 @050  (173943) 10,710 302,454 152,284 (13,021) 38,628 270,062
A2 (M8) A (Hii8) (Charge) credit to profit or loss (Note 8) (20,365) (39,964) 12,696 32,112 (54,065) - (5,122) (74,708)
WERBLR (HH36) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) = = 1,577 (382) 5,460 = (8,298) (1,643)
20155124318 At 31 December 2015 (67.415) (213,907 24,983 334,184 103,679 (13,021) 25,208 193,711
BREMBBIAHRERNER - & FiE For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
EHBEBEENBEED 7P - L TNAR financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
B mREM S AEERIBES DT - been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax

balances for financial reporting purpose:

20154 20144

AR¥FT ARKEFIT

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’'000

EEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 322,481 317,112
EERIEE G Deferred tax liabilities (128,770) (47,050)
193,711 270,062
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EERIE (#)

A 1A A AT BRI R 20 A AR - B3 8 5L
TIRSARBABIEERELERRE
E- AERTEBERBTRNATFEER
5

AR A T B BREIHR -
2016512 A31H
2017412 H31H
2018412 H31H
2019412 H31H
2020412 A31H

I AR AR AT TR & EE
ABABIRERER

RIEFEMEMSHRE - BH2008F 18
1B RPBENEBRQRRIUEF S
RE AR B ZEB N AT o 182015512
A318 Y ARAREHIBHRERF PR
B E QR Rita I EEREEEAR
#%2,696,578,0007T (20145 : A R #
1,881,990,0007T ) {EH IEIEF TE &
A & 7N £ [ Bt 122 ) 5 [0 B BF 2= 5 A B
- BREFEREA A RERS A AT R A5 7K
o

FE

FEREMEL - FH REAM -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
following unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The unrecognised tax losses will expire in
the following years:

2015%F 20144
AR T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
To be expired on:

31 December 2016 13,205 13,205
31 December 2017 12,973 12,973
31 December 2018 6,086 6,086
31 December 2019 16,426 16,426
31 December 2020 78,525 -

Total unused tax losses not recognised as
deferred tax assets 127,215 48,690

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred tax has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB2,696,578,000
(2014: RMB1,881,990,000) as at 31 December 2015, as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

24.INVENTORIES

The inventories are raw materials, consumables and others.
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HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

25. BRPFEMWE

25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

26.

20154 20144
ARE T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN COST
F57 At the beginning of the year 4,213,683 2,936,051
NE Additions 2,457,532 3,780,618
RIERTIES TR Transfer from prepaid lease payment upon
BIEMHERE commencement of construction work 280,480 2,380,367
BT REREFEHEME Transfer to properties held for sale upon
completion (4,713,715) (1,949,847)
W RERT 8 A &) (Bt at36) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36) 1,415,663 143,059
LERB AR (MiF37) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) = (3,076,565)
FiR At the end of the year 3,653,643 4,213,683

BRAPYEHILARFE - BN F405F
F70F 2 -

MR2015%12831H » REBE D #HHE A
R #1,931,266,0007T (20144 : A R
#51,223,378,0007T) MEBER B FEYW
¥ UERAEERGECEERNS
FRITREMEE (FHRHIFE3S) -

20155128310 ' (REEAARE
1,461,092,0007C (2014F : A R ¥
953,688,0007T) M EF A E Y TEE
AR E+ —@MARBRET -

FFHEW

AEEOFEHEMRAURATRA
BURHE -

72015128310 » AEBEEHF A
R #212,174,0007T (20144 : AR ¥
137,352,0007T) BUFS{ESHE M « AR
REAEBERAEPERERNSE TRITH
& (FAMIFE38) ©

26.

The properties under development are located in the PRC with
lease terms ranging from 40 to 70 years.

The Group had pledged properties under development for
sale of RMB1,931,266,000 (2014: RMB1,223,378,000) at 31
December 2015 to secure certain banking and other facilities
granted to the Group and a joint venture as set out in Note 38.

As at 31 December 2015, properties under development
for sale with carrying value of RMB1,461,092,000 (2014:
RMB953,688,000) are expected to be completed after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group's properties held for sale are stated at cost and
situated in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, properties held for sale of
RMB212,174,000 (2014: RMB137,352,000) are pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and a joint
venture as set out in Note 38.
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27. B2 R HMEWRS - € NTE 27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

(NEN

%5 BN E D EERAS RS
R - HHE SN EHREIRE
BB ERR eI - BERE B
2 BAEE45 B R -

AND PREPAYMENTS

Trade receivables mainly are rental receivable and receivable
from sales of properties. Considerations in respect of properties
sold are paid in accordance with the terms of the related sales
and purchase agreements, normally within 45 days from the
agreement date.

20155 20144
AR¥Fr ARKFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI kR Trade receivables, net of allowance 59,800 74,560
) FE2 SR M L B R VE HE V3R Advances to suppliers of
construction materials 43,770 53,182
Hun W kIE - MBS Other receivables, net of allowance 340,221 248,588
FE -+ I E R N L HE R Prepaid LAT and business tax 160,408 322,911
EEERBEEAEESEZRAN  Guarantee deposits for housing provident
ERFR (KfaE) fund loans provided to customers (note) 17,880 9,218
622,079 708,459
Bt - Note:

BEPERBER MBS ERNERTRER
BRREFABEESERSTL (AEKERER
EEAEEHBEERE) NER  UERE
FrRERKEFAESER  BERFPER
MEBMAMEEBEGRETAEE -

Guarantee deposits for housing provident fund loans provided to
customers represent amounts placed with Housing Provident Fund
Management Center, a state-owned organisation responsible for the
operation and management of housing provident fund, to secure
the housing provident fund loans provided to customers and will be
refunded to the Group upon customers obtaining the property individual
ownership certificate.
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27. B REMEWRS - € K%TE 27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

NENE )

UTARZHRERRZERES RWE
HERKFWEBME (BEEF kS
EREMAE) R 5B KKK
DT

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables based
on due date for rental receivables and receivable from sales
of properties, which approximated the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of each of the reporting period:

20154 20144

ARE T AREFT

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

1R Less than 1 year 56,836 74,560
1226 1 - 2 years 2,964 -
59,800 74,560

RBEHR - 2 LAEZREFAR
BEENES D EYMERBUGR - XL
BRE AEEYERZEEHRMNTE
EfE A -

All of the above trade receivables are overdue rental receivables
and receivable from properties sold but not impaired at the end
of the reporting period. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.
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27.EZ R EHEMERR - #EeKkTE
NEZNE )

I RGN RRREZEBNT

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on trade
receivables are set out as follows:

2015 20144

AR¥TFr ARBT T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

F1) At the beginning of the year 8,742 8,045
R R Provided during the year 4,044 697
Jr G SNE Written off during the year (8,731) =
FR At the end of the year 4,055 8,742

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts on other
receivables are set out as follows:

20155 20144

ARMTF T AE®F T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

£ At the beginning of the year 14,800 14,800
RE R D Reversed during the year (24) =
RE R E Written off during the year (11,502) =
FIR At the end of the year 3,274 14,800
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il 28. ZMRHIBESE RIT4AEAKIE 28.RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND
= & CASH
=
= 20154 20144
= ARM T ARBTF T
3 2015 2014
3 RMB"000 RMB’000
(=]
- MEFREIRBE R Guarantee deposits for mortgage loans
ERTFR (Kfata) provided to customers (note a) 57,287 47,843
BREEMERN Guarantee deposits for construction
ERTER (KaEb) of pre-sold properties (note b) 180,775 155,759
IRITIEFMIERTEFR (ffafc)  Guarantee deposits for bank
borrowings (note c) 816,930 942,395
SRR & AR Balance of restricted cash 1,054,992 1,145,997

HtaE - Notes:

212

(a)

A& P IR IR I B FE R T IR IR
RBTOZBEHRE - AERREE TR
PHORIBEREEEPESWEMEALR
BRBIEAS WAL -

R B3 75 B A £ 30 B R E IR R M
MERXM  AEENETYERERA
AAGTENE THENBEEMEMER
B AEREERMENRRTR - ZFK
ERRERFHENT EA i ERERE
BHERBRZ N EHRENERER
FEEREMHNER - ZERTFRS
RIBEABAEY X TR T AR
% o

(a)

(b)

Guarantee deposits for mortgage loans provided to customers
represent restricted cash placed with the banks to secure the
mortgage guarantees provided to customers and will be released
upon customers obtaining the property individual ownership
certificate.

In accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC
local State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place the
proceeds received from pre-sale of properties as guarantee deposits
for construction of properties. The deposits can only be used to pay
for construction fees and purchase of construction materials of the
relevant projects when approvals are obtained from the PRC local
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau. Such guarantee deposits
will be released according to the completion stage of the related
pre-sold properties.
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28. FMRHIBE L RITA SR KE 28.RESTRICTED CASH/BANK BALANCES AND B
€ (&) CASH (Continued) [Ifﬂil‘g
e
HtaE - (&) Notes: (Continued) =5
(0 FAN - AEEIBETRITERILUE (c) During the year, the Group obtained certain bank borrowings %
EIRFRAEER - secured by pledged deposits. L‘)l
all
2015 20144 §
AR#F T AREFT &
2015 2014 =
RMB’000 RMB’'000 %’_
e
BITFEARFEES Cash at bank and in hand 3,575,751 3,943,938 g
B ZRRFIIRE Less: Restricted cash (1,054,992) (1,145,997) 2
o
2,520,759 2,797,941 5
E
RITEBEESEEAERFENR S Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits
R EEEAHAMR & = & A =k A TEY S HiTE held by the Group with an original maturity of three months or
E less.
R2015%F 128318 * 2B FHHFF| The deposits carry variable rates of 0.35% (2014: 0.35%) per
& AE0.35% (20144 : 0.35%) © annum as at 31 December 2015.
2015 12831HMETEBE LIRS Bank balances and cash at 31 December 2015 were mainly
TEPUARBESE  ARBRBEEMIS denominated in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency
BT ERLBEE - AREHEXRR in the international market. The exchange rate of RMB is
FEBNEE BESERFPRHESS determined by the government of the PRC and the remittance
BRI E i 2 INE S Sl MR o of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the government of the PRC.
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+# 2. B REMENT - EWHEL 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS
= KREESTE M RECEIVED AND ACCRUED CHARGES
E
= 20154 20144
= ARM T AREFT
S 2015 2014
N RMB’000 RMB’000
(=]
- B SRR Trade payables 323,052 462,216
JEET R Accrued expenditure on construction 562,717 519,658
B Ui & & Deposits received and receipt in advance
)2 S5 E FAUER from property sales 2,152,162 3,835,135
H{th e ZR 1B Other payables 573,694 224,748
H At e H 18 Other tax payables 106,716 139,199
BAEEEERTFE Accrued interest on senior notes 117,784 112,188
ERTE Accrued payroll 19,920 36,987
HithEst & A Other accrued charges 2,444 23,963
FERTAR B Dividend payable 589 701
A Uk B — SR B A =) 1 FE A+ Amount due to then shareholder
EREAREHRIE (Ffit) arising from acquisition of
a subsidiary (note) - 131,952
3,859,078 5,486,747
Bfet - Note:
ZFOBETEE - B RARERES o The amount was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.
BENERESERT L AIEERR AR Trade payables and accrued expenditure on construction
HEMIBEEBARY - NIREAEESENIE comprise construction costs and other project-related expenses
BEEL NEEDHETERR TIEK which are payable based on project progress measured by the
% URIEAMAENZIENCEHREANES Group. The Group has financial risk management policies in
(fA) - place to ensure that all payables within the credit timeframe, if
any.
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2. ES5 R EHMEMNK - SUWiHF£ 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS B
RETER @) RECEIVED AND ACCRUED CHARGES (continued) o
e
INTARREHKR  BEHRNTIREE The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on
HEARYBREL 4T - invoice date at the end of reporting period:
R?l]
20154 20144 )
ARMTTE — ARMTT 2
2015 2014 s
RMB’000 RMB’000 &
-]
19F A Less than 1 year 264,373 381,178 g
1224 1-2 years 54,355 55,760 =
2FE3F 2-3 years 832 723 =
3FLE Over 3 years 3,492 24,555 2
o
323,052 462,216 =
E
30. Ef4BiE 30. TAXATION PAYABLE
20154 20144
ARMTF T ARBTF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
JE <+ 3 3 (E R4 LAT payable 1,289,361 1,330,118
T FTEE: Income tax payable 550,224 387,200
1,839,585 1,717,318
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216

ﬁ 1. RITRHEMEE 31.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
>
= 20154 20144
= AR¥F ARBFT
= 2015 2014
§ RMB’000 RMB’000
=
—|
§ WITER - K Bank loans, secured 2,341,687 1,480,217
Oy HtnEmR - T Other loans, secured 115,000 315,000
2,456,687 1,795,217
BEARATHRAEE : The borrowings are repayable:
201545 20144
AR¥Fx ARBEFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
1A IR EK Within one year or on demand 1,756,687 1,314,317
ZIE - BRNERB2F More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 632,000 365,900
ZR2FE - BN FBBSE More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 68,000 115,000
2,456,687 1,795,217
B REBBE TN ERNLREAFIE  Less: Amount due within one year shown
under current liabilities (1,756,687) (1,314,317)
14518 2 B RIR Amount due after one year 700,000 480,900
20154 20144
AR¥FT ARKFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEST (K& Analysis of borrowings by currency
— AR E — Denominated in RMB 2,393,050 1,658,900
— UAFETEHE — Denominated in US$ 63,637 =
— B TTEHE — Denominated in HK$ = 136,317
2,456,687 1,795,217
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BTREMEE &)

R E PR ETIRITREMERTIA
BYRE38ATER IR B E (AR o

M2015F12A31MHNEEREZ B E
B A R #631,687,0007T (20144 :
A B #980,217,0007T) » F F| R A F
1.99%%27.2% (2014%F : 1.54% %
8%) » AEBEAMATIRSHREFKAE,
B HBEBEATEBEE ' M20154F
ABBWMEBRERNEN F2.22%=
10.5% (20144 : 2.59%&10%) © A
SERAMAZ AR BEFERRE

RIAEMNRK

RE Z2015F12831B IEEE R - &
AREE ((BREEE] EBEBRA
BA) MASEERER ([EE]) KA
—HAEREERR ([BEREEAA])
{EH A #£20,502,000% 7T (FHER LA A
R #133,134,0007T) (20144 : &)
HE - EUBIREBEB-SBERIEEEE
([EB-55T8)) FEEBFAK L MY EER
HEEEHIEE - EB-551 8 P HEEEE
R1990F % - # AT BB IGINEE
FHEETE RMEH B AN E M R E =
e REBRIGEEEERAR AR
VEBARA (BERARARAAINIE
EEABAEENZENRBAR) 718
EREEHZ [BRAERR]  BR
WEEMELHMEERRERANARZ
BEHB AR MR EME =@
BERIER o

31.

32.

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain bank and other loans as at the end of the reporting
period were secured by the pledge of assets as set out in Note
38.

Borrowings include RMB631,687,000 (2014: RMB980,217,000)
variable rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from
1.99% to 7.2% (2014: 1.54% to 8%) per annum at 31
December 2015, and exposed the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The remaining borrowings are arranged at fixed rate,
the effective interest rate ranged from 2.22% to 10.5% (2014:
2.59% to 10%) per annum at 31 December 2015, and exposed
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

LONG TERM PAYABLE

During the year ended 31 December 2015, an aggregate
of capital contribution (“Contribution”) amounted to
US$20,502,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB133,134,000)
(2014: nil) was made by individual investors (“Immigrant
Investors”), as limited partners, into three limited partnerships
("LPs") established in the US by the Group, for the purpose of
making investment in newly established property development
projects located in the US under the EB-5 Immigrant Investor
Program (“EB-5 Program”). The EB-5 Program was created by
the US Congress in 1990 to stimulate the US economy through
job creation and capital investment by foreign investors.
Pursuant to limited partnership agreements (“LPA"”) entered into
between the Immigrant Investors and the LPs’ general partner,
who is in charge of operations of LPs and is also a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, the capital contribution made by the
Immigrant Investors were to be invested into three property
development projects located in Texas, held by wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group.
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32.

33.

REESR (&)

ERAEBMHEIBIEKAT - WEE
PREBREBER ([ZEBHBRB]) T
ERBREEEENRINES (2
B AAEBEABIEBREETER
BEE MEBBREBRGEMNZHIE
AEBRBREEEAZET - WERE
RBIERFE  AEERBTEEEER
BILH HHEE2EE —FUE-
At - SFEEE S FEM S TN EE R
DASENSRABEAR  UHREH
YEHE 18 B8 B = JE PR AR AE 25 o PA20154F
12A318 ' 28 FIEEE»EALEH
NemaE  2FNEFZERRERE
# o

32. LONG TERM PAYABLE (Continued)

The LPA contains terms that require the Group to return the
Contribution to the Immigrant Investors in the event that the
United States Citizenship and Immigration Services (“USCIS")
denies an initial petition submitted by the Immigrant Investors
(“Petition”), which is beyond the control of both the Group
and the Immigrant Investors. In the event of approval of the
Petition by USCIS (Event of Approval), the Group will have no
obligation to return the Contribution thereafter. The estimated
processing time for the Petition is more than a year. Accordingly,
the Contribution is accounted for as a financial liability of the
Group before the approval or denial of the Petition and will
be transferred to non-controlling interests upon the Event of
Approval. As at 31 December 2015, the entire amount of the
Contribution is classified as financial liability of the Group as all
Petitions were pending for approval by USCIS.

BEERE 33. SENIOR NOTES

20154 20144
AR¥FT ARBTF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

RERFIE R E (A Carrying amount at the beginning of the
period 2,712,020 904,753
T H T RIE S E Net proceeds on the date of issue - 1,819,134
E 5 EE (W) Exchange loss (gain) 104,511 (4,469)
B Interest expenses 254,785 180,586
2155 F B Interest paid (236,660) (187,984)
B S IE I 22 5 R N Transactions cost on modification of terms (32,442) =
W12 A31 BRI AREE Carrying amount at December 31 2,802,214 2,712,020

(a) 2013FEXTEHE

MR2013F11 848 © KN A A & &
& %899.561%M A R E T LM
f£150,000,000% JT (¥ A R ¥&
921,705,0007T) B ERE %K E B
Z ([203F X ZH]) BF
FERKE13.875%  BEEFEL
£+ £2018F11 B4R BIREEE
BEE -

(a) 2013 USD Notes

On 4 November 2013, the Company issued guaranteed
senior fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal
value of US$150,000,000 (approximately RMB921,705,000)
(the “2013 USD Notes”), at 99.561% of the principal
amount of the 2013 USD Notes, which carry fixed interest
of 13.875% per annum (interest payable semi-annually in
arrears) and will be fully repayable at par by 4 November
2018.
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33.B%EE ©)

(a) 2013FEETEE (&)

33. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

(a) 2013 USD Notes (Continued)

03FXRRERFINKESFR Z
FrAERRAR ([#XXF]) £ - B
EREX (FE) BRAAMER
B BARBAREETHEARR
(AREBHBDERKIZH R BRI 12
& - WA B EEEESER - BIF
RERNETAFER LM REHE
RARNEMEEREEES -

R20165F11 848 51 © ANA R A BE
R i2fE R 230 (Mm3EZH) 2013
FETLEE  BEOERSER20134F
ETEBRKRLE100% S H0E A%
BRAEAE (WZEEAZEELAS
1% ERQBENTSE R EG
E2016F11 B4B BB H & (%
S RS B D EF X hN100fE &
R BAALENESHEIRS
%) BEREZE (BTEE) BEEA
MBI RANFIE (F) -

R2016F 11 A48 Al » AR a) AJBE
BB [0 5 % K © ®E35%M)20134F
ENER  BREA2013FETE
BEARSE113.875% N R £ & [
BE (BETEER) MEF RAM
FME (AE)  HERREZITHAR
EBITM2013FETLEB AL BT
& 65% BN EEBERZ A
mAEE - BETAaEERLR T RE
BN EEAE L1608 NEEA -

The 2013 USD Notes are listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore Stock
Exchange”), are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company’s
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 4 November 2016, the Company may
at its option redeem the 2013 USD Notes, in whole but not
in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount
of the 2013 USD Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest
up to 4 November 2016 discounted at a rate equal to
an adjusted treasury rate plus 100 basis points over the
principal amount), as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

At any time prior to 4 November 2016, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the 2013
USD Notes at a redemption price of 113.875% of the
principal amount of the 2013 USD Notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption
date; provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2013 USD Notes originally issued on the
original issue date remains outstanding after each such
redemption and any such redemption takes place within 60
days after the closing of the related equity offering.
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33.B%EE ©)

(a)

(b)

2013FEXTEE (&)

R2016F11 4Bk 218 + KR A
A B B I N 0] 2 20 ek 2152013
FELEE BREAZR IR
AN BMEFTEERAH
(BTEE8) NEGTREREHE
(E) WA T REF1A
ARRBRMI2EABAER) -

A

20164
20174

ARBEFERE  REBOHER
QA BERIIRER R HRE S
REHE -

KAEH X S A TR HI2013F 3K TT
ERERFRNELAE15.18% °

LRI ZFAME  2013F £ T
ZEP2015F12831BHN AR B
8 %9 /158,480,000% 7T (HE E R
%4 N R #:1,029,106,0007T) (2014
£ : 145,047,000 7T HERL
AR #887,543,0007T) » JHiRE —
EBHRAREEE -

2014F AREEE

M2014F1 228 » KRABIEARE
F100% M A RBEITHEMEARY
1,100,000,0007T & ERE £ T L
ZE ([2014F ARBEZHE]) -
FEMERAE11% » BELERN
£2017F1 A28 AR EELZHE
8 o

33. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

(a)

Period

2016
2017

(b)

2013 USD Notes (Continued)

At any time and from time to time on or after 4 November
2016, the Company may redeem the 2013 USD Notes,
in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the
percentage of principal amount set forth below plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date if redeemed during the twelve month
period beginning on 4 November of each of the years
indicated below.

BEE
Redemption Price

106.93750%
103.46875%

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
value of the early redemption options is insignificant at
initial recognition and the end of the reporting period.

The effective interest rate of the 2013 USD Notes is
approximately 15.18% per annum after the adjustment for
transaction costs.

The fair value of the 2013 USD Notes at 31 December 2015
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
US$158,480,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,029,106,000) (2014: US$145,047,000, equivalent to
approximately RMB887,543,000), which is measured at fair
value hierarchy of Level 2.

2014 CNY Notes

On 22 January 2014, the Company issued guaranteed
senior fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal
value of RMB1,100,000,000 (the “2014 CNY Notes”), at
100% of the principal amount of the 2014 CNY Notes,
which carry fixed interest of 11% per annum (interest
payable semi-annually in arrears) and will be fully repayable
at par by 22 January 2017.
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33.B%EE ©)

(b) 2014FE NEHEE (&)

2014F AREZBEREFI M ET -
BEREX (FE) BRARKE
KBS BAARRBREETHER
7] (REH BERK B A BIBRIN)
BR - WABEBEBEIEAER - Al
BRERNBOTAFER L TRE
BERANEMEREEEESS -

201781228 7/1 © N2 & AJBE
R i2iER 230 (MIESLH) 2014
FAREER  BREHESN2014
FAREEE ARG EFH100% 53 10i#
AaE (RER 1)ZSELEERE
KRB %ROBERETEER
B e EEEERIHENMEE
FE GREERNFR2%INR) BB
AeBEMNESB s BEmE)  ERE
E (BT ER B BHET R
RSFE (InAF) -

gt SN+ 72017418228 B - K
NAE) A RER BB &% A2 RE35%
R2014F ARBEE BEHEAR
2014F AR EIEARSEE111% 0
ZEORH (BEReER) BE:T
EAAFE (0F)  ERRELET
HHARERITI2014FE AREEF
REBENZLS%BENEEBE
EEMAREABE - BERABEE
B Ty A FE R AR Z 498 LIE 1260 A N
B o

ARBEFERL  REBOHER
BQRBERIIRERRHE DR
REFARIE

CEER SR AFAERN2014F AR
MR ERERERLYA12.72% °

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

33. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

(b) 2014 CNY Notes (Continued)

The 2014 CNY Notes are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange, are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company’s
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 22 January 2017, the Company may at
its option redeem the 2014 CNY Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2014 CNY Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest
up to maturity date of such senior notes discounted at a
rate equal to 2% per annum over the principal amount),
as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not
including) the redemption date.

In addition, at any time prior to 22 January 2017, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the principal
amount of the 2014 CNY Notes at a redemption price of
111% of the principal amount of the 2014 CNY Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not
including) the redemption date; provided that at least
65% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2014 CNY
Notes originally issued on the original issue date remains
outstanding after each such redemption and any such
redemption takes place within 60 days after the closing of
the related equity offering.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
value of the early redemption options is insignificant at
initial recognition and the end of the reporting period.

The effective interest rate of the 2014 CNY Notes is
approximately 12.72% per annum after the adjustment for
transaction costs.
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33.B%EE ©)

(b) 2014F NRERE (&)

(c)

DO

W\

2R R AT R E - 2014F

R ®& ZE & M20155F12H
BSIBEMARBEHNARARE
1,084,347,0007T (201445 : A B
#1,031,239,000) * JHIRE B
DREBEFE °

2014FE X TEE

MR2014F7A31H © KA Al & &
+ %899.101%A A R E T A M@
fE125,000,000% JT (¥ A R ¥&
770,588,0007T) A EREELE B
Z ([2014F 2T EZE]) BF
FER R EB1275% BEEEL
- 220197 A31BAKREERE
HIEE -

2014 KT EBRTIRFT LT - B
EREXE (PR BRARMEL
B% AARRIBABETHEARR
(BIERBUEARM R FIRIN) &
R WABEBEIEAER  AIE
BAERNBITAFER LT R SE
RANEMERBPE TR -

MR2017F7A31HRBI » NA R AJBE
FrZi2iEm 230 (M3ESLn) 2014
FETEE  BRERSN2014F
ETEEAREFE100% 3 00E &
BREE WZEELEEAS
EH1%RQMBERNASE R RE
Z2017F7A31HEBF B8 (%
HEREHEQEFEMI00MEE
) BRACENEE LIRS
&) EREZE (BTeE) BRAE
HAR T R ARSFE (B ) °

33. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

(b) 2014 CNY Notes (Continued)

(c)

The fair value of the 2014 CNY Notes at 31 December 2015
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
RMB1,084,347,000 (2014: RMB1,031,239,000), which is
measured at fair value hierarchy of Level 2.

2014 USD Notes

On 31 July 2014, the Company issued guaranteed senior
fixed rate notes to the public with aggregate nominal value
of US$125,000,000 (approximately RMB770,588,000) (the
“2014 USD Notes”), at 99.101% of the principal amount of
the 2014 USD Notes, which carry fixed interest of 12.75%
per annum (interest payable semi-annually in arrears) and
will be fully repayable at par by 31 July 2019.

The 2014 USD Notes are listed on the Singapore Stock
Exchange, are senior obligations of Modern Land (China)
Co., Limited, guaranteed by certain of the Company's
existing subsidiaries other than those established under
the laws of the PRC. The guarantees are effectively
subordinated to the other secured obligations of each
guarantor, to the extent of the value of assets serving as
security.

At any time prior to 31 July 2017, the Company may at its
option redeem the 2014 USD Notes, in whole but not in
part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2014 USD Notes plus the applicable premium (which
defined as to the greater of (1) 1% of the principal amount
of such senior notes and (2) the excess of the amount
equivalent to the principal amount and related interest up
to 31 July 2017 discounted at a rate equal to an adjusted
treasury rate plus 100 basis points over the principal
amount), as of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to
(but not including) the redemption date.
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() 2014FEETEE (&)

MR2017F7 831881 - NARAJBE
W fE B 5 2% KN © BE35%MI20144F
ELEE  BREA2014FETLE
BARSE112.75% MEFEERE B
B (ETEE8) MER RARMTF
B (wnA)  ERREZEITRERE
BITR2014F ETLEBEAS RN
&AL65% BN EERBERZIDAM
REE BEMNBH@AERTRIEHE
Rt BAYE IE 1860 H NEEAE -

M2017F7A318B8 2% * KA A
A] B B N BB O] 2 20 28152014
FETLERE  BOEAZER NFIA
SRS BNEFEEBELAH
(BETEEH) METRARMTHE
(nE) (WA TXATR&EMTA
3MEABI12EARERDR) -

A

20174
20184

ARBESERL  EEBEOHER
B QR BERIIRER R HRE S
REFRIE

LERR SR AFAERN2014FETT
EREERERELA13.95% °

K2R FTIRE » 2014FELE
BER2015F12A31HN A A BE
47 £128,146,000% JT (#8 & R %Y
A R #832,129,0007T) (20144 :
114,806,000( 7T * HERH AR
#5702,498,0007T) * JHiLE B4R
NRABERE -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

33. SENIOR NOTES (continued)

(c) 2014 USD Notes (Continued)

Period

2017
2018

At any time prior to 31 July 2017, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the principal amount of the 2014
USD Notes at a redemption price of 112.75% of the
principal amount of the 2014 USD Notes, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption
date; provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2014 USD Notes originally issued on the
original issue date remains outstanding after each such
redemption and any such redemption takes place within 60
days after the closing of the related equity offering.

At any time and from time to time on or after 31 July 2017,
the Company may redeem the 2014 USD Notes, in whole
or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage of
principal amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 31
July of each of the years indicated below.

EEE
Redemption Price

106.3750%
103.1875%

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the fair
value of the early redemption options is insignificant at
initial recognition and the end of the reporting period.

The effective interest rate of the 2014 USD Notes is
approximately 13.95% per annum after the adjustment for
transaction costs.

The fair value of the 2014 USD Notes at 31 December 2015
with reference to the quoted market price available on
the Singapore Stock Exchange amounted to approximately
US$128,146,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB832,129,000) (2014: US$114,806,000, equivalent to
approximately RMB702,498,000), which is measured at fair
value hierarchy of Level 2.
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g 34. [ A 34.SHARE CAPITAL
z
z RHEE o} HER
= T FET AREFT
= Number of
§ shares Amount Equivalent to
: ‘000 USs$'000 RMB’000
(=]
(9]
SHEE0.01E T E Bk Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
AT Authorised:
R2014F1 818K At 1 January 2014 and
2014F12831H 31 December 2014 2,000,000 20,000 123,254
R2015%6 817 BN (Hfita) Increase on 17 June 2015 (note a) 1,000,000 10,000 61,150
20156124318 At 31 December 2015 3,000,000 30,000 184,404
BEITREAR Issued and fully paid:
R2014F1 1B R At 1 January 2014
2014F12A31H and 31 December 2014 1,600,000 16,000 98,610
BT (H17D) Bonus issue of shares (note b) 160,000 1,600 9,861
REERMEETRGD (F7c) Issue of shares on share placement (note c) 320,000 3,200 19,575
TEERE (ffitd) Exercise of share options (note d) 760 8 48
120156128318 At 31 December 2015 2,080,760 20,808 128,094
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (&)

35.

Hiat -

(a) MRIFEMR2015F6F17H R1TH AR A
BRRAFASBANRER AR
7] By 5K E B& AN # 1% 5%1,000,000,000
A% % A% 15+ E20,000,000% T (o
#2,000,000,0000% f% f3) 3 m =
30,000,000% Jt (% 4A3,000,000,000
BRARR)

(b) REM2015F7 A10H 78 B A 4T A% 3
77+ A #£160,000,0000% 4T f% 1% 742015
F6R2SAERAE TRRARNERE —
ARAT AR Y EEXEBEAT ©

(o) REMR2015F7A31H =K M % 5 i
% 4 #£320,000,0000% e & & D 1R &
BRESRHB1.058 T (HERARE
0.8370) BAFRALRABEREE (&2
BOBRBIE=F) RESBHEAMER
T8 % %E #49330,810,000/8 7T (FAE R4
AER#261,036,0007T) °

(d) REZE2015F12A31BILFEER - &
R FRAM1.1458 T GEER G
AR #0.9570) B 175 AR #E760,000
% 3 A% - 484 %8 A870,000/%8 7T (1
LN ARKET19,0007T) © ERE ST
BN BRI A M 742 o

RKEREHE

RIFEATBAR AR - ARFHF
BB ARZAS I —HAMD HBAE
B ERHFURKGTE] - NEEMFE
BERAZAEHRFAREBEENRKEHN
REES  MREUARSBNREE N
MBRARENEEFAFEN —EAD
LAt E - sRAKEREEIME - A%ME
MERRTRREEIFELRE K -

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

35.

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the resolutions passed in the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 17 June 2015, the authorised share
capital of the Company was increased from US$20,000,000
divided into 2,000,000,000 shares to US$30,000,000 divided
into 3,000,000,000 shares by the creation of 1,000,000,000 new
shares.

(b) Pursuant to the bonus issue being completed on 10 July 2015, a
total of 160,000,000 bonus shares were issued on the basis of one
bonus share for every ten existing share as at 25 June 2015.

(c)  Pursuant to the placing of shares being completed on 31 July 2015,
a total of 320,000,000 placing shares were issued to not less than
six investors, all independent third parties, at HK$1.05 (equivalent
to approximately RMBO0.83) per placing share. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$330,810,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB261,036,000) were raised from the placement.

(d) During the year ended 31 December 2015, share options were
exercised to subscribe for 760,000 ordinary shares of the Company
at HK$1.145 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.95) per share, with
the aggregate amount of HK$870,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB719,000). Details of the share options issued during the year
are summarised in Note 42.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’'s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a
defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by the
local municipal government. The Group entities in the PRC
contribute funds which are calculated on a certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.
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36. WEE T B A &) 36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
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ERBEEERARAEEAEEERER
—T—NERIHAR  MEHEEY
H & A R #5,000,0007T 3 # A 4t =8
122 R B50%0 7 - RIFIL R BEE
ROAHBEZERME  AREBEZTE
EGRREETMHEHF=E LR EE
EREEESHRAREEEAE S —HE
B MNEATEBNAEELEAR -
R2015%F  ZMAHAMEZTSR
FREBT @R e: RS ARE
EERZHEERRE - LRBEEER
HEHZERARNEBEXEELAEES
W RBEERNAESREEES
FHHRAEERE - ARAEBEEE
EEMAZEAEMEILRBEE KT
EfliE  HBARRRNKBAR -
0 N 38 5= B Al B 4 45 VE U B BT /BB R Bl T
R A AL R B BR E R HE A 50 % FEIE AR 4

2
zS o

g

BEARBIEPMIETIT LN HRE
KRR EEENE (KERE B
RIIEEAEERN AR ) AI35%8
- KRB A ARS80,500,0007T ° A7
BUREETR - AN AR EFENRER
65%3EMMZE100% @ M EFELIK A
ARARMEZEHBAR - HERAGED
ERRERA I EE ARS,218,0007T
TR E 22015128318 IEFE AR
B ER o

Beijing CIFI Modern was a company established by the Group
and CIFlI Group in 2014, in which both parties contributed
RMB5,000,000 each and held 50% equity interests in Beijing
CIFI Modern. Pursuant to the Articles of Association of Beijing
CIFI Modern, although the Group appointed three out of five
directors in the board, decisions of relevant activities in Beijing
CIFI Modern required unanimous consent of both parties and
therefore was accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.
During 2015, the two parties entered into a supplementary
agreement in relation to the changes in the proceedings in
the board of directors meetings that decisions shall be voted
by majority in the board meetings. The relevant provisions in
the Articles of Association of Beijing CIFI Modern were revised
accordingly. The appointment of all the senior management of
Beijing CIFI Modern are nominated by the Group. As the Group
holds majority of the Board and is able to exercise control over
Beijing CIFI Modern, it becomes a subsidiary of the Company
and CIFl Group became a 50% non-controlling interests of
Beijing CIFI Modern as a result of the deemed acquisition of
subsidiary.

Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the Company
and AVIC Trust, the Company acquired 35% equity interests
in Nanchang Xinjian, a company engaged in development
of a parcel of land located at Nanchang, Jiangxi Province, at
consideration of RMB80,500,000. Upon completion of the
acquisition, the Company’s equity interests in Nanchang Xinjian
increased from 65% to 100% and Nanchang Xinjian became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. A gain on disposal of
interests in joint ventures of RMB3,218,000 was recognised in
the profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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36. WiEMEB LR (@) 36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
IEREEE R RE S ENUE R B8 The net assets of Beijing CIFl Modern and Nanchang Xinjian at
BEFENT : the date of acquisition are as follows:

=
BEER EEHE a5t

ARETFIT AREFT ARETT
Beijing Nanchang

CIFI Modern Xinjian Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
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HUREE B BB 1Y Assets acquired and liabilities
EEREANESE: recognised at the date of
acquisition:
W - RE MR Property, plant and equipment 71 19 90
BREPEEYE Properties under development for sale 914,891 500,772 1,415,663
BEFIEE E Deferred tax assets - 7,552 7,552
BT HR Prepaid income tax = 17,211 17,211
E BN EBAR Other receivables and prepayment = 54,315 54,315
RITHEBR RIS Bank balances and cash 20,274 65,379 85,653
EEFEAE Deferred tax liabilities (5,465) (3,730) (9,195)
e IR Taxation payable (13) (15,522) (15,535)
B REMERMR Trade and other payables, deposits
WENETER received and accrued charges (908,310) (396,226) (1,304,536)
WIBNEEFE Net assets acquired 21,448 229,770 251,218
EEMNEEDERERS Interests in joint venture transferred (10,724)  (149,270)  (159,994)
R ERE Non-controlling interests
(EFBEZENRMN50%ER) (50% in Beijing CIFI Modern) (10,724) = (10,724)
DREZFTHENRE Total consideration satisfied by cash = (80,500) (80,500)
KEBELENFEERSRE ! Net cash outflow arising on
acquisition:
[mERE Cash paid - (80,500) (80,500)
BUEEIRITTESR LIRS Bank balances and cash acquired 20,274 65,379 85,653
20,274 (15,121) 5,153
HE2015F12A31BLFE - B WE The subsidiaries acquired did not contribute any significant
B BT B8 A RN M B AN & Bl 4E (i EE K results to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.
XEER -
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37. HEME A T 37.DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
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R20154F3 8 + B & R ET6E K& 5l B B8
HRETEMRIELE - AEBLXEHR
BTSRRI o FHIBEKIEE19(f) ©

M201553H9H K%20155F4 8168 - A&
B 5 R ARE ST kA RK1,000,000
THEFHRERVHOBBELBE X
(&%) BRAR - 8R% B EHF&
CEEERARREWE R RN 23 HE

N
ZS o
g

R20155F 108 - AEE2EMBRARE
RETREE X E RAEBEEM49%MET
HABE MAEEREHETREN
THHE o FEIBERAHIEET9() ©

R2015%9H  AEEE2EMBARE
REBEEXRERIFHERNA9%BAET
HITEE - MARBRELHFEREEN
PEIRE o FRIBEMIEE19() ©

M2015F 11 H - AERETEE R Kz
BEEIMEATMEAMBERELE -
AEBRELHNETEEREHIE - F15
BAKIEE19(h) °

In March 2015, the Group lost control over Wuhan Moma
as a result of deemed disposal arose from capital injection
contributed by Modern Green Development and Cura
Investment. Details are set out in Note 19(f).

On 9 March 2015 and 16 April 2015, the Group disposed 100%
interest of China Host Mobile Internet Green Real Estate (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited, Modern Mobile Internet Green Real Estate
Co., Limited and its subsidiaries to a company controlled by
Mr. Zhang Lei, at HK$1 and RMB1,000,000 as consideration
respectively.

In October 2015, Modern Green Development, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, transferred 49% of equity interests in
NDHY to Oriental BX and the Group lost control over NDHY.
Details are set out in Note 19().

In September 2015, Modern Green Development, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, transferred 49% of
equity interests in JSZY to Zhejiang Cinda and the Group lost
control over JSZY. Details are set out in Note 19(j).

In November 2015, the Group lost control over HJZY, as a result
of deemed disposal arose from increased registered capital
contributed by Modern Green Development and Jiaxing Lvxin.
Details are set out in Note 19(h).



B O B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

37. HEMEB LT (@) 37. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) B
=
(e
20155 20144 g
ARETFT ARBT T B
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000 af
S
REEEENEER Analysis of assets and liabilities over E“
BB which control was lost: =
ME - BB NMERE Property, plant and equipment - 1,639 %)
RIEFIAE E Deferred tax assets = 1,448 %
FEMEERE Prepaid lease payment 347,000 = 2
BRPGEYE Property under development for sale - 3,076,565 2
E b Uk 31 K FE A 3R Other receivables and prepayments 219,211 1,072,296 =
FEU AR £ B F 18 Amounts due from the Group 10,296 35,857 S
RITHEB LIRS Bank balances and cash 411,036 37,743 @
B NREMEMNR Trade and other payables - (1,060,991) 0
FE AN & [ FR0E Amounts due to the Group (237,233) (2,363,841) 3
FER I8 Taxation payable (16) _ 5
=
0]
HEMNEEFE Net assets disposed of 750,294 800,716 o
2WNRE: Consideration received:
BlRE Cash received 1,000 300,500
Bl EERE Total consideration received 1,000 300,500
HENE QRS : Gain on disposal of subsidiaries:
HEREB Cash consideration 1,000 300,500
B 8- FRIE R > Other payables decreased 306 =
HENEEFE Net assets disposed of (750,294) (800,716)
NS E PRI 2 The Group's remaining interests and
(DBAEREETEREL) classified as interests in joint ventures 739,079 531,730
R E R RS K The Group's remaining interests and
DEAREE QAR classified as interests in an associate 10,000 =
HENBARKREMHGT=E Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
TR (DBAR re-measurement of remaining interests
aEb ) = classified as interests in joint ventures 91 31,514
HEELEWBESRATEH Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
HEREB Cash consideration 1,000 300,500
o HEMNRITESBKEIRS Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (411,036) (37,743)
(410,036) 262,757
FREME AR AREEBZE20155F12 A The subsidiaries disposed of did not have significant contribution
BMTHIEFERE BN ERRERENE to the Group's revenue, profits and cash flow during the year
BAINER o ended 31 December 2015.
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il 38. HHEE 38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
)§> RBEMRBERUTEE - ERASE The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking
,E; EEERNE TRIOREMEEARMAE and other facilities granted to the Group and mortgage loans
= MEBRERIZBERNER granted to buyers of sold properties at the end of reporting
3 period:
X
N
2 20155 20144
AR® T ARBT T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
KEYE Investment properties 291,141 388,556
R Properties under development 1,931,266 1,223,378
EIRHEYE Properties held for sale 212,174 137,352
Y - BE KR Property, plant and equipment 287,590 369,384
AN ENGI ) Equity interests in a subsidiary 96,751 -
RITIF X Bank deposits 1,054,992 1,145,997
EFERHEELES Guarantee deposits for housing provident
BERERTER fund loans provided to customers 17,880 9,218
3,891,794 3,273,885
RBEMR - UTEEDHER - UK The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking and
T —FEBE AR REHEERERN other facilities granted to an associate and joint ventures at the
ATHRITREAMESE end of reporting period:
2015% 20144
AR¥F AE®F T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
B X B Y B AEE Equity interests in an associate - 20,977
NN e Equity interests in joint ventures 197,324 552,513
197,324 573,490
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39. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

commitments:

Contracted but not provided for in the
consolidated financial statements:
— Expenditure in respect of properties
under development
— Expenditure in respect of property,
plant and equipment
— Expenditure in respect of acquisition
of land use rights
— Expenditure in respect of capital
contribution to an associate (Note 18(b))
— Expenditure in respect of capital
contribution to a joint
venture (Note 19(j))
— Expenditure in respect of providing
shareholder loan to a joint
venture (Note 19(g))

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following

20155 20144
AR¥T T ARBFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
863,806 1,210,143
24,010 591
1,481,650 =
41,559 =
5,100 =
100,000 =
2,516,125 1,210,734
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40. EREE

(a)

(b)

(c)

AEERE TROREWRERE
RHUER  ZFRBRESRAX
SEMEBERAFTLNRIBER °
RBERNG  HZFEFER
BIBHR - AKBEARRRRTE
EREFBRORBEFERHER
MEREMER - B - AREA
REEEMMENLEEMERE - £
REIR BB ZRBEEFR L A He
At YRERBMGERNEERR
BR - ARRIEFERR  RYAHE
R EREHNNAALEEBMTR
B o s RAREHIRER - #iK
RERAVERERE REZLEY
R -

77

RBEBRRNREZRRSBD

40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage

facilities granted by certain banks in connection with the
mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there
is default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with accrued interests thereon and any
penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to banks. The
Group is then entitled to take over the legal title of the
related properties. The guarantee period commences from
the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends
after the buyer obtained the individual property ownership
certificate. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the fair value of guarantee contracts is insignificant at initial
recognition. Also, no provision for the guarantee contracts
at the end of the reporting period is recognised as the
default risk is low.

The amounts of the outstanding guarantees given to banks

™ for mortgage facilities at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

20155 20144

AREF T AERETF T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

LR ER Mortgage guarantees 3,460,036 2,680,397

M2015F12 8318 » REE 5 &=
A E #2620,000,0007T (2014
& AR#¥2,949,500,0007T) H)—
MBE AR RZHAEDENRT
ERREMERIREER - RRE
HFELEH  ARFESFEARED
AR IR 2 SRR A A S B /E L &R
R AEBVERZSERERE
ABEEUA o

» & E2015F12A8318 It & &
W AEBHRAEBAEE B ERE
BSOS E W E QA RA
E=FHRTER - EEFBEENH
FE19() R MTEE19() °

(b) The Group provided guarantees to bank loans and other

(c)

loans of an associate and joint ventures amounting
to RMB2,620,000,000 at 31 December 2015 (2014:
RMB2,949,500,000). At the end of the reporting period
date, the directors of the Company do not consider it
probable that claims will be made against the Group under
these guarantees. The Group has not recognised any
deferred income in respect of these guarantees.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
provided guarantees to third parties in relation to
considerations in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries by
NDHY and JSZY, both joint ventures of the Group. Details
are set out in Note 19(i) and Note 19(j).
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41, REHERIE
AEBESRHBAA

RE 20155128318 I FEHERK
YIRS WAL B AREAS5,068,0007T
(20144 : AR#36,488,0007T) ° A&
ERERHASHNIMER—FE_TF
NEEBUNBETEHEFEBENES -

RIBEMAK - AEEDERSHN T X
AR ERETH ¢

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

41. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT

The Group as a lessor

Property rental income recognised during the year ended 31
December 2015 amounted to approximately RMB45,068,000
(2014: RMB36,488,000). The properties held by the Group for
rental purpose have committed tenants from one year to twenty
years with fixed rental.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments
as follows:

20155 20144

ARMTF T AE®F T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 54,826 27,019
F_HEEERF (BIEEEWS) In the second to fifth year inclusive 140,600 53,555
& After five years 94,873 37,673
290,299 118,247

42. LR R R 5

BIEARDNFR2013FE6 148 AR E
REERTE) ([RERRAERTS))  ARRES
g([EFgl) IMAEREERIE
BIEARBARNBRD - EARSHEAN
E BN BB SUEEBB AR E S 2EE o

42.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 14 June 2013, the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) may grant options
to eligible employees to subscribe for shares in the Company,
as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.
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12. LIRS (&) 42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
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M2015F 12318 « B IE 5T & A 4 3%
THBEFESER LD EITRANE
B AERARBEBEITRHDONI0S,  HE
7208,076,0000% A% 15 (2014412 A31
B : 160,000,000f% % 5) - RE =& I
BEIEER2ME B B - R8I T &4
SHEEN RS ER NEBAREH B8
BEITRMEI % - FHE R 17,600,0008%
A% (20144 : 16,000,0008% %17 ) - B&
BENTEEZLER NINRSE
()R IZ I B A R AT B RERATFRA
RERHEHRTE  (bRBEEE T H
HARTS(E & ¥ BB R AT & A 3RE R TR
AARIRHEHFHRME  ROKRHG
HfE -

MR2014F9H48 » AARIAMBEER
NEEE R KA 25,700,000 B8 B i
LAREE A $£25,700,0008% A A BRI 5
HERARRNEHBHEEITROH
1.61% °

R2015F7A10H » ARARIAMEBES
E+R%EERTA $£60,100,00017 &
% LA SR B8 A $£60,100,000/% & 2 7] i%
B HERAAFTRRE BHPEEITR
D#I3.41% o

R2015%F7H108 » AARME+T=-%1E
8 &% H A& #£45,500,00017 B R #E LA 2
& & £45,500,0000% & A 7] % {5 48
ERADRRELBHEHETRS Y
2.59% o

(Continued)

The total number of securities available for issue under the
scheme together with the percentage of the issued share capital
that it represents is 10% of outstanding shares of the Company
in issue, representing 208,076,000 shares as of 31 December
2015 (31 December 2014: 160,000,000). The maximum
entitlement of each participant under the scheme in any 12
month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue as of the date of grant, representing 17,600,000
shares (2014: 16,000,000). The exercise price of the options
shall be at least the higher of:(a) the official closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (b) the average of
the official closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c)
the nominal value of a share.

On 4 September 2014, the Company granted an aggregate
of 25,700,000 options to two directors and six employees
to subscribe for an aggregate of 25,700,000 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 1.61% of the shares
issued by the Company as at the date of grant.

On 10 July 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
60,100,000 options to two directors and fifteen Employees
to subscribe for an aggregate of 60,100,000 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 3.41% of the shares
issued by the Company as at the date of grant.

On 10 July 2015, the Company granted an aggregate of
45,500,000 options to twelve employees to subscribe for an
aggregate of 45,500,000 shares in the Company, representing
approximately 2.59% of the shares issued by the Company as at
the date of grant.
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2. LR NRNRE &)

R2015%12 8318 ' REFEHERE
WADR M ARITER BT S R AR5
21 B 4A130,110,0000% (20144912 A31
B : 25,700,0000%) * {§ X AR % B
2 %17 I D H96.25% (2014412 A 31
H:161%) EWEAARBRRELE
HHOET - BB ST FREREMS R
KA 1D 4R BTN S B IR AR A B R (E Al B B
BEITRMA10% ° £330 AR B IR
EEREEAET RERM—FEXRTR
A e TR EARNBRERY RHE
BB TFREITRMBEE TESBBEAR
AR B E BTN % °

ERBEENFBOT

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

At 31 December 2015, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was 130,110,000 (31 December 2014: 25,700,000),
representing 6.25% (31 December 2014: 1.61%) of the shares
of the Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be
issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The details of the options granted are as follows:
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BixEHE SREH BRESDH
Number of Contractual life
options  Vesting period of options
ERTEFNERE
Share options granted to directors
7201459430 13,900,000 &K BHZE201559A3F HfE25% 2F
On 3 September 2014 25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2015 2 years
Kt B HZ201659 A3H Hif25% 3F
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2016 3 years
R BEZE201749A38 HBH25% 45
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2017 4 years
K BEZE201849 A3R Hf25% 5%
25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2018 5 years
20156 7R 108A &l 4,400,000 i EEI33% 15
On 10 July 2015 Plan A 33% the date of grant 1 year
Bt B#Z201657A10833% 2F
33% from the date of grant to 10 July 2016 2 years
R BEZE201767A10H34% 3F
34% from the date of grant to 10 July 2017 3 years
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2. LB NERNRE &)

ERTEENERE

Share options granted to employees
7201449 A3H
On 3 September 2014

201557 4108 A2
On 10 July 2015 Plan A

2015678 10HB5 &
On 10 July 2015 Plan B

TR RS

Total share options

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
BREHE HBEH
Number of

options  Vesting period

11,800,000

55,700,000

45,500,000

131,300,000

R2015F12A31B 7] T17{F
Exercisable at 31 December 2015

R2016F12 A31BA] F17{¢
Exercisable at 31 December 2016

EEREEBANAEARARENSE TH
B IR IRIT A AITT (L B A A -

37,633,000

37,633,000

Kt B HZ201549 A3 H BifE25%

25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2015
R BEZE20166F9 A3R HRH25%

25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2016
K BEZE201749A3R BfH25%

25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2017
Kt B HZ201849 A3 H #ifE25%

25% from the date of grant to 3 September 2018
K BE33%

33% the date of grant

R BEZE201657A10H33%

33% from the date of grant to 10 July 2016

R BHE201767A10H34%

34% from the date of grant to 10 July 2017

K BE#25%

25% the date of grant

KB HZE2015612A31825%

25% from the date of grant to 31 December 2015
R BEZE201666A30H25%

25% from the date of grant to 30 June 2016

R BHE2017F6A30H10%

10% from the date of grant to 30 June 2017

R BEZE201866A30H15%

15% from the date of grant to 30 June 2018

ERES N
Contractual life
of options

25

2 years
3

3 years
45

4 years
54

5 years
168

1 year
2F

2 years
3

3 years
0.5%
0.5 year
16

1 years
2F

2 years
3F

3 years
4%

4 years

The exercise of the Share Options by the eligible employees is
conditional upon the fulfilment of certain financial indicators as
set out by the Company.
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AABREBEBERETERNES REMRE
EREBERMOBAE  FIBMOT

A2014F9A3HC BB RAE

Kt A8

Date of grant

% 20149 H4R
Directors 4 September 2014
B8 201459A4R
Employees 4 September 2014

A2015F7810HEH HVEREA
HE |

Xt A H

Date of grant

5= 201547 /108
Directors 10 July 2015
EE& 2015478108
Employees 10 July 2015
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42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The Company granted options to subscribe shares to directors
and other employees under the Share Option Scheme with the
following details:

Share options granted on 3 September 2014

A TER DM RREE

Maximum Exercisable Shares

M20154F  R2016F  M2017F  M2018F  M2019F ERM
9A3H 9A3H 9A3H 9A3H 9A3R EBRELH
At At At At At Total
3 September 3 September 3 September 3 September 3 September shares
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 granted

i
Nil 3,475,000 3,475,000 3,475,000 3,475,000 13,900,000

i
Nil 2,950,000 2,950,000 2,950,000 2,950,000 11,800,000
6,425,000 6,425,000 6,425,000 6,425,000 25,700,000

Share options granted on 10 July 2015 Plan A

AR REEE

Maximum Exercisable Shares

20165 20174 201845 [RES
7R10R 7R10R 7R10H B EARR
At At At Total

10 July 10 July 10 July shares
2016 2017 2018 granted
1,452,000 1,452,000 1,496,000 4,400,000
18,381,000 18,381,000 18,938,000 55,700,000
19,833,000 19,833,000 20,434,000 60,100,000
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D -

R AR Al

Option type

20144

2014

2015F A E|

2015 Plan A
2015485t E| (Hab)
2015 Plan B (note b)

238

TEREBEEEREEMFEENARQRRE
f R E £2015%F 128318 EFER

g 42. IR BIIRIRS (&) 42.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
= (Continued)
S
,E; R201557810H E &R 1 iE IR #B Share options granted on 10 July 2015 Plan B
= B |
§ AIERBNESHE
: Maximum Exercisable Shares
§ 120158 201645 20174 R2018%F 120194 BEfH
i B 12A318 6A30H 6A30H 6A30H 6308 EBRELE
At At At At At Total
31 December 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June shares
Date of grant 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 granted
=] 2015474108
Employees 10 July 2015 11,375,000 11,375,000 11,375,000 4,550,000 6,825,000 45,500,000
11,375,000 11,375,000 11,375,000 4,550,000 6,825,000 45,500,000

31 December 2015:

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share
options held by directors and employees during the year ended

120155 120155
1R18 12H31H
KB E HAIE  FABEH ARAE  FRETHE FREERK HARITHE
Outstanding at Granted Adjustment for Exercised Forfeited Outstanding at
Date of grant 1/1/2015 during the year ~ bonus issue during the year during the year ~ 31/12/2015
(Hizta)
(note a)
2014%9R41
4 September 2014 25,700,000 - 2,570,000 (760,000) - 27,510,000
2015%7A108
10 July 2015 - 60,100,000 - - - 60,100,000
2015%7H108
10 July 2015 - 45,500,000 - - (3,000,000) 42,500,000
25,700,000 105,600,000 2,570,000 (760,000)  (3,000,000) 130,110,000
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42. LR B RN 5F (#) 42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS B
(Continued) [Ifﬂil‘g
i
Bt - Notes: B
(@) &t A HIR2015F5H29R W 4L R & Ik (a) Regarding to the announcement of the declaration and distribution %
RoRAMME  AEEHEAEER of bonus issue dated 29 May 2015, the Group make adjustment >
20149 A3HRMB B AR T EIIE T to the exercise prices and the number of share options upon the 2
B ARITEE A BB IR 1T B R S ARAE X outstanding options under share option scheme adopted by the §
BEHFHE - Group on 4 September 2014. &
=
=
(b) 20154FBETEIMNE —HHERESTEH (b) The first tranche of share options of 2015 Plan B is exercisable %’_
EEEERER2015F12A318 @R from the commencement of the exercise periods until the expiry of =
FrA] T1718 - EFGEBHITEE - the Options which is on 31 December 2015. The exercisable period g
has been modified by the board of directors. L
N
o
THREBRESEREEMFENERRGIE The following table discloses movements of the Company’s share -
RERAI—FE AR E S : options held by directors and employees during the previous g
year: 8
R2014% 20145
1A18 12A318
BREEs B A HAIE  FABKH ARAE FREE  FREEK mARITHE
Outstanding at Granted Adjustment for Exercised Forfeited Outstanding at
Option type Date of grant 1/1/2014 during the year ~ bonus issue during the year during the year ~ 31/12/2014
20145 201459748
2014 4 September 2014 - 25,700,000 - - - 25,700,000
- 25,700,000 - - - 25,700,000
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2. LB NERNRE &)

ERENAARBEKE -BEAEAHE -

BRI A SR T ¢
20155 AsHE :

X B
Date of grant
B R H B BRI (B A%

Share price at the date of grant

1B

Exercise price

K R

Volatility

FERR S HR (4F)

Life of the option (year)
gl pes

Risk-free rate of interest
fi% B =&

Dividend yield
RIBHEERE (F45T)
Call option value (HK$'000)

20155 B5HEl :

it B 8

Date of grant

BRIt A BRI B
Share price at the date of grant
1TE(E

Exercise price

g

Volatility

BREES ()

Life of the option (year)
ERERAE

Risk-free rate of interest
REX

Dividend yield
REHERE (FET)

Call option value (HK$'000)

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

The fair values of the share options were calculated using the

binominal model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

2015 Plan A:

201578118

BAERB A S

Share option vesting date

20167 A11H

11 July 2015 11 July 2016

201547 810H 2015%7A10H

10 July 2015 10 July 2015

11887 1.18%8 7T

HK$1.18 HK$1.18

1.2527% 7T 1.25278 7T

HK$1.252 HK$1.252

65% 54%

1 2

0.15% 0.44%

6.5% 6.5%

4,698 5,210

2015 Plan B:
BhEFEERAS
Share option vesting date

201578118 2016F1A18 2016F7A1H 2017%7R18
11 July 2015 1 January 2016 1 July 2016 1 July 2017
201557 A10H 2015%7H10H 201578108 2015F7810H
10 July 2015 10 July 2015 10 July 2015 10 July 2015
11887 1188 7T 1185 7T 11887
HK$1.18 HK$1.18 HK$1.18 HK$1.18
1.252/87C 1.252/87C 1.25257¢ 1.25287C
HK$1.252 HK$1.252 HK$1.252 HK$1.252
75% 65% 54% 55%
0.50 1 2 3
0.10% 0.15% 0.44% 0.73%
6.5% 6.5% 6.5% 6.5%
2,303 2,731 2,987 1,384

2017F7A11H
11 July 2017

2015%7A10H
10 July 2015
1,188 7T
HK$1.18
1.2527# 7T
HK$1.252

55%

3

0.73%

6.5%

6,215

2018%7H1H
1 July 2018

20157 A10H
10 July 2015
11887
HK$1.18
1.25287C
HK$1.252
55%

4

0.99%

6.5%

2,254
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2. LR NRNRE &)

43.

HRARBNR FLEk A - B SLIKIE
BRI A B A B P A TR AT R B g
MR BB ARMNESL REZBTHE -

HE2015F12A31BILFE - K& B
BLA R AR R B IR R AT 21 9% 1 B AR i
HRAER S AR®11,700,0007T (2014
& AR¥1,275,0007T) °

L AR RRS

(a) RMEHR - NEEEUK T AR
THRIARFEHIOT

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

42. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

43.

(Continued)

Due to short trading history of the Company, the historical
volatility is based on historical share price movement of
comparable companies in the relevant periods matching
expected life of the share option.

The Group recognised total expense of RMB11,700,000
(2014: RMB1,275,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015
in relation to share options under the Share Option Scheme
granted by the Company.

RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS

(a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group has amounts
receivable from the following related parties and the details

JEUS 3R BB S AR I Y
REHIFRIA
JE Hs Bt & RIRIR
ERAERER
H 8B A FRIA

B S ERRRER (M)

FEIIRE S A
AFEIE

PRI A N B HOR

PR A OER
HUBATHE

B 5 AR EEE (Mazii)

A& EBEELER (B atii)

are set out below:

20154 20144
AR¥FT ARKEFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
Amounts due from companies
controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei 1,540 463
Amount due from an associate 285,874 355,000
Amounts due from joint ventures
and their subsidiaries 110,726 148,931
Total non-trade balance (note i) 398,140 504,394
Amounts due from companies
controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei 13,471 3,068
Amount due from an associate 16,941 7,867
Amounts due from joint ventures
and their subsidiaries 106,978 58,024
Total trade balance (note ii) 137,390 68,959
535,530 573,353
Loans to joint ventures (note iii) 2,169,600 1,521,583
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SN B EIE - %8 RARERKE
BE - LT ARNESHREMK - HERER
HI2 508 5 1 H H YR B ESE 77 TRIEEY
BRECO T

Less than 1 year
1-2 years

(i) A ERFEEDE R ERBERNR (iif)

il A3. BB S AR 5 (1) 43.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

= TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

E

,E; (a) (&) (a) (Continued)

m

3 Bfet - Notes:

=

N

; (i)  H20159F &2014F12A31H & KRB IE (i)  Balances at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are of non-trade
E5ME  J\IEH 20 RAREKE nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
B -

(i) 20154 K2014F 12 A31HEH A & (i)  Trade receivables from related parties at 31 December 2015

and 2014 are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand. The following is an aged analysis of amounts due
from related parties of trade nature based on invoice date
which approximated the revenue recognition date, at the end
of each reporting period:

20154 20144
AR%FT AREFIT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
126,784 68,959
10,606 =
137,390 68,959

The terms of loans to joint ventures are disclosed in Note 19.
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43. AT HBEBRR RS (#) 43.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND B
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) [Ifﬂil‘g
%LH%
(b) NEBEHIR - REBEN T 5 EHE (b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group has amounts |
FHEIE N EFEEE T payable to the following related parties and the details are
set out below: ﬂ
<
5
20154 20144 all
ARBEFT ARET T g
2015 2014 2
RMB’000 RMB’000 5
=
>
ERNEEhER Amounts due to joint ventures and 2
H B RIRIE their subsidiaries 724,905 182,952 a)
g
EE St raA%E (M Ei) Total non-trade balances (note i) 724,905 182,952 0
=
FEFTIRE S 1B A RIMFIE Amounts due to companies controlled 3
=
by Mr. Zhang Lei 3,935 3,231 o]
B S tkenieEs (Watii) Total trade balance (note ii) 3,935 3,231
728,840 186,183
Fat - Notes:
(i)  F2015%F 2014512831 B & 4B 3 (i) Balances at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are of non-trade
BEWE  EIEA . o R AERE R nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
Bi& -
() FENEBRTOBSENZBERE (ii)  Trade payables to related parties are unsecured, interest free
BRANEREEE - UTAREHE and repayable on demand. The following is an aged analysis
ik MR E AR E S E A of amounts due to related parties of trade nature based on
HE@E&% *f\lﬁﬂﬁéﬁﬁ’%ﬁﬁﬁ a invoice date at the end of each reporting period:
N TAHHY R .
20155 20144
AR T T AEBF T
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
DI Less than 1 year 3,482 1,791
1224 1-2 years 453 -
2E3F 2-3 years - 1,324
3FLE More than 3 years - 116
3,935 3,231
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BRI — AR E KB A A
B IR HIEEST -

R2015 128318 A& EEH
ATEE  UHEERT—EBEQ
AREZHEECENE THRITRA
HEE o FFIBENMHIFESS ©

MW2015F128318 » N&EB [ —
ML AR RZHAEDENIRT
ERREMERIREER - 5188
Rt E40(b) °

il A3. BB S AR 5 (1) 43.RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
= TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
=
=
,E; (c) ANEE  AEEEEEEFETINA (c) During the year, the Group entered into the following
= T E transactions with its related parties:
S
= 2015% 20144
§ B LMtE REME AREFT  ARETR
2015 2014
Nature of related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
REAEEFNARE HEWA
Companies controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei Rental income 1,055 1,055
RELEEHNAA MEEEREE
Companies controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei Property management services expenses 62,806 55,835
RELEEHNAR FEMX
Companies controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei Interest expense - 1,181
PN FMEWA
Associate Interest income 32,543 7,867
BENF it ERERBRA
Associate Income from real estate agency services 2,349 -
RELE RERMREBA
Joint venture Income from provision of technical know-how 6,365 2,313
RELE FEiERERBE KA
Joint venture Income from real estate agency services 10,879 -
RELE FIEWA
Joint venture Interest income 77,014 60,662
RELE MEEERKE
Joint venture Property management services expenses 41,500 10,606

Details of disposal and deemed disposal of subsidiaries to
related parties are disclosed in Note 37.

The Group pledged certain assets to secure certain banking
and other facilities granted to an associate and joint
ventures as at 31 December 2015. Details are set out in

Note 38.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided guarantees
to bank loans and other loans of an associate and joint
ventures. Details are set out in Note 40(b).
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43. BEEE R ER R RS (&)

(c)

(d)

(%)

M2015F12 8318 » NEE 5 4
BEERBHEE (WAREED
AEMGE) KEWNBATNREM
M= FREER - FBHRHE
40(c) °

HE20105612A31HIEEE - K
SEENRMHEEEN —RBESRE
ENREEEEEZEEBN2010F
MA9B YW HEERILRE
RETEHEREN—BMSER
B ANREA071,000C D E - #Z
EYMENEREERZESTKE
FREFHEEETZRES - 8F
2015%F12A31B ILFE - A& H
BBz IBRAEEIRARKE
IRERFTIEHIARIER - £FAA
R #407,0007C (2014%F : AR ¥
407,0007T) °

AT RRBmERR - FRHE41IA
REE R HE AR KB BIE T KK
RIEHEEFE :

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

43. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided guarantees
to third parties in relation to considerations of acquisitions
of subsidiaries by NDHY and JSZY, both joint ventures of
the Group. Details are set out in Note 40(c).

During the year ended 31 December 2010, an employee of
Modern Green Development of the Group used the property
developed by Beijing Modern City Real Estate pursuant
to the agreement dated 29 November 2010 entered into
between Modern Green Development and the employee,
with market value amounted to RMB4,071,000, the title of
the property will be transferred to the employee upon his
completion of the service period of 10 years. The Group
recognised this transaction as staff cost and contribution
from a company controlled by the shareholder amounted to
RMB407,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
RMB407,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the future minimum
lease payment from related parties whereby the Group acts
as a lessor and included in Note 41 is as follows:
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2015% 20144

AR Fr AR®F T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000
REAEEZEFNDF Company controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei
E—WERWK (LX) AR2AF First Estate Service (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*

F-YERKE (XR) BRAA
—&R Within one year 200 801
E-FEFERF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BEEEMF) - 200
200 1,001
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il A3. AT B RS (4) 43. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND
= TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
z .
s d) (&) (d) (Continued)
-
p 20155 20144
3 ARBFT — ARKTT
S 2015 2014
= RMB’000 RMB’000
RELAEZFENDF Company controlled by Mr. Zhang Lei
It REBHHRFHEE Beijing Moma Preschool Education
BRARE Technology Operations Co., Ltd.*
EREBHENHBEELBRAT
—F RN Within one year 60 241
FE-FEFERF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BEEREMF) - 60
60 301
* RSN AR S E *  The English names of the companies which operate in the
HRZE - KRB o PRC are for reference only and have not been registered.
(e) HEAREBEABETHNRS (e) Transaction with key management personnel
20155 20144
ARMTF T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEREEASHEEME Sale of a property to key management
personnel - 13,208
k=R E YN = Key management compensation
PSECRER] Short-term benefits 11,004 16,533
RIKIERET Post-employment benefits 404 263
LARR A7 1< 3K Share-based payment 5,974 1,717
17,382 18,513
72015512 H318 - RE B EHE R As at 31 December 2015, advances to employees amounted to
= AR¥31,139,0007T (2014912 A31 RMB31,139,000 (31 December 2014: RMB39,769,000) includes
B : AR#39,769,0007T) & & A B §2 an advance to key management personnel of approximately
BIEABBINHARE23,172,0007T © RMB23,172,000. The balances are unsecured, carry fixed interest
7 = g i o A B L 92 [ SE 4R F R 12 % rate at 12% per annum and repayable in June 2016.

R RAN20165FE6AEE -
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45,

AEBEEBEEAUBRAEENER
EFERLE  ANEEABLEBRER

BHARRBREADR - AEE DR
BRI RIB T -

AEBEMNERERERIEFES - A
31R33FMFEMNEE RELEEMGRIR
TRHBEIBESARKNRQRES ARIGE
= (BREETRAE  FERREER)
BFT1S - ARAIMEREBHIRITE S
KBS RAREHEE AEGEZ (B
BEITRAREE) B -

ARFREETRERNEARE - FRZ
BRI & RAEFEREAKAN
RESBEEARBRHORAR  WRIVEE
T BB EANREE -

EMITA
(a) £RMITEER

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

44, CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

45,

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings and senior notes disclosed in
Notes 31 and 33, net of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and retained profits. The capital structure of
the Company consists of bank balances and cash and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital, and take appropriate actions to
balance its overall capital structure.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

201545 2014%
ARE T AREFT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
rEE The Group
SREE Financial assets
Bk PR IE Loans and receivables (including bank
(BRRITEREIRS) balances and cash) 6,729,921 6,442,031
AHEEERE Available-for-sale investments 34,850 114,236
cRAasE Financial liabilities
R AT ENBE Liabilities measured at amortised cost 7,701,155 6,168,846
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45. £FTH (&)
(b) ctREKMEEBEZERBEK

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
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AEENTEZESRIABREI R
H & U 5k - FE W B B T SRR -
AGEREELER REER
R XRBIBS  RITHEBKRA
T B NEMENR - EREE
THE S RITREMEEARESR
EHE - ZELRIEANFERANS
HEME - BZSom T AMERN
R BORUR 7% R B Y BUR R T
X REEEEEHZETRBET
B I BR R ARER BEE B A AU IR
HUEE I °

45 B i

ZER B ) S BRI R RN
ExEEH L HMEREBHTISE
@ (RTX) -

REBRAFEEEAZHT SRR
HEBRAEBZERARN T EHNE
BEAEY -

(1) MERE

MR IRTTAESR IR - R
RBe RIFTEE RRTEK
MR B A RRITATERA X
RBBIRTT R BT HAE
BRHR) MRITHIHH R LR
KE) > MAKBEEAZRER
EFRER

AEENAREBEMEERE
REHEMESEENELIZR
B - AEBEBRRYENBIE
MITETAAKNEPEATH
MEER - A BEERA
FEEGEEREPEANEME,

A
oo
Z

o

AEEBAARESHAEHERE
B RER - BN AM T
MEBELREREE—F -

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from related parties, loans
to joint ventures, advances to employees, restricted cash,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, amounts
due to related parties, bank and other borrowings and
senior notes. Details of these financial instruments are set
out in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management of the
Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the market risks of
changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates
risks and other price risk (see below).

There has been no significant change to the Group'’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk over the year.

(1) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances and deposits, restricted cash
and bank borrowings which carry at prevailing deposit
interest rates and variable rate based on the interest
rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China and
London Interbank Offered Rate.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed rate other borrowings and senior notes. The
Group currently does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the management will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.
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45. €F T H ()
(b) cREAMEEEERBE (&)

mEEkE (&)

(1

MEmE (&)
M RGRE

ATEREDN IRIES S
HIRMRITEBRRETR - R
IR e MF BRIRITEENEE,
4 LA K Bt BCAF T ) 4 B ) 3R T
K& (RBEFERTTE)
MERE - 2 F A& R EE
A B I A K B B & AT K
20 EE (U RRITEEM
5) MITE10EER (BHRTT
R R IF AR ZRBIZR S M
) REE AERED T
ERITEE - |RITAEBRRFR
ARZRHIREF RS ER]

ok =4

Bo & °

fi K = £ F+ /7 (52010 E 26
(RMZBRITEEMS) M
B B S~ - AR
& B & =2015F12 8318 1
FEEEN (HRAEE R
TE) BRL EINHARE
705,0007T (20144 : AR
1,245,0007T) °

fi K & £ F+ R FR101E 26
(RRIRTTHEBRRTERUARZR
HEEMS)  MABEME
HHERFTE  AIAEEEZE
20155128318 It £ E B
wm A g R AR
2,682,000 (20144 : A R
#2,958,0007T) °

BREDT TR RBE AR
R\ - BN RERE AR

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(1

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates on bank balances
and deposits, restricted cash and variable rate bank
borrowings at the end of each reporting period and
the stipulated change taking place at the beginning
of the financial year and held constant throughout
the year. A 20 basis points increase or decrease for
variable rate bank borrowings and a 10 basis points
increase or decrease for bank balances and deposits
and restricted cash are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represent management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rate in respect of bank
borrowings, bank balances and deposits and restricted
cash, respectively.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 20
basis points in respect of variable rate bank borrowings
and all other variables were held constant, the Group'’s
profit (net of interest capitalisation effect) would
decrease/increase by approximately RMB705,000
(2014: RMB1,245,000) for the year ended 31
December 2015.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 10
basis points in respect of bank balances and deposits
and restricted cash and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s profit would increase/decrease by
approximately RMB2,682,000 (2014: RMB2,958,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The sensitivity analysis is not representative as the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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45. £FTH (&)

(b) SREMREERTEREE (&)

T

BT

migEE (%)

2)

B

N6 B R H AT it 1 A
ZRAEBERR o KR20155F
12A31H EBERAEKRE
] 2 /9 BRAN (B A% OR B R B R
e Bt WERZIGXED
T o

SINEEE [ ez

SEEBNIREEEAAR
% REBRXIHUARES
B AEEBINEBORSH
(WBERIERRERN L)
KETEEEMRAIHNUAINE
FHE © PONESEHEM S TIRTT
REERRIRITRE R - A RIAETT
BIINBEZRBRSAEEAR
SRR o

AEBEINEHENEREE
EEERBENEREARNEK
EEMT

Us$
HK$

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(2)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risks through its
available-for-sale investments. At 31 December 2015,
the management considers that the Group’s exposure
to fluctuation in equity price is minimal. Accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is RMB
in which most of the transactions are denominated.
Foreign currencies denominated transactions arise from
the Group’s overseas operation, such as purchases of
land held for further development and certain expenses
incurred. Certain bank balances and bank borrowings
are denominated in foreign currencies, while senior
notes are issued in US$ and expose the Group to
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE afE
Assets Liabilities
M12H318 MW12A31H
At 31 December At 31 December

20154 20145 20154 20145
AR%FT AR¥F ARB¥FT AR¥Fr
2015 2014 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
60,361 84,873 2,136,028 1,682,725
206,223 2,487 - 136,317
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45. €F T H ()

(b) SREMEERREREE (&)

B AR ()

3)

SNERLR ()

A& B B AT NS B R
R BERESTINERR -
I # R T REEBEIHEARI
PEE LR

TR FE R LR BRI
TRER T AEEEEEIME
HARMBERIS%E A R
B BB BURE - 5% B E
TEEABNBERNER
20 R PR OB UK AR
ERBHIEERNA BT
BB - GEESTED
5 A 9IS £ 0 R B E0 5 R
B WRE RS RRAINEE
5% BB BBEBRE -

74 B TR 0 U 5 1
o :

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

3)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy but the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to
a reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rate
of each foreign currency against RMB while all other
variables are held constant. 5% is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates.

An analysis of sensitivity to currency risk for the Group
is as follows:
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20154 20144

AR Fr ARBF T

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

FEMERN OFL) (Decrease) increase in post-tax profit
)i for the year

—BAREEETTRE — if RMB weakens against US$ (103,783) (79,893)
—EARELABTRE — if RMB weakens against HK$ 10,311 (6,691)
—BAREEETTHEAE — if RMB strengthens against US$ 103,783 79,893
— HEARBEBTHE — if RMB strengthens against HK$ (10,311) 6,691
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45. R T B () 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) £REKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
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MR20155F12A31H » N&E B A Y
FHAREBITETRAEEATIRE
HEERMAS T EERAEEE
EHBEENSEAEERR - IE
EEHEHHBEARRIRRATEE
EReMEEMERARME  AKKE
AFTEBENRABELE - B
EERBRRERE  BRITEER
Fr DA RE (R SR EX R 3 77 B 4R [2] 3B HA 1
%o AN AEERZIHERKRT
BB EERE 5 K& EH R Uk
K W BB 5 FRIE R T YR [El S 58 o
2IREHMBEHRRABRRTNSE
TR RIBREE  THASE
EREENBELRRHEHERL
EREA ARG -

AEBEE FRYGRHEE R BRI &
BEAREH AR ZERSBRZ
BEXZHFREP -

policies (Continued)
Credit risk management

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
and financial guarantees issued by the Group is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the amount of contingent liabilities disclosed
in Note 40. In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring
procedures are carried out to ensure that follow up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivables and amounts due from
related parties at each of the end of the reporting period.
The amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position are net of allowances for bad and
doubtful debts, estimated by the Group’s management
based on prior experience and their assessment of the
current economic environment.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.
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45. R T B (&) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) £REKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and

FERBERE (&)

PREREEBRERERNYEM
FOARBERTRHEFPABENE
EEESMEARIBERMART
RHER  EREBESZSA/EY
HEEEEMN80% - INREHRER
HFARBEEERE  ABAREDN
RITA BRAKEERREREN
REMABRENE - EILFER
T AREEDRKRE KIHERSIL
EMHEBEYME - Fitt - BEE
RARE B AR IR RS B
EBREARERE - EEERS
HRZFRE A REER - MY
ENMESRERSHE  #EHRT
MEBTHEBMERMEARNEER
REBRAER - BUtME » ARAES
RE - AEENEERRERER
& -

MR FHTHLBEREEFREE
BRTREEFRNRTHTENSE
BRIT HRPESEERAREA
BR -

policies (Continued)
Credit risk management (Continued)

For properties that are pre-sold but development has not
been completed, the Group typically provides guarantees
to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing of
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties
for an amount up to 80% of the purchase price of the
individual property. If a purchaser defaults on the payment
of its mortgage during the period of guarantee, the bank
holding the mortgage may demand the Group to repay
the outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the
sales deposit received and resell the reprocessed properties.
Therefore, the management considers it would likely
recover any loss incurred arising from the guarantee by the
Group. The management considers the credit risk exposure
to financial guarantees provided to property purchasers is
limited because the facilities are secured by the properties
and the market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit rating agencies or state-owned banks
in the PRC.
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45. R T B () 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) £REKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
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AEENBERDEBEREEER
BEo@@rmmnt e T -
ARPMESBREERRDESMN
o LBHREAEAESRIRRS
AEBENIRE REERIHBE

TRHAVNAKEITE SR AER
RBEHEHE - RREAKEA
AN EHMNERBER
MARRSRERK KT BRENE
RAEHRERE - HHIERERF
BHE - QIR SBEARE LR
R RIFH o B R E 2 A BN
SHEREE RN KA - RIZAH A
TRIIFTEFIRSRBETANE
BIEHES -

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk management

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings. The directors of the Company closely monitor
the liquidity position and expect to have adequate sources
of funding to finance the Group’s projects and operations.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts included
below for non-derivative variable rate financial liabilities
is subject to changes if changes in interest rates differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of
the reporting period.
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45. €@ T H (&) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) £REKREEBERBER (&) (b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
RBELABREE (£) Liquidity risk management (Continued)
mEFY  REXEE RURRS

BRAE AHME 183F B@3F REAR REE
% AEEFT AEEFT ARETFT AEEFT ARETFT
Weighted Repayable

average  ondemand Total
effective  or less than Over 3 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-3 years years cashflows amount

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
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Tit8 Non-interest bearing - 2,309,120 133,134 = 2,442,254 2,442,254
TEIA Fixed interest rate

instruments 11.35 1,720,790 3,305,038 915,192 5,941,020 4,627,214
FETA Variable interest rate

instruments 430 558,863 85,806 40,180 684,849 631,687
HBERED Financial quarantee

contracts - 9,619,953 - - 9,619,953 -
M2015%12831H At 31 December 2015 14,208,726 3,523,978 955,372 18,688,076 7,701,155
Tit& Non-interest bearing - 1,661,609 - - 1,661,609 1,661,609
TEIA Fixed interest rate

instruments 11.55 1,080,675 1,851,221 2,005,120 4,937,016 3,527,020
FETA Variable interest rate

instruments 3.64 731,373 337,349 89,562 1,158,284 980,217
HBERED Financial guarantee

contracts - 5,629,897 - - 5,629,897 -
2014128318 At 31 December 2014 9,103,554 2,188,570 2,094,682 13,386,806 6,168,846
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45. £FTH (&)

(b) SREMREERTEREE (&)

(c)

mBETEBEEE (&)

EXHHABEREDFTANSER
HERNEFHIREAZEE A&
B AR 4% 2 BE A RE 1R B SR Bl 2 BUHE IR
SRENNRSEHE - RENEE
HIRMTEH - NERER SR L &
SEARBLHET AN - A -
LR R T HF O RBERE
HEERMAIREEMAE - MiEH &
RO AR RIBUR S F 5 Pz i
EREBEREFALREEEBIRN
AJREME -

DIREE

TREEMERABENAAEBER
BUMBRREREDN/EEND
REBEAPEE

ARAEERR  RERSHR
KA GFR IS AR R A A 2 SH A AR
JIRMEREERERBENET
BEEAEMEENRAEEBERE

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(c)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their respective fair values at the end
of each reporting period.



B O B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

46. 7R B WY Br 15 & B 46.FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY B
>
(a) ANDFEMRTIIEER (@) Financial information of the financial position of the gfilﬁi
Company: -E
20155 20144 ot
ARETF T ARBTF T 3
2015 2014 E”
RMB’000 RMB’000
<
o
EMENEE Non-current assets a
R B AR RIRE Investments in subsidiaries 1,919,067 1,713,821 S
REELERRER Interest in joint ventures 787,897 941,967 %'T
o
2,706,964 2,655,788 [
g
MENE E Current assets o
B R H b R U TR Prepayments and other receivables 2,307 1,856 :
JFE Y B BB A B FRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 4,500 4,127 5
JE LT A Bt 7 R IE Amounts due from related parties 52,107 10,606 =
WITEBRLES Bank balances and cash 218,190 93,383 o
277,104 109,972
meEaE Current liabilities
EEtE R R EMEMNR Accrued charges and other payables 117,784 115,368
FESB B A R FIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 76,986 612
&~ A NS 75 BUIE Amounts due to related parties 398 593
FERTAR B Dividend payable 589 701
R—FAEHRIRITE R Bank borrowing due within one year 286,050 =
481,807 117,274
mEBBEFE Net current liabilities (204,703) (7,302)
BEERRDARE Total assets less current liabilities 2,502,261 2,648,486
IR R Capital and reserves
R& 2 Share capital 128,094 98,610
His Reserves (428,047) (162,144)
ERAR Total equity (299,953) (63,534)
FErRFaE Non-current liabilities
BEEE Senior notes 2,802,214 2,712,020
2,502,261 2,648,486
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46. A QBB ER (&)

(b) RNRRBARFEEESD :

R2014F1 818
E B EARIER 2
FEEHE

g

72014512 A318

AREAT

PR 17 B & B
BITRG

1B B BATIERT 2

RTIER R ER
BEIRG

PRI R R

FEBR

R20159F12A318

(Continued)

At 1 January 2014

Employee share option scheme
Loss for the year

Dividend

At 31 December 2014

Bonus issue

Issue of shares on share
placement

Employee share option scheme

Issue of shares upon exercise
of share options

Transfer of share option
reserve upon forfeiture
of share options

Loss for the year

At 31 December 2015

46. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(b) Movement of capital and reserves of the Company:

JRA ROEE BRERE REEE #st

ARETFT ARETT ARETT AREFTT AREFT
Share Share Share option Accumulated

capital premium reserve losses Total

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

98,610 339,993 - (42,082) 396,521

- - 1,275 - 1,275

— — — (324,170) (324,170)

- (137,160) - - (137,160

98,610 202,833 1,275 (366,252) (63,534)

9,861 (9,861) - - -

19,575 241,461 - - 261,036

- - 11,700 - 11,700

48 786 (115) - 719

- - (95) 95 -

- - - (509,874) (509,874)

128,094 435,219 12,765 (876,031) (299,953)
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47. X EMB A RFE 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES ik
&
NA B R20154 K%2014F 1283180 = Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 ;ﬂi
EWBATFRAOT December 2015 and 2014 are as follow:
FERALRA at
Equity interest ';Ej
attributable to the Group all
MM2A31R =
At 31 December 2
HRAL/ R EERA /EREAR 3
EEL BERAH 2015 WE  BEARMR/BERA IEER =
Place and date Authorised/registered and 3
of incorporation/ issued and fully =
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities g
Q
ERNEAF o
Direct subsidiaries 3
[
EEHAARAT (BEEHHARDT)  ARRANS 100% 100%  ERBASO00ET BAER %
2007514238 BETRARRAIZT o
Great Trade Technology Ltd. BVI 100% 100%  Authorised US$50,000 ssued and Investment holding
23 January 2007 fully paid US$1
BEME (Hidi) q: 100% 65%  EMERARS230,000,0007 NFERE
201359A118 EARAAR$230,000,0007
Nanchang Xinjian (note ii) PRC 100% 65%  Registered RMB230,000,000 Property development
11 September 2013 Paid up capital RMB230,000,000
BENEAR
Indirect subsidiaries
AERRARAT Bk 100% 100%  JAEMA10,000E7 REER
20074124288 BETRERRA10,0005T
Jiu Yun Development Co., Ltd. Hong Kong 100% 100%  Authorised HK$10,000 Issued and Investment holding
28 December 2007 fully paid HK$10,000
EREBIREREE (AR)BRAR 4 100% 100%  &MEAARH605,000,0007 BEEEREN
(Hietii) 2005594298 E4RAAR%305,000,0007
Modern Moma Project Management PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMBE05,000,000 Project management
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (note i) 29 September 2005 Paid up capital RMB305,000,000 and consulting
PRERIREAERARAR (M)  bE 100% 100%  HRERAR%20,000,0007 BERRER
2011528158 B4R AR20,000,0007
Beijing Green Project Management PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB20,000,000 Construction project
Co., Ltd.* (note i) 15 February 2011 Paid up capital RMB20,000,000 management
IRERBNARERERARAT q: 100% 100%  sHERARH1,0000007 NEREREBRS
(Hiiti) 201354808 ERAARH1,0000007T
Beijing Green Power Commercial PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB1,000,000 Property development
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (note j) 22 April 2013 Paid up capital RMB1,000,000 related services
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il 47. TEMB R AFE (2 47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
§ (Continued)
g ,
£ KRALRE
= Equity interest
3 attributable to the Group
= A12A318
S At 31 December
©. HRRYL/ R EERE /HREAR
LRER BERAH 20155 W45 BRORER/BEREK IEER
Place and date Authorised/registered and
of incorporation/ issued and fully
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities
HENEAR (£)
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued)
ERBEEE (W) i 100% 100%  EMEARARS200,000,0007 REEBREH
2006564308 B8R AR%200,000,0007T
Modern Green Industrial* (note i) PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB200,000,000 Investment management
30 June 2006 Paid up capital RMB200,000,000 and consulting
EREWER (i) G 100% 100%  sEfEAAR%800,000,0007 NXER RER
200089A218 EGRAAR 800,000,000 EEgE
Modern Green Development* (note i) PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB800,000,000 Property development,
21 September 2000 Paid up capital RMB800,000,000 investment and hotel
operation
IREFETEAEREARAR (F) P 100% 100%  EMEAARS30,000,0007 NRER
200055A308 E4RA AR 30,000,007
Beijing Aoxinjiyuan Real Estate PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB30,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 30 May 2002 Paid up capital RMB30,000,000
IREREHERBERAD (M) i 100% 100%  sHAERAR%60,000,0007 NEERRRE
2000828150 EARAAR60,000,0007
Beijing Modern Real Estate PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB60,000,000 Property development and
Development Co., Ltd. * (note i) 15 February 2000 Paid up capital RMB60,000,000 investment
ERERRIRA (1R) BRAR lE 100% 55%  HERARH3,000,0007 GUEEVEE)
([ERBREE]) (Hii) 201154R198 E4RAARH3,000,0007
Modern Oupulasi Technology (Beijing) PRC 100% 55%  Registered RMB3,000,000 Technalogy development
Co., Ltd.* ("Modern Oupulasi") (note i) 19 April 2011 Paid up capital RMB3,000,000 and consulting
YRRERREREERAR (M) q: 100% 100%  EHERAR%569,000,0007 NEER
20015118138 EARAAR%569,000,0007
Beijing Dongjun Real Estate PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB569,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 13 November 2001 Paid up capital RMB569,000,000
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47. X EMB A RFE (&) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES Tk
(Continued) ﬁ]H"E
i
ZS%B%&E
Equity interest ~
attributable to the Group %
M2A31R S
At 31 December all
MR/ R EERE / ERERR z
IS LEYEE 015% 04E  BRIRER/ERRA ITER g
Place and date Authorised/registered and g
of incorporation/ issued and fully =
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities 3
z o
BENELA (2) =
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued) g
)
o
F8h (LR RENBARLR (M)  +E 100% 100%  EEMAERAR%30,000,0007C GUEEEE] -
2006534228 ERAARH30,000,0007T 3.
New Power (Beijing) Architectural PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB30,000,000 Technology development th
Technology Co., Ltd.* (note i) 22 March 2006 Paid up capital RMB30,000,000 and consulting
WBERIEERARAR (Hiti) q: 100% 100%  EMEARARE190,000,0007 NRER
200758A168 E&RAAR190,000,0007
Shanxi Modern Green PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB190,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 16 August 2007 Paid up capital RMB190,000,000
LRERTERWERSERAA (M) 100% 100%  &EERAEH150,000,0007 IESE
2007£8A16E E4RAAR%150,000,0007
Shanxi Modern Green Real Estate PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB150,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note J) 16 August 2007 Paid up capital RMB150,000,000
ERER (Bm) BRAA (K1) i 100% 100%  EMEARARE200,000,0007 NEER
200559A148 E&RA AR 200,000,0007
Hunan Modern Green PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB200,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i) 14 September 2005 Paid up capital RMB200,000,000
IRERBEELBRAR (M) i 100% 100%  sHERAKE180,000,0007 nEERE
2009512228 EARAAR180,000,0007
Jiangxi Modern Green PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB180,000,000 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (note i 22 December 2009 Paid up capital RMB180,000,000
NIEBEXRRAR (M) i 100% 100%  EMERARE140,000,0007 NEER
20108128228 B8R ARH140,000,0007T
Jiujiang Moma Development PRC 100% 100%  Registered RMB140,000,000 Property development
Co., Ltd.* (note ) 22 December 2010 Paid up capital RMB140,000,000
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Name of Company

BENELF (£)

Indirect subsidiaries (Continued)
WLEREXERAE (i)

Hubei Wanxing Development
Co., Ltd.* (note i)

NIEREREZBRAR (Heti)

Jijiang Modern Green Development
Co., Ltd.* (note ii)

IREREBRARRARAA (Hi)

Beijing Modern Moma Investment
Management Co., Ltd.* (note i)

BERAANBEREXBRAA (W)
(BETEREFHEREARA )
Liaoning Dongdaihe Modern
Development Co., Ltd.* (note J)
(previously Suizhong Changlong Property
Development Co., Ltd.)
HERBOEEXRRAA (Hiti)
Wuhan Green Development
Co., Ltd.* (note i)

IraearREREES (BRAY)
(i) ([BEEE )

Beijing Green Spring Equity Investment
Fund, LLP* (note iif) (" Green Fund")
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47. T EH B QA RFHE (&)

B ANAA
HERAH

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

hE
2010614278
PRC
27 January 2010

Giles

201452 A18F
PRC

18 February 2014

hE
011518118
PRC
11 January 2011

hE
2008417288
PRC
28 January 2008

Gl
201438128
PRC
12 March 2014

P
201464R178
PRC
17 April 2014

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HZE2015F 12 A31H LLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2015

47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
TEEESRE
Equity interest

attributable to the Group

M2A318
At 31 December

215% 20145
2015 2014
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
99.02% 99.02%
99.02% 99.02%
100% 53.75%
100% 53.75%

EERE/ERERR
BRTRMR /HARE
Authorised/registered and
issued and fully
paid/paid-up capital

AR AR 100,000,000
EERAAKE100,000,0007T
Registered RMB100,000,000
Paid up capital RMB100,000,000

&R AR30,000,0007
B4R AR %30,000,0007
Registered RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital RMB30,000,000

AR AR %10,000,0007
EHHRAARE10,000,0007
Registered RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital RMB10,000,000

AR AR 10,000,000
WEERAR®10,000,0007
Registered RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital RMB10,000,000

AR AR 50,000,000
BHHRAARES0,000,0007
Registered RMBS50,000,000
Paid up capital RMB50,000,000

AR AR %430,000,0007
B4R AR 430,000,000
Registered RMB430,000,000
Paid up capital RMB430,000,000

IEER

Principal activities

VS

Property development

NEER

Property development

RERK

Investment holding

(e

Property development

NEER

Property development

REBERH

Investment management
and consulting



kL

Name of Company

BENBLF (£)
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued)

FIRERBBERARAR (Witi)

Beijing Modern Moma Development
Co., Ltd.* (note )

HEERREERERAA (Hii)

Shanghai Yujing Investment
Management Co., Ltd.* (note i)

ERe% OtR) BHESLERARA
(Hiti)

Modern Pinye (Beijing) Real
Estate Brokerage Co., Ltd.* (note i)

America Modern Green Development
(Houston), LLC

America Modern Green Development
(Houston), LLC

Crown Point Regional Center, LLC

Crown Point Regional Center, LLC

IRERGEREECERERAR
([ERGEREES ) (Ha2)
Beijing Modern Green Investment
Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (note i)

47. T EH B QA RFHE (&)

By ANA A
HERAH
Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

hE
20141788
PRC
8 January 2014

B
2013%10F238
PRC
23 October 2013

Gl
201410498
PRC
9 October 2014

SEETENN
2012108158
Texas, US
15 October 2012

XEEZEIN
2010534316
Texas, US
31 March 2010

Gl
201312738
PRC
3 December 2013
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47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
TEEESERE
Equity interest

attributable to the Group

M2A318
At 31 December

20155 20145
2015 2014
100% 53.75%
100% 53.75%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

EERE / ERERR
BRTRMR /AR
Authorised/registered and
issued and fully
paid/paid-up capital

AR A K#200,000,0007
EGRR AR 200,000,000
Registered RMB200,000,000

Paid up capital RMB200,000,000

AR AR 10,000,000
EARAAR10,000,0007
Registered RMB10,000,000
Paid up capital RMB10,000,000

FHERARE100,0007
B4R ARE100,0007
Registered RMB100,000
Paid up capital RMB100,000

BEARETRIMRRES -
BHET00ET

100% of issued and
outstanding membership
interest in consideration
at an aggregate contribution
of US$100

EERAI00ET
EARA100ET
Authorized US$100
Paid up capital US$100

AR AR 30,000,000
BAHAARE30,000,0007
Registered RMB30,000,000
Paid up capital RMB30,000,000

IEXH

Principal activities

VS

Property development

Investment holding

BHESLRE

Real estate brokerage
Services

NEER

Property development

REBRRH

Investment immigration
services

AR

Investment holding
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il 47. TEMB R AFE (2 47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
§ (Continued)
= ,
£ KRALRE
= Equity interest
3 attributable to the Group
3 RM2A31R
S At 31 December
©. HRRYL/ R EERE /HREAR
LRER BERAH 20155 W1E  BEARER/RERA IEER
Place and date Authorised/registered and
of incorporation/ issued and fully
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities
BENEAR (£)
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued)
YRBEER (ki) (Wativ) G 50% 50% - sHBERAR10,000,0007 NRER
201453A108 E&RAAR10,000,0007
Beijing CIFl Modern (note i) (note iv) PRC 50% 50%  Registered RMB10,000,000 Property development
10 March 2014 Paid up capital RMB10,000,000
EREWEE (BN) ARAA (M) G 70% AER AR ARS100,000,0007 NRER
201556/6H EARAAR100,000,0007
Modern Green Development PRC 10% N/A~ Registered RMB100,000,000 Property development
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd.* (note j) 6 June 2015 Paid up capital RMB100,000,000
BN (Wit Giles 70% NER  HEMERARK10,000,0007 REBRRIFER
2015514298 E&RAAR10,000,0007
YLS (note i) PRC 70% N/A " Registered RMB10,000,000 Investment holding and
29 January 2015 Paid up capital RMB10,000,000 property development
AHEE (Hiti) Giles 100% NER  HEMERARK0,000,0007 REBRRIFER
201556A168 E&RAAR10,000,0007
SGZY (note i) PRC 100% N/A " Registered RMB10,000,000 Investment holding
16 June 2015 Paid up capital RMB10,000,000 and property
development
FRERGAEEERARAA (W)  wE 100% NER  HEMERARKS0,000,0007 RERK
01557A238 FARAARK O
Jiaxing Modern Qinglv Asset PRC 100% N/A~ Registered RMB50,000,000 Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd.* (note i) 23 July 2015 Paid up capital RMBO
BE () #HBRAR (Hidi) hEl 100% TER EMERARR10,000,0007 BRER
2015510488 EABRRARKOTL
Crown Point (Beijing) Advisory PRC 100% N/A Registered RMB10,000,000 Immigration advisory
Co., Ltd. (note i) 8 October 2015 Paid up capital RMBO



B O B 75 R 3k M =
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

47. TENB A RIFE @) 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES Tk
(Continued) ﬁ]H"E
i
$§B§{EE§E
Equity interest -
attributable to the Group ﬂ
M2A318 f\f
At 31 December all
AL/ R EERE / ERERR z
kS BYRAH 2015% WuE  BRARER/EERE TEER S
Place and date Authorised/registered and g
of incorporation/ issued and fully —
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities %’_
BEHELT (5) 5
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued) @
0
Crown Point Funding Management [LC ~ %E& 100% NER  100%EBORBIENREER REBR s
201558118 5
Crown Point Funding Management LLC Us 100% N/A~ 100% of issued and outstanding Investment holding =3
11 May 2015 membership interest o
Crown Senior Investment Fund LP £ 0% NER  0%EEARETEINRRER EER
20156104238
Crown Senior Investment Fund LP Us 0% N/A - 0% of issued and outstanding Investment management
23 QOctober 2015 membership interest
Crown Community Investment Fund LP %8 0% TER  0%EEARETEINMRRER REER
2015584118
Crown Community Investment Fund LP Us 0% NA - 0% of issued and outstanding Investment management
11 August 2015 membership interest
Crown Residential Investment Fund LP e 0% NER  0%EEARBTENRRER REER
2015%8A11H
Crown Residential Investment Fund LP Us 0% /A" 0% of issued and outstanding Investment management
11 August 2015 membership interest
Crown Commercial Center Investment X8 0% NER  0%EETRETEIMREER REER
Fund LP 2015674138
Crown Commercial Center Investment Us 0% N/A 0% of issued and outstanding Investment management
Fund LP 13 July 2015 membership interest
Crown Sueba Investment Fund | LP %A 100% FER  100%EETREAEMRRER REER
2015%59A29H
Crown Sueba Investment Fund | LP Us 100% N/A - 100% of issued and outstanding Investment management
29 September 2015 membership interest
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il 47. TEMB R AFE (2 47.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
ﬁg (Continued)
=
g ,
S KRR
= Equity interest
3 attributable to the Group
3 RM2A31R
S At 31 December
©. HRRYL/ R EERE /HREAR
kS BERAH 20155 W1E  BEARER/RERA TBEH
Place and date Authorised/registered and
of incorporation/ issued and fully
Name of Company establishment 2015 2014 paid/paid-up capital Principal activities
HENEAR (£)
Indirect subsidiaries (Continued)
America Modern Green Senior 3] 100% 100%  100%BHTRETEMERER NEER
(Houston) LLC 201352A1H
America Modern Green Senior Us 100% 100%  100% of issued and outstanding Property development
(Houston) LLC 1 February 2013 membership interest
America Modern Green Community X 100% NER  100%EROTRETEMNRRESR NEER
(Houston) LLC 2015688115
America Modern Green Community Us 100% /A~ 100% of issued and outstanding Property development
(Houston) LLC 11 August 2015 membership interest
America Modern Green Residential X 100% MR 100%EETREAENREES EE
(Houston) LLC 201558713
America Modern Green Residential Us 100% N/A~100% of issued and outstanding Property development
(Houston) LLC 13 August 2015 membership interest
America Modern Green Commercial X8 100% 100%  100%2ETREAEINR R ER NEER
Center (Houston) LLC 01352818
America Modern Green Commercial Us 100% 100%  100% of issued and outstanding Property development
Center (Houston) LLC 1 February 2013 membership interest
AMGHY 28 100% TER  100%BRARETEMNRRER REBR
20158118128
AMGHV Us 100% N/A~100% of issued and outstanding Investment holding
12 November 2015 membership interest
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(i) MAEZE2015F12A31BILFE - A&
ER B 04k & E © #46.25% 7 T 3E
ERRR - £ 8% AR ¥370,000,000
Lo At EEESKARARNEZE
MEBAR -

(iv) MEBZE2015F12A8318 IEFE - 4R
B E K EAR U RS I B A &l A A AN
ARIKMB AR o FIFHNRHIEE36 °
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RER - BENE QR B RITEMES

BERRER

BERARGZENBRARERIEESE
M EEENERSERETAT
([#ErmfEE] BIYLFE=7) H20165F
1A8HRI Mt EREEEXRE
B = RE UK BB T RUEE S 949 % % 4
R E B A R #65,000,0007T ° 5 5K
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HZE20156F12A31H LLFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Notes:
(i)  These companies are PRC limited liability companies.
(i)  These companies are wholly foreign-owned companies.

(iii) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group returned
46.25% equity interest amounted to RMB370,000,000 in Green
Fund to its non-controlling shareholder. As a result, Green Fund
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2015, Beijing CIFI Modern
becomes a subsidiary of the Company as a result of a deemed
acquisition of subsidiary. Details are set out in Note 36.

* The English names of the companies which operate in the PRC are
for reference only and have not been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Pursuant to the agreement dated on 8 January 2016 entered
into between Modern Green Development, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Huainan Xinyi Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd EEMEHEFHEREEREE R A
(“Huainan Xinyi”, an independent third party), Modern Green
Development agrees to acquire from Huainan Xinyi 49% equity
interest in Anhui Moma for a consideration of RMB65,000,000.
Upon completion of the acquisition, Anhui Moma will be held
as to 100% by Modern Green Development and will become
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Anhui Moma is
engaged in development of a parcel of land located at Hefei,
Anhui Province. Details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 January 2016. The Group is
in the process of assessing the fair value of the identified assets
and liabilities of the acquiree, therefore the financial effect of
the acquisition is not presented.
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Summary of Financial Information

£

WA

BR A1 AL
PSR

FRHE

AT AL RS
AREEEA
IR

Bix (£X) &7

ARED
EERARE

BEE

BafE

ENNCIEZPN
IR A R 5
Sy

RESULT

Revenue

Profit before taxation
Income taxes expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earning per share (basic),
RMB cents

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to
owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

BZ12831HILLEE

For the year ended 31 December
20155 20144 20134 20124 20114
AREBEET ANREGET AREKEET ARKEET AREBEET
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
6,350 4,079 3,469 1,965 3,153
1,340 1,167 1,022 798 965
(739) (626) (494) (320) (521)
601 541 528 478 444
578 521 529 471 432
23 20 (1) 7 12
601 541 528 478 444
30.5 32.6 38.1 39.3 36
15,723 15,178 11,053 8,391 7,920
(11,948) (11,944) (8,582) (6,891) (6,845)
3,775 3,234 2,471 1,500 1,075
3,765 2,861 2,472 1,501 1,047
10 373 (1) (1) 28
3,775 3,234 2,471 1,500 1,075
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www.modernland.hk

EREZ (PE ) BRAE MODERN LAND (CHINA) CO.,LIMITED
M O BBPIRECEE= R L ERTAES05E

505 ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

M A EREEEERMHERAE MODERN GREEN DEVELOPMENT CO. LTD.
JERTRIREREMIE IR 158105884 SR &R (E4R : 100028 )

#1%§¥ No. 1 Xiangheyuan Road, Wan Guo Cheng MOMA, Dongcheng District, Beijing, P.R.C. 100028
==} Tel: +86 10 84407008 Fax: +86 10 84407771
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